
1 December 13, 2021 
 

 BIRMINGHAM CITY COMMISSION AGENDA 
DECEMBER 13, 2021 

MUNICIPAL BUILDING, 151 MARTIN 
7:30 P.M. 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Therese Longe, Mayor 
 

II. ROLL CALL 
Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk  
 

III. PROCLAMATIONS, CONGRATULATORY RESOLUTIONS, AWARDS, APPOINTMENTS, 
RESIGNATIONS AND CONFIRMATIONS, ADMINISTRATION OF OATHS, INTRODUCTION OF 
GUESTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS. 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 
• COVID-19 cases locally are the highest they have been since the beginning of the 

pandemic.  Michigan and Oakland County continue to be at a high level of community 
transmission. As a result, the CDC recommends vaccinated and unvaccinated individuals 
wear a facemask indoors while in public. The City requires masks in City Hall for all 
employees, board and commission members, and the public. Please visit the CDC’s 
website on how to safely celebrate the holidays and for more COVID-19 information.  

 
IV. OPEN TO THE PUBLIC FOR MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA 

 
V. CONSENT AGENDA 

All items listed on the consent agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted by one motion 
and approved by a roll call vote.  There will be no separate discussion of the items unless a 
commissioner or citizen so requests, in which event the item will be removed from the general order 
of business and considered under the last item of new business. 
• Minutes for the December 6, 2021 workshop and regular meeting will be included in the 

January 10, 2022 meeting consent agenda for approval.  
 
A. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, 

dated December 8, 2021, in the amount of $578,072.41. 

B. Resolution to set a public hearing date of January 24, 2022 to consider updates to 
Birmingham’s Corridor Improvement Authority Development and TIF Plan.  

C. Resolution to authorize the City Clerk to complete the Local Government Approval Notice 
at the request of Sushi Japan, Inc. approving the liquor license request of Sushi Japan, 
Inc. requesting a Redevelopment Quota Class C and SDM liquor license to be issued 
pursuant to MCL 436.1521 a(1)(b) with Sunday Sales (AM/PM) located at 176 S Old 
Woodward, Birmingham, Oakland County, MI 48009. 

D. Resolution to allow the IT department to purchase the renewal of 9 licenses of Adobe 
Creative Cloud from CDWG for a total purchase price of $8,443.26 using funds available 
in the IT computer software account 636-228.000-742.0000. 



2 December 13, 2021 
 

E. Resolution to release one grave in section B, row 2-A, for the family in an “at need” 
situation to purchase another plot adjacent to their existing family plots.  

   VI. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
A. Public Hearing – Wall Art – Ordinance Amendment 

1. Motion adopting an ordinance to amend Article 7, Section 7.41-7.46 – Processes, 
Permits, and Fees & Article 9, Section 9.02 Definitions of the Zoning Ordinance to create 
a wall art definition and review process.  

B. Public Hearing – 203 Pierce Street  - Toast – Special Land Use Permit Amendment, Final 
Site Plan and Design Review 

1. Resolution to APPROVE the Special Land Use Permit Amendment, Final Site Plan and 
Design Review application for 203 Pierce Street – Toast – to amend the hours of operation.  

OR 

2. Resolution to POSTPONE the Special Land Use Permit Amendment and Final Site Plan 
application for 203 Pierce Street – Toast – pending receipt of the following:   

1. _______________________ 
2. _______________________ 
3. _______________________ 

 
        OR 

 
3. Resolution to DENY the Special Land Use Permit Amendment, Final Site Plan and Design 
Review application for 203 Pierce Street – Toast.  

 
VII. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Resolution approving the 48th District Court budget for fiscal year 2022 as submitted. 

B. Resolution to accept the Agreement between the City of Birmingham, the Charter Township of 
Bloomfield and the Charter Township of West Bloomfield to be the three (3) District Court Funding 
Units for the 48th District Court, and further authorize Thomas M. Markus as the City Manager to 
sign the Agreement.  

C. Resolution to amend the 2022 Schedule of Fees, Charges, Bonds and Insurance, in the 
Community Development Department, Department of Public Services, Engineering Department, 
and Fire Department as stated in this report, and to adopt the revised Public Records Policy.  

D. Resolution to adopt a policy stating that commissioners will not attend various advisory board 
and committee meetings. 

E. Resolution to direct the City Manager to sign the Settlement Agreement on behalf of the City, 
which will give the City of Birmingham the opportunity to receive monies from the National Opioid 
Settlement Agreement. 



3 December 13, 2021 

F. Resolution to set  the Public Hearing of Necessity for the construction of sidewalk and streetscape
improvements adjacent to all properties within the project area on Maple Road, between Chester
Street and Pierce Street, and between Old Woodward Avenue and Woodward Avenue on Monday,
January 24, 2022 at 7:30 P.M. for the purpose of conducting; and

If necessity is determined on January 24, 2022, to meet on Monday, February 14, 2022 at 7:30
P.M. for the purpose of conducting the Public Hearing to Confirm the Assessment Roll for the
construction of sidewalk and streetscape improvements adjacent to all properties within project
area on Maple Road, between Chester Street and Pierce Street, and between Old Woodward
Avenue and Woodward Avenue.

G. Commission discussion on items from prior meeting

(none)

H. Commission Items for Future Discussion. A motion is required to bring up the item for future
discussion at the next reasonable agenda, no discussion on the topic will happen tonight.

VIII. REMOVED FROM CONSENT AGENDA

IX. COMMUNICATIONS

X. REPORTS
A. Commissioner Reports
B. Commissioner Comments
C. Advisory Boards, Committees, Commissions’ Reports and Agendas
D. Legislation
E. City Staff

1. City Manager’s Report
2. Response to Andrew Haig Email
3. Identifying Pending Litigation

INFORMATION ONLY 

XI. ADJOURN
Should you wish to participate in this meeting, you are invited to attend the meeting in person or 
virtually through ZOOM:   https://zoom.us/j/655079760       Meeting ID: 655 079 760  
You may also present your written statement to the City Commission, City of Birmingham, 151 Martin 
Street, P.O. Box 3001, Birmingham, Michigan 48012-3001 prior to the hearing. 

NOTICE:  Individuals requiring accommodations, such as mobility, visual, hearing, interpreter or other assistance, for 
effective participation in this meeting should contact the City Clerk's Office at (248) 530-1880 (voice), or (248) 644-
5115 (TDD) at least one day in advance to request mobility, visual, hearing or other assistance.  
Las personas que requieren alojamiento, tales como servicios de interpretación, la participación efectiva en esta reunión 
deben ponerse en contacto con la Oficina del Secretario Municipal al (248) 530-1880 por lo menos el día antes de la 
reunión pública. (Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964). 

https://zoom.us/j/655079760
tel:%28248%29%20530-1880


Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

12/08/2021

12/13/2021

PAPER CHECK

873.12KATHERINE ABELA008226*282913

1,577.52ALL AMERICAN ARENA PRODUCTSMISC*282915

105.00B & B GREASE TRAP & DRAIN CLEANERSMISC*282917

28.61MATTHEW J. BARTALINO003839*282919

349.82DAVID BARTLEY008708*282920

191.10BATTERIES PLUS BULBS003012282921

16.68BIDNET004931282922

125.82BOUND TREE MEDICAL, LLC003526282924

330.00BWMS-BLUE WATER MGMT INC008658*282928

139.01CAPITAL TIRE, INC.007732*282930

3,385.84CDW GOVERNMENT INC000444*282932

7,560.00CHARTER TOWNSHIP OF BLOOMFIELDMISC282933

121.15CINTAS CORPORATION000605282934

78.00CINTAS CORPORATION-K11007615*282935

1,495.00CLOVERDALE EQUIPMENT CO001318282936

387.29COMCAST008955*282937

1,251.72COMCAST BUSINESS007774282938

110.20CONTRACTORS CONNECTION INC001367282940

197.10MARSHALL CRAWFORD007638*282941

626.25DAKTRONICS, INC006852*282942

250.00DAN K'S INCMISC*282943

25.08DEALER AUTO PARTS009309282944

634.50CHRISTOPHER DEMAN006999*282945

848.00DESIGN CABINETSMISC*282947

549.45DOG WASTE DEPOT009130282948

72.06DTE ENERGY000179*282949

274.70DTE ENERGY000179*282950

405.48DTE ENERGY000179*282951

19.24DTE ENERGY000179*282952

265.02ELDER FORD004671282955

2,993.20ENGLISH GARDENS003186282956

800.00ENZO WATER SERVICE009100*282957

54.53RAY FAES009345*282958

35.25FAST SIGNS001223282960

472.20GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION SERVICES, IN006384282963

25.00HUNTER GILLICK008648*282964

210.22GLOBAL TECHNOLOGY SYSTEMS, INC.007335282965

1,166.92GORDON FOOD004604*282966

8,099.52GREAT LAKES WATER AUTHORITY008007*282967

1,765.00GUNNERS METER & PARTS INC001531282968

1,695.00HAGOPIAN CLEANING SERVICES001377*282969

2,653.41HALT FIRE INC001447282970

5A



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

12/08/2021

12/13/2021

296.36HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES001956*282971

1,381.00HYDROCORP000948282972

430.00IAFC MEMBERSHIP001234282973

360.46LAW ENFORCEMENT SUPPLY INC001988282979

127.90LEXISNEXIS RISK DATA MANAGEMENT INC006817282980

2,576.00MACALLISTER RENTALS007910282982

13,084.20MCCI008611282983

73.00MERGE MOBILE, INC.008793282984

125.00MICHIGAN ASSN. OF FIRE CHIEFS002022282985

3,851.45MKSK INC008319282987

195.00NELSON BROTHERS SEWER001194282988

195.00NELSON BROTHERS SEWER001194*282988

693.18OAKLAND COUNTY TREASURER000919282990

1,108.23OFFICE DEPOT INC000481*282991

1,227.30PEPSI COLA001753*282992

11,200.00PLANTE & MORAN CRESA, LLC008901282993

11,075.00PLANTE & MORAN PLLC000486*282994

148.00PODS ENTERPRISES, LLC008858*282995

2,500.00POSTMASTER000801*282996

68.68ROYAL OAK P.D.Q. LLC000218*282997

330.00RUSTIC FIREFIGHTERMISC282998

2,458.00SECURE DOOR, LLC006590*283000

161.50SHRED-IT USA004202*283002

25,733.88SIGNATURE CLEANING LLC009009*283003

2,300.00SPECIALIZED STEELWORKS, LLC009338*283005

172.00REBEKAH SPRINGER008396*283006

238.19STELLA PATRAMISC283007

300.00SVSU CAREER SERVICESMISC*283008

117.90TURNER SANITATION, INC004379*283010

232.72VAN DYKE GAS CO.000293*283011

76.02VERIZON WIRELESS000158*283012

733.83VERIZON WIRELESS000158*283013

129.70VERIZON WIRELESS000158*283014

147.66VERIZON WIRELESS000158*283015

64.58XEROX CORPORATION008391*283018

SUBTOTAL PAPER CHECK $126,174.75

ACH TRANSACTION

60,123.07ABS- AUTOMATED BENEFIT SVCS, INC008847*4555

1,165.00ABEL ELECTRONICS INC002284*4556

390.12AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC0091264557

109.11AMAZON CAPITAL SERVICES INC009126*4557

116.00APOLLO FIRE APPARATUS REPAIR INC0086674558

75.93BEVERLY HILLS ACE007345*4560



Meeting of

Warrant List Dated
City of Birmingham

       AmountVendorVendor #Early ReleaseCheck Number

12/08/2021

12/13/2021

56.97 BIRMINGHAM OIL CHANGE CENTER, LLC007624*4561

22,265.32 BIRMINGHAM PUBLIC SCHOOLS-TAXES008840*4562

475.00 BOB ADAMS TOWING0091834563

334.97 DETROIT CHEMICAL & PAPER SUPPLY007359*4564

415.68 DORNBOS SIGN & SAFETY INC000565*4565

9,762.75 DUNCAN PARKING TECH INC001077*4566

3,004.50 FIRE SYSTEMS OF MICHIGAN LLC001230*4567

9,417.25 G2 CONSULTING GROUP LLC007807*4568

5,400.00 HUBBELL ROTH & CLARK INC0003314569

6,339.59 INSIGHT INVESTMENT008851*4570

53.00 J.C. EHRLICH CO. INC.007870*4571

8,713.50 J.H. HART URBAN FORESTRY0002614572

103.56 JCR SUPPLY INC0092984573

142.62 JOE'S AUTO PARTS, INC.003458*4574

222.54 HAILEY R KASPER007827*4575

1,696.54 KROPF MECHANICAL SERVICE COMPANY005876*4576

2,008.92 LEE & ASSOCIATES CO., INC.005550*4577

39,489.00 NOWAK & FRAUS ENGINEERS0018644581

3,578.50 NYE UNIFORM COMPANY006359*4582

39,684.58 OAKLAND COUNTY TREASURER- TAX PYMNT008843*4583

2,582.00 PAUL C SCOTT PLUMBING INC006853*4584

231.00 PENCHURA, LLC006027*4585

250.00 SIGNS-N-DESIGNS INC003785*4586

79,395.00 SOCRRA000254*4587

127,259.28 SOCWA001097*4588

758.36 TOTAL ARMORED CAR SERVICE, INC.002037*4589

3,278.00 VIGILANTE SECURITY INC0009694590

23,000.00 WORRY FREE INC005360*4591

SUBTOTAL ACH TRANSACTION $451,897.66

*-Indicates checks released in advance and prior to commission approval in order to avoid penalty
or to meet contractual agreement/obligation.

Mark Gerber
Finance Director/ Treasurer

All bills, invoices and other evidences of claim have been audited and approved for payment.

GRAND TOTAL $578,072.41



1 

MEMORANDUM 

Planning Department 

DATE:  December 7th, 2021 

TO: Thomas Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner 

APPROVED: Nick Dupuis, Planning Director 

SUBJECT: Corridor Improvement Authority Development & TIF Plan Update 

INTRODUCTION: 
The Corridor Improvement Authority has made updates to its Development & TIF (Tax Increment 
Finance) Plan which was first approved by City Commission on May 11th, 2015. The purpose of 
the plan is to capture tax revenue to be used for a portion of the construction cost for up to two 
parking structures in the Triangle District. The City of Birmingham must reach a formal agreement 
with Oakland County for their share of the tax capture value to be finalized, however the County 
has recently requested that Birmingham update its Development & TIF Plan given the changes 
that have occurred since 2015. If the City Commission chooses to approve the updated plan, City 
staff will once again enter into negotiations with Oakland County in an attempt to capture County 
tax revenue to be used for the purpose of constructing up to two parking structures in the Triangle 
District. Oakland County’s portion provides the largest tax capture and is crucial to the success of 
of the Development and TIF Plan.  

BACKGROUND: 
Birmingham established a Corridor Improvement Authority (CIA) in the Triangle District in 2008. 
A Corridor Improvement Authority is governed under Michigan Public Act 57 of 2018 to prevent 
deterioration, promote economic growth, and encourage historic preservation in a business 
district. The CIA district consists of the commercial portion of the Triangle District between 
Woodward Avenue, E. Maple, and Adams Road. The construction of up to two parking structures 
in the Triangle District is meant to be a catalyst for commercial development in an area that 
permits buildings between three to nine stories in height. 

Over the course of six years, the CIA met to review existing conditions in the Triangle District and 
complete a Development and TIF Plan as required by the state in order to enter into a tax 
capturing agreement with the county. The City coordinated with LSL Planning and Miller Canfield 
for planning and parking related issues in order to formulate a Development & TIF Plan that 
aligned with the existing conditions, zoning requirements, and the Triangle District Urban Design 
Plan. The CIA ensured that the Development & TIF plan satisfied all state requirements of the 
then Corridor Improvement Authority Act, P.A. 280 of 2005. 

The CIA recommended that the City Commission approve the Development & TIF Plan in the 
spring of 2015 with the anticipation that the area’s taxable value would be lowest at this point 
due to demolitions. Approving the Development & TIF Plan at this time was an ideal base year 
for capturing increases in taxable value to be used for the construction of up to two parking 

5B



2 

 
 

structures. The goal was to have captured value from Oakland County account for approximately 
one third of the total construction costs.  
 
After the City Commission’s approval in May of 2015, the City of Birmingham presented the 
Development & TIF Plan to Oakland County’s TIF Review Committee. Ultimately, the Oakland 
County Board of Commissioners approved Birmingham’s proposal with the condition that 
Corporation Counsel negotiate a contract with the city. Corporation Counsel then added conditions 
that required Birmingham agree to cap the County’s contribution at $1.6 million and add a 
clawback provision if Birmingham did not initiate construction of a parking structure by 2026. 
Birmingham did not agree to such conditions and negotiations stalled for a period of time. 
 
City staff has re-initiated TIF discussions with Oakland County, now operating under the direction 
of a new County Executive. Birmingham has requested to continue the negotiations where they 
left off and not have to begin the entire review process with the TIF Review Committee again. 
Oakland County has requested that the City of Birmingham update its Development & TIF Plan 
to reflect current 2021 values before continuing discussions.  
 
Birmingham’s CIA met on October 5th, 2021 and October 26th, 2021 to review updates made to 
the Development and TIF Plan. Major changes to the plan included updating parking structure 
cost projections, using the actual average annual taxable value growth rate in the district of 6% 
for tax capture projections instead of an inflationary 2.5%, and updating projections that assume 
100% of Oakland County’s tax capture. The CIA also reviewed all updates to the Corridor 
Improvement Authority Act as amended to P.A. 57 of 2018, Part 6 in order to ensure that all 
updated state requirements have been met. Updates made to the Development and TIF 
Plan are highlighted in red throughout the document. 
 
 
LEGAL REVIEW:  
 
Final comments by the City Attorney will be provided for the public hearing. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
The goal of the Corridor Improvement Authority’s Development and TIF Plan is to satisfy state 
requirements for the City to enter into a TIF agreement with Oakland County. If an agreement 
with Oakland County is accomplished, Birmingham may capture Oakland County’s portion of 
property taxes and direct the revenues towards payments for up to two parking structures in the 
Triangle District. Without the participation of Oakland County and other taxing jurisdictions, all 
funding for improvements would come from the city and thus would likely stall. 
 
PUBLIC NOTIFICATION: 
Michigan P.A. 57 of 2018 requires that notice of the time and place of the hearing shall be given 
by publication twice in a newspaper of general circulation, the first of which shall be not less than 
20 days before the date set for the hearing. Notice of the hearing shall be posted in at least 20 
conspicuous and public places in the district not less than 20 days before the hearing. Notice shall 
also be mailed to all property taxpayers of record in the district not less than 20 days before the 
hearing.  
 
SUMMARY: 
The Planning Division requests that the City Commission consider updates to Birmingham’s 
Corridor Improvement Authority Development & TIF Plan. 



3 

ATTACHMENTS:  
 Birmingham CIA Development and TIF Plan
 October 5th & 26th, 2021 Meeting Minutes

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to set a public hearing date of January 24th, 2022 to consider 
updates to Birmingham’s Corridor Improvement Authority Development and TIF Plan. 



City of Birmingham

Corridor Improvement Authority
FOR THE TRIANGLE DISTRICT

DEVELOPMENT &

TAX INCREMENT FINANCING PLAN
October 2021 Draft

(2021 Updates in Red)



Birmingham Triangle District



Development and TIFA Plan | Birmingham Triangle District

Acknowledgements

City Commission
Pierre Boutros, Mayor 

Therese Long, Mayor Pro Tem
Clinton Baller
Rackeline Hoff

Brad Host
Mark Nickita

Stuart Sherman

Corridor Improvement Authority
Stuart Sherman

Kip Cantrick
Thomas Guastello

Samuel Oh

City Staff
Thomas Markus, City Manager 

Jana Ecker, Assistant City Manager
Nick Dupuis, Planning Director
Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner

Jim Surhigh, Consulting Engineer
Mark Gerber, Finance Director

City Legal Counsel
Mary Kucharek, Beier Howlett
Patrick McGow, Miller Canfield

Consulting Team
LSL Planning Carl

Walker Parking



Birmingham Triangle District | Table of Contents

Table of Contents

2021 Update Summary ……........................................................1

Chapter One: Introduction ........................................................2

Introduction

Triangle District Background

Purpose of the Development and TIF Plan 

Existing Parking Conditions

Chapter Two: Development Plan ..............................................11

Introduction 

Development Plan

Section 621(2) (a) Development Area Boundary 

Section 621(2) (b) Existing Streets and Public Facilities 

Section 621(2) (c) Existing Improvements

Section 621(2) (d) Estimated Cost of Improvements 

Section 621(2) (e) Construction Timeline

Section 621(2) (f) Open Spaces

Section 621(2) (g) Conveyances Between CIA and City 

Section 621(2) (h) Desired Zoning Changes

Section 621(2) (i) Financing

Section 621(2) (j) Designated Beneficiaries 

Section 621(2) (k) Conveyance Procedures

Section 621(2) (l) Population Estimates and Displacement 

Section 621(2) (m) Relocation Priorities

Section 621(2) (n) Relocation Costs

Section 621(2) (o) Relocation Assistance Act 

Section 621(2) (p) Authority Approval

Section 621(2) (q) Development Plan Evaluation

Section 910 Reporting Requirements

Chapter Three: Tax Increment Finance Plan .......................... 19

Introduction  

TIF Plan

Section 619 (3) (a) Sources of Revenue 

Section 619 (3) (b) Bond Reserves

Section 619 (3) (c) Purpose of Expenditures

Section 619 (3) (d) Outstanding Bond Principal and Interest 

Section 619 (3) (e) Initial Assessed Value

Section 619 (3) (f) Captured Value Retained

Section 619 (3) (g) Tax Increment Revenues Received 

Section 619 (3) (h) SEV Increase as a Result of TIF Plan 

Section 619 (3) (i) Capital Improvements

Section 619 (3) (j) Miscellaneous



2021 CIA Update Summary

1 Introduction| Development & TIFA Plan

In 2021, Birmingham’s Corridor Improvement Authority (CIA) made
updates to its Development and TIF Plan that was first approved by
the City Commission in 2015. The CIA was established in 2008 for
the City’s Triangle District which encompasses the commercial area
between Woodward Avenue, Maple Road, and Adams Road. The
intent of Birmingham’s CIA is to create a Development and TIF
Plan that satisfies all State guidelines and enables Oakland County
to work with the City on economic development projects. If the
County chooses to opt-in to Birmingham’s Development and TIF
Plan, the City may capture the County’s tax revenue for the
purpose of financing a public parking system in the Triangle
District. The establishment of a multi-story parking system in the
Triangle District is meant to be a catalyst for commercial
development and serve as a major benefit to both the City and the
County by supporting long-term economic growth.

Birmingham’s CIA began meeting in 2009 to create a Development
and TIF Plan for a public parking system in the City’s Triangle
District. The Authority reviewed and recommended potential
locations for parking structures as well as estimated costs and tax
capture projections. In 2015, Birmingham’s City Commission
approved the Corridor Improvement Authority’s Development and
TIF Plan, which was then brought to Oakland County for review.

Oakland County approved Birmingham’s Development and TIF Plan
in 2015 with the condition that an agreement be reached through
contract negotiations. In 2016, Oakland County proposed a
condition with a cap on the tax capture amount and a clawback
provision if Birmingham did not initiate project construction by
2026. The City and the County were unable to reach amenable
terms at that time, however the City has reinitiated discussions
with Oakland County once again, and wishes to get back to the
final negotiation process.

Oakland County has requested that the City of Birmingham revisit
its CIA Development & TIF Plan to make updates in order to reflect
changes since 2015 and allow for review and input in public
meetings.

Both the County and the CIA have requested that updates to the
document be called out by City staff. In Chapter One, such changes
include updates to the Land Use Plan, Existing Parking Conditions,
and the Projected Parking Demand to reflect new construction and
changes in tenants since 2015.

Chapter Two changes were made to the Preliminary Parking Cost
Estimates in order to reflect current economic factors. Land in the
Triangle District has experienced an average annual increase of 6%
since 2015, therefore the projected land cost was updated to
reflect this value. The projected cost of a parking structure was also
updated, given the dramatic increase in materials and labor since
2015. The City now estimates a 5-story, 450 space parking
structure to cost approximately $40,000 per space. Obtaining land
and developing a parking structure through a public-private
partnership was also included as a potential means of
accomplishing the City’s goals in the Triangle District Master Plan.
Updates addressing the now P.A. 57 of 2018, Part 6, Section 910
were also made and the City has included a detailed description of
how it will satisfy Reporting Requirements.

In Chapter Three, updates were made to the estimated captured
taxable value projections. The projected average annual increase in
taxable value was updated to 6% to reflect historical trends, as
opposed to the inflationary assumption of 2.5% from 2015. The
City also assumed a 100% tax capture from Oakland County which
results in approximately $6 million worth of tax capture by 2040 to
be used for initiating economic development in the City and
County.



Chapter One: Introduction

Introduction

The City of Birmingham is one of the premier suburban communities in

metropolitan Detroit. Birmingham’s Triangle District is physically located in the

center of the city, between Adams Road and Woodward Avenue, south of Maple

Road. Although the district has great potential for redevelopment, it is currently

underdeveloped in comparison to its surrounding. To the west is the city’s vibrant

Downtown, filled with shops, restaurants, movie theaters, offices and homes – in

proximity to, but disconnected from the Triangle District by Woodward Avenue.

Maple Road, which bounds the north end of the District, is lined with both

successful businesses and underutilized properties and provides the primary

pedestrian and vehicular connection to Downtown Birmingham. East of the Triangle

District is a quality single family residential neighborhood that is well-established

and planned to remain. The Eton Road mixed-use Rail District hosts loft style urban

living with landmark restaurants, live-work units, multi-story apartment buildings,

indoor recreation facilities and a wide variety of unique, clustered uses such as

home furnishing shops, dance and art studios, and industrial uses.

Development of the Triangle District Urban Design Plan in 2007 marked the

beginning of a long-term effort to revitalize the district. Recognizing the potential

growth in the district, the city identified the key elements necessary for the

successful redevelopment of the district. The primary goal of the Triangle District

Urban Design Plan project was to create a unified framework for development that

improves the economic, social and pedestrian environments while protecting the

central neighborhood that exists within the district. The resulting strategy included

a set of development guidelines intended to create an urban, pedestrian-friendly

environment similar to those that are so successful in other areas of the city.

The Triangle District is also envisioned as a transit-oriented district that will draw

on regional transit plans that include Birmingham as a destination. Doing so

requires a more compact, urban building form, which is best achieved through a

form-based code, which the city adopted in 2007.

2 Introduction| Development & TIFA Plan



The Triangle District’s unique needs lay in the demand for improved

circulation and parking. Parking is scattered and unorganized and building

placements are, in many places, not conducive to the pedestrian scale and

comfort envisioned. A form-based code was developed to encourage

building placement and design in the form required to create attractive and

inviting public streets and spaces. Over time, buildings developed under the

Triangle Plan will line the roadways to create a more urban street scale that

is comfortable to pedestrians and suitable for mixed-use development.

However, a key element to the successful revitalization of the Triangle

District is the need for better organized and more efficient parking facilities.

As evidenced by the success of the city’s Downtown parking program, public

parking structures that are designed and located appropriately can

significantly impact the economic success of local businesses. Since the need

for improved parking was identified as a primary concern, the city began to

assess the feasibility of such a structure in the Triangle District. New

legislation in 2005 enabled the city to use a new tool that allows tax

increment financing to revitalize road corridors through the creation of a

Corridor Improvement Authority (CIA).

Pursuant to Act 280, Public Acts of Michigan, 2005, now P.A. 57 of 2018, Part

6, the Corridor Improvement Authority Act, the Birmingham Triangle

District’s CIA was incorporated on November 10, 2008 with the objective of

stimulating and encouraging economic development activities within the

established District. It was on this date that the Authority District boundaries

were established. The CIA is overseen by a board comprised of four

members appointed by the Mayor and confirmed by the City Commission. A

development plan or a TIF plan developed by an authority under a stature

or section of law repealed by the bill remains in effect with the authority

under the corresponding part of the Act.

The City of Birmingham developed this Development and Tax Increment

Finance Plan for the Triangle District to outline the improvements necessary

to realize the vision established in the Triangle District Urban Design Plan. It

describes proposed improvements needed to achieve the goals for the

district and the method of financing proposed to fund them.

Development & TIFA Plan | Introduction 3

Triangle District Boundary

CIA Development Area  



Triangle District Background

The city developed an Urban Design Plan for the Triangle District in 2007, which 

included the following goals:

 Improve the visual appearance of the area, its streets, alleys, public spaces,
and buildings by establishing guidelines for design and implementation of
public and private projects.

 Improve the economic and social vitality by encouraging diversity of use and
opportunities for a variety of experiences.

 Better utilize property through more compact, mixed-use development.

 Provide links to Downtown across Woodward’s high traffic barrier.

 Improve the comfort, convenience, safety, and enjoyment of the pedestrian
environment by create an inviting, walkable, pedestrian neighborhood and
setting aside public plazas.

 Encourage sustainable development.

 Protect the integrity of established residential neighborhoods.

 Organize the parking and street system to facilitate efficient access,
circulation, and parking to balance vehicular and pedestrian needs.

Since development of the Triangle District Urban Design Plan, the city has

established a CIA to carry out the parking recommendations. While the Urban

Design Plan recommends a number of changes to the Triangle District that are

being implemented by the City, the CIA’s focus is to implement the parking aspects

of the Urban Design Plan. The Birmingham Triangle District CIA held their first

meeting on January 20, 2009, where they began their work by recommending the

City Commission begin developing this Development and Tax Increment Financing

Plan for the district. Their specific purpose is to facilitate the planning and

financing of public parking in the Triangle District.

Open Space Design Recommendations

Public Street Recommendations

Building Design Recommendations

4 Introduction| Development & TIFA Plan



The Triangle District Development and TIF Plans 
were created according to the Corridor 
Improvement Authority Act, P.A. 280 of 2005, as 
amended, now P.A. 57 of 2018, Part 6

Purpose of the Development and TIF Plans

The purpose of a CIA is to plan for, correct and prevent deterioration in
business districts, to encourage historic preservation and to promote economic
growth within the district.

The City of Birmingham has determined that the development plan and tax
increment financing plan constitutes a public purpose, based on the following
considerations:

 The proposed method of financing the development is feasible and the
authority has the ability to arrange the financing.

 The development is reasonable and necessary to carry out the purposes
of the CIA Act.

 The land within the district that is to be acquired is reasonably necessary
to carry out the purposes of the plan and of the CIA Act in an efficient
and economically satisfactory manner.

 The development plan is in reasonable accord with the City of
Birmingham’s Master Plan, which includes the Triangle District Subarea
Plan.

 Public services, such as fire and police protection and utilities, are
adequate to service the project area.

 Changes in zoning, streets, street levels, intersections, and utilities are
reasonably necessary to facilitate the planned redevelopment of the
District.

Chapter Two of this Plan discusses the recommendations for stimulating
redevelopment within the Triangle District. A key concern in the Triangle
District Design Plan is the need for more organized and efficient parking. The
Birmingham Triangle District Corridor Improvement Authority was established
to facilitate the construction of new parking facilities that will serve the
district. Chapter Three contains the Tax Increment Financing Plan that will be
required to finance the development of parking facilities. Both plans have been
prepared in consideration of the required legal parameters, economic factors,
and realistic projections.

Development & TIFA Plan | Introduction 5



Approval

According to the Corridor Improvement Authority Act, P.A. 280 of 2005, as

amended, now P.A. 57 of 2018, Part 6, Development and Tax Increment

Financing Plans must be adopted by the City Commission by resolution after

holding a public hearing. The City of Birmingham held a public hearing on

March 16, 2015 and adopted this Development and Tax Increment Finance

Plan on May 11, 2015.

Existing Land Use

Land uses were inventoried throughout the Triangle District (see map). Sites

along Woodward Avenue, the district’s western boundary, consist of general

commercial uses including auto sales agencies, a gas station, a Walgreens,

and a grocery store. The area transitions to less intense office and retail uses

to the east of Woodward which predominantly consists of expansive surface

parking lots, buildings with large blank walls, and offices stilted above

exposed ground level parking lots.

There is a large vacant parcel on the southeast corner of Woodward Ave and

E. Maple Rd which was the former site of a hotel and is now a gravel parking

lot. Maple Road has a mix of office, live-work units, senior living, and retail

along its frontage. Adams Road has the corridor’s sole multi-family residential

building and is also fronted by a mix of office and retail uses.

Since the adoption of the Triangle District Plan, the area has experienced four

new mixed-use developments. The All Seasons Senior Living development

successfully developed a large parcel due to reduced parking requirements

for senior living. The developments at 735 Forest, 750 Forest, and 34400

Woodward include a mix of retail, office, restaurant, and residential on

smaller parcels in the zones permitting three to five stories.

The large parcels south of Bowers have not been developed since the

adoption of the Triangle District Plan and Triangle Overlay District. The former

Borders Books site was converted to a Walgreens. A number of the buildings

and parking lots appear to be degrading in quality and declining into disrepair.

6 Introduction| Development & TIFA Plan



Regulating Plan & Existing Parking and Land Use Conditions

Development & TIFA Plan | Introduction 7



Existing Parking and Land Use Conditions
A detailed parking inventory was completed December, 2006. The inventory of

parking was updated in 2009, and again in 2021. There are 2,206 private parking

spaces and 354 on-street public parking spaces, for a total of 2,560 spaces in the

CIA District.

Birmingham’s Zoning Ordinance requires 1 parking space for every 300 SF of office

and retail which equates to 3.33 parking spaces per 1,000 SF of commercial space.

At this time, the CIA District exceeds that value by a small amount with

approximately 3.67 parking space per 1,000 square feet of commercial use.

Meeting the parking requirement on-site in this area has led to expansive surface

parking lots, large gaps between buildings, and a lack of pedestrian connectivity. An

excess of surface parking is not an efficient use of space in the CIA District where

the intent of the Triangle District Plan and the Zoning Ordinance is to encourage a

dense walkable environment, a mix of residential and commercial uses, and to limit

the use of exposed surface parking.

The CIA District has a total land area of 1,395,162 SF. Meanwhile there is currently

a total of 697,462 SF of commercial space. This equates to a floor-area-ratio of

50%, meaning for every 1 SF of land, approximately 0.5 SF of commercial space is

being used. Current zoning for this district enables a floor area ratio of 300% in the

MU-3 zone, 500%, in the MU-5 zone, and 700% in the MU-7 zone. An additional

100%-200% (1-2 floors) can be obtained in each zone if certain requirements are

met. This means for every 1 SF of land, the Triangle District could have between 3

to 9 SF of space for people to live, work, shop, and gather. Multi-story buildings are

crucial for districts that desire a dense mixed-use area, however being required to

provide all parking on-site presents an extreme difficulty to property owners and

developers trying to maximize the use of the space. Multi-story parking structures

that serve the parking requirements for surrounding buildings would enable the

district to maximize the space for people oriented uses with more density that will

activate the area at all times of the day.

While the City has established an extensive public parking program for the

Downtown, it does not extend into the Triangle District. This leaves private

property owners to provide for their own parking needs, which has lead to

inefficiencies in use and wasted land that could otherwise be developed to

contribute to the desired vibrancy of the district.

Development & TIFA Plan | Introduction 8

CIA District Usage

Total Commercial Floor Area (SF) 697,462           

Total District Land Area (SF) 1,395,162        

Floor Area Ratio 50%

Total Parking

Off-street parking spaces 2,206                

On-street parking spaces 354                    

Total Parking 2,560                

Existing Parking Ratio

Spaces Per 1,000 SF Floor Area 3.67



Projected Parking Demand

In order to estimate the amount of parking demand in the future that could

support a public parking facility, the district was analyzed for future build-out. A

full build-out shows the amount of development that could occur based upon the

Urban Design Plan and new Triangle District Overlay. However, because it is unlikely

that all of the current uses in the district will be removed and redeveloped,

assumptions were made on which buildings would likely remain and which areas

would likely redevelop. This “partial build-out” included development that is

anticipated or likely to occur in the future and gives a more realistic estimate of

future parking demands.

Future parking demand was estimated based upon the Institute of Transportation

Engineer’s Parking Generation Manual and observed parking demands in the city.

The projections assume that new development will be providing some on-site

parking, either via private parking structures, underground lots or small surface

lots. A summary of the parking analysis is provided below:

Available On-

street Parking
Spaces

Private Parking  

Spaces

Projected Parking 

Demand Based Upon
Partial Build-out

Future Parking 

Deficit

354 2,206 4,513 1,953

The above projected deficit showed the future need for an additional 444 parking

spaces in the north end of the Triangle District near Maple Road and an additional

1,566 spaces in the south portion of the District.

The development of public parking structures, in strategic locations that will best

serve the maximum number of businesses is recommended. Because the demand

for parking will occur incrementally over time as the Triangle District redevelops, it

is recommended that the City first acquire land for one or more surface parking lots

to be developed with structures as the area redevelops and parking demand

increases.

9 Introduction| Development & TIFA Plan



Development & TIFA Plan | Introduction 10



Chapter Two: Development Plan

Introduction

According to the Corridor Improvement Authority Act, P.A. 280 of 2005, as

amended, now P.A. 57 of 2018, Part 6, the City of Birmingham’s Corridor

Improvement Authority must develop a Development Plan for any

improvements that are proposed to be funded through Tax Increment

Financing. The law prescribes the various elements required in the

Development Plan, including reporting requirements pursuant to Part 9 of P.A.

57 of 2018, which are discussed later in this Chapter.

Development Plan

According to Section 6 2 1  o f  t h e  Corridor Improvement
Authority Act, the Development Plan must address the following:

 Section 621(2) (a) Development Area Boundary: The designation of
boundaries of the development area in relation to highways, streets,
streams, or otherwise.

The Development Area is generally enclosed by Woodward Avenue on

the west, Maple Road on the north and Adams Road on the east,

excluding the existing single-family neighborhood along Forest, Chestnut

and Hazel Streets east of Elm Street. The Triangle District serves as a

transitional growth area between Birmingham’s central business district

west of Woodward and the residential neighborhoods to the east (See

District Map, right).

 Section 621(2) (b) Existing Streets and Public Facilities: The location
and extent of existing streets and other public facilities within the
development area, designating the location, character, and extent
of the categories of public and private land uses then existing and
proposed for the development area, including residential,
recreational, commercial, industrial, educational, and other uses,
and including a legal description of the development area.

11 Chapter Two: Introduction| Development & TIFA Plan



The boundaries of the Development Area in relation to highways, streets,
and other rights-of-way are shown on the District Map, as previously
presented under item 21(2) (a). The district is also well served by public
water and sewer services (See Utility Map, left).

The city maintains a Fire Station at the northwest corner of Adams and
Bowers. This is their main station, containing administrative offices and
training facilities.

Land uses in the district include a mix of commercial and office uses. The
district is adjacent to a single-family neighborhood that is not proposed to be
included in the TIF Plan. Most of the higher intensity uses are located along
Woodward, with other fine stores and offices found throughout the district.

Woodward Avenue is an eight-lane state trunkline with a center median that
runs along the western edge of the district. Maple Road is a four-lane arterial
road that runs along the northern edge of the district. Streets within the
district are generally two-lane local city streets with sidewalks and on- street
parking. Street circulation in the south end of the district could be improved
through road realignments, and some of the parking lots and loading areas
are unorganized throughout the district, as are several building arrangements.
The disjointed arrangement of buildings and parking does not create the
physical context for a strong synergy between the various uses in the area. It
is a goal of this Development Plan to provide more organized parking that will
help improve business vitality in the district.

Section 621(2) (c) Existing Improvements: A description of existing
improvements in the development area to be demolished, repaired, or
altered, a description of any repairs and alterations, and an estimate of the
time required for completion.

The Birmingham Corridor Improvement Authority plans to redevelop one or
two sites within the district into a public parking facility. Immediate plans are
to acquire a site(s) for the future parking facilities and construct a surface
parking lot until the area redevelops and need for a parking structure
increases. Because the site for the parking facilities has yet to be
determined, the specific details regarding site demolition or repairs are



Utility Map

Excluded

Chapter Two: Development Plan| Development and TIFA Plan 12



unknown. If existing surface lots on the future site can be re-used to provide
temporary parking, they will be repaired or retained if in good condition.
Otherwise, purchase and demolition of existing commercial buildings is likely
needed, as most lots in the district are developed to some extent.

The timing of construction will depend on the redevelopment of the district
creating additional parking demand and generating additional tax increment
rate of capture to fund construction. The city plans to issue bonds for the
land acquisition costs as well as the parking facility construction costs;
therefore, the timing of bond issues will be determined when adequate
revenues exists to make the expected payments. The City may also choose to
pursue a public-private partnership that may involve negotiating a ground
lease for the construction of a mixed use building that contains a public
parking structure.

 Section 621(2) (d) Estimated Cost of Improvements: The location, extent,

character, and estimated cost of the improvements including rehabilitation
contemplated for the development area and an estimate of the time required
for completion.

For each parking structure, preliminary estimates assume a land cost of
approximately $7,500,000. When purchased, the land may be redeveloped
immediately into a 90-space surface parking lot that is estimated to cost
approximately $225,000. It is anticipated a 450-space parking structure cost
will be approximately $18,000,000. It is anticipated that a portion of the cost
of each structure will be funded through the CIA, and the remainder will be
funded through other mechanisms, including a Special Assessment District.
Demolition costs will be determined once a site is identified. The actual
number and configuration of parking facilities will be determined based upon
development in the District and growth in parking demand.

 Section 621(2) (e) Construction Timeline: A statement of the construction or
stages of construction planned, and the estimated time of completion of each
stage.

Due to limited resources, the CIA will take a phased approach to developing
the parking facilities. If TIF revenues and other available funds exceed those
projected, the city may proceed with the site acquisition sooner. Once
acquired, the site will be prepared for construction of the facilities.

13 Chapter Two: Development Plan| Development and TIFA Plan

Land Cost $7,500,000

Interim Surface Parking Lot Cost $225,000

Parking Structure Cost $18,000,000

Total $25,725,000
(1)   Amounts are expressed in 2021 dollar values. 

Actual costs will need to be adjusted, depending on 

the actual build year.

 2021 Preliminary Parking Cost Estimates (1)



Due to the large construction costs related to a parking structure, the CIA
may need to wait for additional tax increment revenues to accrue before it
can finance construction. Instead, the site(s) may first be developed into a
surface parking lot containing approximately 90 parking spaces, to help offset
immediate parking needs in the district. The specific construction dates will
be determined as redevelopment in the surrounding area demands
additional parking. Additional parking facilities may be constructed based
upon development in the District and growth in parking demand.

 Section 621(2) (f) Open Spaces: A description of any parts of the development
area to be left as open space and the use contemplated for the space.

No new open spaces are proposed as part of this Development Plan, except
for ancillary sidewalks and pedestrian areas associated with development of
parking facilities. The Triangle District Master Plan included
recommendations for public open space; however these will be implemented
by other means and will not be funded through the CIA development plan.

 Section 621(2) (g) Conveyances Between CIA and City: A description of any
portions of the development area that the authority desires to sell, donate,
exchange, or lease to or from the municipality and the proposed terms.

The CIA does not currently own or control any land in the Triangle District.
Once a parking facility is complete, the CIA anticipates it will be conveyed to
the City of Birmingham in its entirety. The City may also choose to pursue a
public-private partnership which would involve negotiating a ground lease for
the construction of a public structure.

 Section 621(2) (h) Desired Zoning Changes: A description of desired zoning
changes and changes in streets, street levels, intersections, traffic flow
modifications, or utilities.

No changes in zoning are required to implement the Corridor Improvement
Authority’s Development Plan. However, the city previously adopted an
Overlay District for the area. The overlay was adopted to implement the
development contemplated in the Triangle Plan using form-based code
requirements (see Triangle District Regulating Plan, at left). The code
encourages mixed-use development rather than creating use-specific

Chapter Two: Development Plan| Development and TIFA Plan 14



districts. It encourages additional building height and high density residential
uses that will complement the city’s goals to become more transit-oriented.

The Triangle District Urban Design Plan includes other recommendations for
the district; however, the CIA has committed only to development of parking
facilities at this time.

 Section 621(2) (i) Financing: An estimate of the cost of the development, a
statement of the proposed method of financing the development, and the
ability of the authority to arrange the financing.

Incremental taxes on real property included in the CIA district boundary will
be captured under the Tax Increment Financing Plan to reimburse eligible
activity expenses. It is anticipated that the TIF will be used to cover a portion of
the acquisition and construction costs, with the other portion coming from a
parking special assessment district.

The total taxable value of all property (real and personal) was $46,110,000 for
the 2014 tax year. From 2015 to 2020, there was an annual increase in taxable
value ranging from 0.11% to 11.15%, averaging 6% annually. The TIFA Plan
assumes an annual increase in taxable value of 2% for 2021 and 6% for the
years 2022 and beyond. The City expects this value to increase as
developments in the area are completed.

It is anticipated that the term of the TIFA Plan will depend on the actual cost
estimates received after final plans are prepared. The estimated captured
taxable value and tax increment revenues for the eligible property for each
year of the Plan are presented in Chapter 3.

The tax increment and capture year data presented in Chapter 3 are
estimates based on currently available information. It is the intent of this
plan to provide for capture of all eligible tax increments in whatever amounts
and in whatever years they become available until all project costs described in
this plan are paid. Cash flow estimates for eligible activities are also presented
in Chapter 3.

 Section 621(2) (j) Designated Beneficiaries: Designation of the person or
persons, natural or corporate, to whom all or a portion of the development is to
be leased, sold, or conveyed in any manner and for whose benefit the project is
being undertaken if that information is available to the authority.

15 Chapter Two: Development Plan| Development and TIFA Plan



The projects undertaken by the CIA are intended to benefit all property
owners within the district. They are not intended to benefit any one or set of
property owners; rather to remedy a district-wide shortage in parking that
will hopefully help to attract additional commerce and residential
development to the district. The parking facilities will be conveyed to the city
once completed.

 Section 621(2) (k) Conveyance Procedures: The procedures for bidding for the
leasing, purchasing, or conveying in any manner of all or a portion of the
development upon its completion, if there is no express or implied agreement
between the authority and persons, natural or corporate, that all or a portion
of the development will be leased, sold, or conveyed in any manner to those
persons.

The projects included in this Development Plan are intended to be publicly
owned in perpetuity; no conveyances are anticipated. The city may enter
into a public-private partnership with a developer to partially fund the
structure. This can be achieved through a condominium development that
allows partial ownership of the structure by the city. Additional construction
cost savings may be realized if other private structures are proposed that
could be built simultaneously. Should the city choose in the future to sell the
parking facility proposed in this Plan, the procedures in the Birmingham City
Charter will be followed.

 Section 621(2) (l) Population Estimates and Displacement: Estimates of the
number of persons residing in the development area and the number of
families and individuals to be displaced. If occupied residences are designated
for acquisition and clearance by the authority, a development plan shall
include a survey of the families and individuals to be displaced, including their
income and racial composition, a statistical description of the housing supply
in the community, including the number of private and public units in
existence or under construction, the condition of those units in existence, the
number of owner-occupied and renter-occupied units, the annual rate of
turnover of the various types of housing and the range of rents and sale
prices, an estimate of the total demand for housing in the community, and

Chapter Two: Development Plan| Development and TIFA Plan 16



the estimated capacity of private and public housing available to displaced
families and individuals.

There is a single apartment building located in the Corridor Improvement
Authority boundary. This building is not proposed to be impacted and no
families or individuals will be displaced as result of development of a parking
facility. Therefore, a demographic survey and information regarding housing
in the community are not applicable and are not needed for this plan.

 Section 621(2) (m) Relocation Priorities: A plan for establishing priority for the
relocation of persons displaced by the development in any new housing in the
development area.

No residents will be displaced as a result of this development. Therefore, a
plan for relocation of displaced persons is not applicable and is not needed
for this plan.

 Section 621(2) (n) Relocation Costs: Provision for the costs of relocating
persons displaced by the development and financial assistance and
reimbursement of expenses, including litigation expenses and expenses
incident to the transfer of title, in accordance with the standards and
provisions of the uniform relocation assistance and real property acquisition
policies act of 1970, Public Law 91-646, 84 Stat. 1894.

No residents will be displaced as result of this development and no relocation
costs will be incurred. Therefore, provision for relocation costs is not
applicable and is not needed for this plan.

 Section 621(2) (o) Relocation Assistance Act: A plan for compliance with 1972
PA 227, MCL 213.321 to 213.332.

No residents will be displaced as result of this development. Therefore, no
relocation assistance strategy is needed for this plan.

 Section 621(2) (p) Governing Body Approval of Amendments: The
requirement that amendments to an approved development plan or tax
increment plan must be submitted by the authority to the governing body for
approval or rejection.

17 Chapter Two: Development Plan| Development and TIFA Plan



The Tax Increment Finance and Development Plans for the City of Birmingham Corridor Improvement Authority for the Triangle District was
approved by the CIA Board on January 22nd, 2015, and approved by the Birmingham City Commission on May 11th, 2015.

 Section 621(2) (q) Development Plan Evaluation: A schedule to periodically evaluate the effectiveness of the development plan.

The City of Birmingham Corridor Improvement Authority will review the Tax Increment and Development Plan as needed. It is anticipated that they
will meet approximately 4 times a year, must hold at least two (2) informational meetings, and will review the plan at least once per year to update
key figures and ensure projects and recommendations are still relevant.

 Section 910 Reporting Requirements: A plan to report the activities of the CIA to the public.

The City of Birmingham plans to utilize the existing website that is operated and regularly maintained to provide access to authority records and
documents for the fiscal year beginning on the effective date of this Act, including all of the following:

• Minutes of all board meetings.

• Annual budget.

• Annual audits.

• Currently adopted development plan.

• Currently adopted tax increment finance plan.

• Current authority staff contact information.

• A listing of current contracts with a description of those contracts and other documents related to management of the authority and
services provided by the authority.

• Additionally, the municipality must include on the website an annual updated synopsis of activities of the authority, which must include all
of the following, if any:

• For any tax increment revenue described in the annual audit that is not spent within five years of its receipt, a description of the
reasons for accumulating those funds, a time frame when the funds will be spent, the uses for which the funds will be spent, and, if
any funds have not been spent within 10 years of their receipt, the amount of those funds and a written explanation of why they
have not been spent.

• A list of authority accomplishments, including progress made on development plan and tax increment finance plan goals and
objectives for the immediately preceding fiscal year.

• All other components pursuant to Part 9 of the Act.

• Annually on a form and in the manner prescribed by the Department of Treasury, an authority that is capturing tax increment revenue
must submit to the governing body of the municipality, the governing body of a taxing unit levying taxes subject to capture by an
authority, and the Department a report on the status of the tax increment financing account. The report must be filed with the
Department of Treasury.

Chapter Two: Development Plan| Development and TIFA Plan 18



Introduction

This Tax Increment Finance (TIF) Plan is prepared in connection with the
Development Plan described in Chapter Two. It was reviewed and adopted
alongside the Development Plan; therefore, the city satisfied its notification and
publication requirements when preparing notices for the Development Plan.

TIF Plan

According to Section 18 to 20 of Act 280, Public Acts of Michigan, 2005, now P.A.57
of 2018, Part 6, after establishing a TIF Plan, the city must report annually to the
State Tax Commission regarding the status of the financing account. The report
must include:

 The amount and source of revenue in the account.

 The amount in any bond reserve account.

 The amount and purpose of expenditures from the account.

 The amount of principal and interest on any outstanding bonded 
indebtedness.

 The initial assessed value of the project area.

 The captured assessed value retained by the authority.

 The tax increment revenues received.

 The increase in the state equalized valuation as a result of the 
implementation of the tax increment financing plan.

 The type and cost of capital improvements made in the development area.

 Any additional information the governing body considers necessary.

19 Development & TIF Plan | Chapter Three: TIF Plan

Chapter Three: Tax Increment Finance Plan



Development & TIF Plan | Chapter Three: TIF Plan 20



2014 Personal Property Values
08-99-00-000-106 2,700

08-99-00-000-174 59,800

08-99-00-000-176 -

08-99-00-001-015 21,370

08-99-00-001-042 790

08-99-00-001-043 -

08-99-00-001-149 -

08-99-00-001-210 -

08-99-00-002-030 2,440

08-99-00-002-072 3,010

08-99-00-002-103 421,630

08-99-00-003-176 -

08-99-00-004-094 -

08-99-00-004-098 -

08-99-00-004-112 -

08-99-00-004-114 -

08-99-00-004-115 29,950

08-99-00-004-146 -

08-99-00-004-166 2,160

08-99-00-004-169 1,870

08-99-00-005-082 -

08-99-00-005-109 5,110

08-99-00-005-153 -

08-99-00-006-144 750

08-99-00-006-145 -

08-99-00-007-069 4,590

08-99-00-007-075 -

08-99-00-007-076 -

08-99-00-007-077 -

08-99-00-007-078 3,980

08-99-00-007-151 -

08-99-00-007-152 -

08-99-00-007-153 1,220

08-99-00-007-154 -

08-99-00-007-194 -

08-99-00-007-234 -

08-99-00-008-014 520

08-99-00-008-018 -

08-99-00-008-041 15,040

08-99-00-008-046 -

08-99-00-008-047 -

08-99-00-008-048 127,840

08-99-00-008-054 3,390

08-99-00-008-103 -

08-99-00-009-003 214,130

08-99-00-009-046 1,370

08-99-00-009-051 3,940

08-99-00-009-054 -

08-99-00-009-055 -

08-99-00-009-073 -

08-99-00-009-074 95,280

08-99-00-009-075 1,560

08-99-00-009-103 100,070

08-99-00-009-104 13,520

08-99-00-009-105 305,740

08-99-00-009-155 -

08-99-00-010-041 53,960

08-09-90-010-042 -

08-99-00-010-043 106,690

08-99-00-010-099 8,210

08-99-00-010-149 -

08-99-00-011-004 10,690

08-99-00-011-037 -

08-99-00-011-067 35,670

08-99-00-011-074 -

08-99-00-011-099 2,670

08-99-00-011-101 -

08-99-00-011-102 -

08-99-00-011-103 -

08-99-00-011-108 -

08-99-00-011-137 39,620

08-99-00-011-150 -

08-99-00-012-021 -

08-99-00-012-024 520

08-99-00-012-025 77,450

08-99-00-012-028 72,500

08-99-00-012-030 520

08-99-00-012-042 19,520

08-99-00-012-043 -

08-99-00-012-045 1,040

08-99-00-012-112 -

08-99-00-013-005 -

08-99-00-013-007 -

08-99-00-013-008 -

08-99-00-013-009 75,840

08-99-00-013-010 17,110

08-99-00-013-012 1,020

08-99-00-013-013 -

08-99-00-013-034 2,030

08-99-00-013-035 75,000

08-99-00-013-042 510

08-99-00-013-082 1,020

08-99-00-013-108 -

08-99-00-013-111 -

08-99-00-013-129 32,010

08-99-00-013-135 -

08-99-00-014-012 10,000

08-99-00-014-017 557,390

08-99-00-014-018 -

08-99-00-014-049 50,000

08-99-00-014-050 -

08-99-00-014-055 500

08-99-00-014-103 -

08-99-00-014-104 -

08-99-00-014-109 2,500

08-99-00-014-110 -

08-99-00-014-113 2,500

08-99-00-014-117 15,000

08-99-00-014-135 -

08-99-00-015-044 -

08-99-00-015-046 -

08-99-00-015-047 -

08-99-00-015-084 -

08-99-00-015-086 -

08-99-00-015-087 -

08-99-00-015-088 -

08-99-00-015-091 -

08-99-00-015-092 -

08-99-00-015-145 -

08-99-00-015-148 -

08-99-00-015-149 -

08-99-01-001-120 128,350

08-99-01-001-140 -

08-99-01-001-470 46,390

08-99-01-001-650 5,780

08-99-01-001-663 -

08-99-01-001-836 110,990

08-99-01-001-861 41,460

21 Development & TIF Plan | Chapter Three: TIF Plan



08-99-01-001-935 -

08-99-01-001-950 40,150

08-99-01-001-958 -

08-99-01-002-392 -

08-99-01-002-397 -

08-99-01-002-450 1,800

08-99-01-002-554 -

08-99-01-002-780 4,490

08-99-01-002-860 -

08-99-01-003-640 76,260

08-99-01-003-705 69,030

08-99-01-003-719 307,370

08-99-01-003-865 -

08-99-01-004-835 -

08-99-01-004-970 -

08-99-01-005-065 -

08-99-01-005-697 3,560

08-99-01-010-290 -

08-99-01-013-695 2,550

08-99-01-850-089 -

08-99-01-860-104 -

08-99-01-860-230 5,600

08-99-01-880-017 15,230

08-99-01-880-196 37,860

08-99-01-890-046 1,440

08-99-01-890-054 -

08-99-01-890-056 2,290

08-99-01-890-057 -

08-99-01-890-059 5,110

08-99-01-890-060 -

08-99-01-890-136 -

08-99-01-900-024 -

08-99-01-900-030 -

08-99-01-900-048 -

08-99-01-910-037 -

08-99-01-920-010 690

08-99-01-920-179 -

08-99-01-930-027 -

08-99-01-930-158 1,280

08-99-01-940-016 2,620

08-99-01-940-040 -

08-99-01-950-068 -

08-99-01-950-099 -

08-99-01-950-111 -

08-99-01-960-165 -

08-99-01-960-168 -

08-99-01-970-284 41,630

08-99-01-970-303 1,480

08-99-01-970-318 830

08-99-01-970-438 2,650

08-99-01-970-798 -

08-99-01-970-803 -

08-99-01-970-888 76,920

08-99-01-980-239 -

08-99-01-980-244 -

08-99-01-980-373 -

08-99-01-980-378 -

Personal 
Property Total: 3,749,070

Development & TIF Plan | Chapter Three: TIF Plan 22



When developing the TIF Plan, the city must include the following:

 A Development Plan: The Development Plan for this project is
described in Chapter Two: Development Plan.

 A detailed explanation of the tax increment procedure: Tax
Increment Financing is a method of funding public investments in
an area slated for (re)development by capturing, for a time, all or a
portion of the increased tax revenue that may result from increases
in property values, either as a result of (re)development or general
market inflation. The concept of tax increment financing is applied
only to the Development Area for which a development plan has
been prepared by the Authority and adopted by the community’s
legislative body.

“Captured Assessed Value” can be described as the amount in any
year of the Plan in which the current assessed value exceeds the
initial assessed value. Current assessed value for this purpose
includes the amount of local taxes paid in lieu of property taxes.
“Initial Assessed Value” represents the assessed value as equalized
for all properties in the Development Area at the time of resolution
adoption. (See 2014 Base Property Values for all CIA Parcels, on
page 18). It is relevant to mention that the value of tax-exempt
property is represented as a zero value, since no tax increment will
be collected for that site, regardless of increases in actual property
value. The taxable difference between the initial assessed value
(base year total) and any incremental increase in the value can be
captured and (re)invested by the CIA. The estimated capture for
the Birmingham CIA is shown in the Estimated Captured Assessed
Value (right).

For this plan, historic trends have been used to project future
values for tax increment. Given the average growth rate over the
past six years, TIF projections assume a future increase in taxable
value of 6% for the years 2022 and beyond. The City expects this
value to increase significantly when new developments are
completed.

23 Development & TIF Plan | Chapter Three: TIF Plan

Tax % Value

Year Taxable Value (1) Increase Base Value Captured Value

Base Year 2014 (A) 46,110,000$              46,110,000$    -$                        

2015 (A) 48,800,480                 5.83% 46,110,000      2,690,480              

2016 (A) 54,239,550                 11.15% 46,110,000      8,129,550              

2017 (A) 54,297,220                 0.11% 46,110,000      8,187,220              

2018 (A) 59,052,170                 8.76% 46,110,000      12,942,170            

2019 (A) 61,431,850                 4.03% 46,110,000      15,321,850            

2020 (A) 66,262,290                 7.86% 46,110,000      20,152,290            

2021 (A) 67,586,450                 2.00% 46,110,000      21,476,450            

2022 71,641,637                 6.00% 46,110,000      25,531,637            

2023 75,940,135                 6.00% 46,110,000      29,830,135            

2024 80,496,543                 6.00% 46,110,000      34,386,543            

2025 85,326,336                 6.00% 46,110,000      39,216,336            

2026 90,445,916                 6.00% 46,110,000      44,335,916            

2027 95,872,671                 6.00% 46,110,000      49,762,671            

2028 101,625,031              6.00% 46,110,000      55,515,031            

2029 107,722,533              6.00% 46,110,000      61,612,533            

2030 114,185,885              6.00% 46,110,000      68,075,885            

2031 121,037,038              6.00% 46,110,000      74,927,038            

2032 128,299,260              6.00% 46,110,000      82,189,260            

2033 135,997,216              6.00% 46,110,000      89,887,216            

2034 144,157,049              6.00% 46,110,000      98,047,049            

2035 152,806,472              6.00% 46,110,000      106,696,472         

2036 161,974,860              6.00% 46,110,000      115,864,860         

2037 171,693,352              6.00% 46,110,000      125,583,352         

2038 181,994,953              6.00% 46,110,000      135,884,953         

2039 192,914,650              6.00% 46,110,000      146,804,650         

2040 204,489,529              6.00% 46,110,000      158,379,529         

Notes

(A) - Actual values

(1) 2022 - 2040 assume 6% growth/year.

ESTIMATED CAPTURED TAXABLE VALUE

2015-2040



In order to make use of tax increment financing the CIA must submit to the
City governing body a Tax Increment Financing and Development Plan which
the city must approve by resolution. Following approval of resolution,
municipal and county treasurers must transfer to the CIA the amount of
certain taxes paid to them as a result of increased value. The transmitted
funds are denominated “tax increment revenues”. Tax increment revenues
are additionally limited as explained below:

“Tax increment revenues” means the amount of ad valorem property taxes
and specific local taxes attributable to the application of the levy of all taxing
jurisdictions upon the captured assessed value of real and personal property
in the Development Area. Tax increment revenues do not include any of the
following:
a. Taxes under the state education tax act, 1993 PA 331, MCL 211.901 to

211.906.
b. Taxes levied by local or intermediate school districts.
c. Ad valorem property taxes attributable either to a portion of the captured

assessed value shared with taxing jurisdictions within the jurisdictional
area of the authority or to a portion of value of property that may be
excluded from captured assessed value or specific local taxes attributable
to the ad valorem property taxes.

d. Ad valorem property taxes excluded by the tax increment financing plan
of the authority from the determination of the amount of tax increment
revenues to be transmitted to the authority or specific local taxes
attributable to the ad valorem property taxes.

e. Ad valorem property taxes exempted from capture under section 18(5) or
specific local taxes attributable to the ad valorem property taxes.

f. Ad valorem property taxes specifically levied for the payment of principal
and interest of obligations approved by the electors or obligations
pledging the unlimited taxing power of the local governmental unit or
specific taxes attributable to those ad valorem property taxes.

g. Ad valorem property taxes levied under 1 or more of the following specific
local taxes attributable to those ad valorem property taxes:
i. The zoological authorities act, 2008 PA49,MCL 123.1161 to 123.1183
ii. The art institute authorities act, 2010 PA 296, MCL 123.1201 to

120.1229.

Development & TIF Plan | Chapter Three: TIF Plan 24



 The maximum amount of bonded indebtedness to be incurred: The
maximum amount of bonded indebtedness to be incurred by, or on behalf
of, the City of Birmingham CIA is $83.9 million. This amount was established
using 2021 estimates of the land cost ($7,500,000), surface parking
development cost ($225,000), structure cost ($18,000,000), and inflating
the costs with the assumption that the land acquisition for the first parking
structure construction will occur in 2025 at an adjusted cost of $9,742,066,
with the assumption that a structure will be built in 2026 ($22,973,068) and
the assumption that the second structure’s property may be acquired in
2031 ($13,797,859) and built in 2036 ($37,420,707).

The construction of parking structure(s) will likely be timed to coincide with
major new development. New development may necessitate construction of
more than one parking structure. Parking structure(s) may also be partially
funded through a public-private partnership with new development. The
increased tax increment from major new development will likely accelerate
repayment of any bonds for a parking structure.

 The duration of the program: This Tax Increment Financing Plan is shown to
be effective until 2041, based upon a “worst-case” scenario. Depending on
actual market activity and rate of increment capture, this duration may be
extended or shortened. With major new development in the district,
repayment of bonds for parking facilities could be accelerated. Major new
development may also make it feasible to implement land acquisition,
parking lot construction and construction of parking structure(s) sooner than
expected. Principal and interest on all bonded debt will need to be paid, or
sufficient funds to repay the full balance set aside in order to terminate this
plan.

 A statement of the estimated impact of tax increment financing on the
assessed values of all taxing jurisdictions in which the development area is
located: The impact of tax increment financing on the revenues of all taxing
jurisdictions is shown on the Estimated Tax Capture by Taxing Jurisdiction
Table (next page). The CIA is eligible to capture tax increment revenues from
the city, Oakland County and regional authorities, such as Huron-Clinton
Metropark Authority, SMART and Oakland County Community College. The

25 Development & TIF Plan | Chapter Three: TIF Plan

Land acquisition and surface 

parking construction

2021 Estimated Costs $7,725,000 

2025 Estimated Costs (1)(2) $9,742,066

   Parking structure #1 

2021 Estimated Costs $18,000,000 

2026 Estimated Costs (2) $22,973,068 

Land acquisition and surface 

parking construction

2021 Estimated Costs $7,725,000 

2031 Estimated Costs (1)(2) $13,797,859 

   Parking structure #2 

2021 Estimated Costs $18,000,000 

2036 Estimated Costs (2) $37,420,707 

Total $83,933,700 

(1) Assumes 6% annual land value increase

(2) Assumes 5% annual construction value increase

Parking Structure Cost Projections

St
ru

ct
u

re
 #

1
St

ru
ct

u
re

 #
2



CIA will pay the debt service on the bonds for development of parking
facilities from the tax increment revenues captured in the Development Area.

 The Authority may provide for the use of part or all of the captured
assessed value, but the portion intended to be used by the authority shall
be clearly stated in the tax increment financing plan: The CIA anticipates
using all of the captured tax increment revenues to pay the costs of the
development of parking facilities.

Development & TIF Plan | Chapter Three: TIF Plan 26



27 Development & TIF Plan | Chapter Three: TIF Plan

Huron-Clinton Oakland

Operating Refuse Library Operating Parks & Rec Metro Park Community Total

Fiscal Captured Levy Levy Levy Levy Levy Authority College SMART Mills

Year Value (1) 10.8929 0.7930 1.3380 4.0132 0.3470 OPT OUT 1.5057 0.9851 19.8749

2015 -                   

2016 -                   -                          -                      -                      -                          -                         -                        -                    -                   -                

2017 -                   -                          -                      -                      -                          -                         -                        -                    -                   -                

2018 -                   -                          -                      -                      -                          -                         -                        -                    -                   -                

2019 -                   -                          -                      -                      -                          -                         -                        -                    -                   -                

2020 -                   -                          -                      -                      -                          -                         -                        -                    -                   -                

2021 -                   -                          -                      -                      -                          -                         -                        -                    -                   -                

2022 -                   -                          -                      -                      -                          -                         -                        -                    -                   -                

2023 25,531,637    278,114                 20,247               34,161               102,464                 8,859                    -                        38,443              25,151            507,439       

2024 29,830,135    324,937                 23,655               39,913               119,714                 10,351                  -                        44,915              29,386            592,871       

2025 34,386,543    374,569                 27,269               46,009               138,000                 11,932                  -                        51,776              33,874            683,429       

2026 39,216,336    427,180                 31,099               52,471               157,383                 13,608                  -                        59,048              38,632            779,421       

2027 44,335,916    482,947                 35,158               59,321               177,929                 15,385                  -                        66,757              43,675            881,172       

2028 49,762,671    542,060                 39,462               66,582               199,708                 17,268                  -                        74,928              49,021            989,029       

2029 55,515,031    604,720                 44,023               74,279               222,793                 19,264                  -                        83,589              54,688            1,103,356    

2030 61,612,533    671,139                 48,859               82,438               247,263                 21,380                  -                        92,770              60,695            1,224,544    

2031 68,075,885    741,544                 53,984               91,086               273,202                 23,622                  -                        102,502           67,062            1,353,002    

2032 74,927,038    816,173                 59,417               100,252             300,697                 26,000                  -                        112,818           73,811            1,489,168    

2033 82,189,260    895,279                 65,176               109,969             329,842                 28,520                  -                        123,752           80,965            1,633,503    

2034 89,887,216    979,132                 71,281               120,269             360,735                 31,191                  -                        135,343           88,548            1,786,499    

2035 98,047,049    1,068,017             77,751               131,187             393,482                 34,022                  -                        147,629           96,586            1,948,674    

2036 106,696,472  1,162,234             84,610               142,760             428,194                 37,024                  -                        160,653           105,107          2,120,582    

2037 115,864,860  1,262,104             91,881               155,027             464,989                 40,205                  -                        174,458           114,138          2,302,802    

2038 125,583,352  1,367,967             99,588               168,031             503,991                 43,577                  -                        189,091           123,712          2,495,957    

2039 135,884,953  1,480,181             107,757             181,814             545,333                 47,152                  -                        204,602           133,860          2,700,699    

2040 146,804,650  1,599,128             116,416             196,425             589,156                 50,941                  -                        221,044           144,617          2,917,727    

2041 158,379,529  1,725,212             125,595             211,912             635,609                 54,958                  -                        238,472           156,020          3,147,778    

Totals 16,802,637           1,223,228         2,063,906         6,190,484              535,259                -                        2,322,590        1,519,548      30,657,652 

(1) 2022-2041 assume 6% growth/year.

Estimated Tax Capture by Taxing Jurisdiction

Fiscal Year Ending June 30

City of Birmingham Oakland County



Development & TIF Plan | Chapter Three: TIF Plan 28



 

BIRMINGHAM TRIANGLE DISTRICT 
CORRIDOR IMPROVEMENT AUTHORITY 

MINUTES OF TUESDAY OCTOBER 5th, 2021 
 

Municipal Building Commission Room #205 
   151 Martin, Birmingham, Michigan 
           

 
1.  Call to Order by City Commissioner Stuart Sherman at 3:30 P.M. 
 
2.  Roll Call: 
 
Present:  Stuart Sherman  

Kip Cantrick, Jr.   
  Thomas Guastello 
  Samuel Oh 
 
Absent:   
   
Others Present:  City Manager Markus, Assistant City Manager Ecker, Finance Director 
Gerber, Assistant to the City Manager Fairborn, Senior Planner Cowan 
 
3.  Approval of Minutes from January 20, 2017 
 
MOTION:  Motion by Mr. Cantrick, seconded by Mr. Sherman 
To approve the minutes of January 20, 2017 as presented. 
 
VOTE:  Yeas, 2 
  Nays, None 
  Abstained, Cantrick and Oh 
   
Motion carried 2-0. 
 
4.  New Business 
 
 a.  Review of Development Plan and TIF Plan updates 
 
Senior Planner Cowan gave a summary of what the CIA had reviewed since it began in 
2009 to create a Development and TIF Plan. This included decisions regarding the size 
of the structure, potential locations for parking structures, and then assumptions used in 
calculating the projections for land cost, parking structure cost, and TIF capture values. 
 
Staff discussed how the CIA’s Development and TIF Plan was approved by the City 
Commission in 2015 and then the City of Birmingham entered into negotiations with 
Oakland County from 2015 to 2017 to have them opt in for TIF capture. Oakland County 
proposed a cap on the TIF capture and a timeframe for parking structure initiation with a 



Birmingham Triangle District 
Corridor Improvement Authority 
Minutes of October 5th, 2021 
Page 2 of 3 
 
 
 
10 year clawback provision. An agreement between Birmingham and Oakland County 
was not reached at that time. Staff indicated to the CIA that Birmingham had begun to 
renew discussions with Oakland County, and that the County had requested that the City 
update its Development and TIF plan to reflect changes since 2015 and to have changes 
reviewed in public meetings. 
 
Staff presented updates that had been made to the Development and TIF Plan that was 
originally approved in 2015. Chapter one updates included changes in the existing land 
use map and the existing parking conditions to reflect new buildings and the change in 
businesses since 2015. Senior Planner Cowan indicated that the floor-area-ratio of 
commercial space in the Triangle District was added to the Land Use and Parking section 
to demonstrate the amount of surface parking lots acting as underutilized space. The 
Projected Parking Demand section was also updated given the changes in buildings and 
uses since 2015. 
 
Staff then reviewed changes to the Development Plan in Chapter 2. For the Preliminary 
Parking Cost estimates, a 6% annual increase from original values was used for updating 
the land costs. This was based on the average annual increase in assessed value the 
area has experienced since 2015. A 5% annual increase from original values was used 
for the interim surface parking lot and parking structure cost. This value was based on an 
Engineering Construction Cost Index. Senior Planner Cowan and the Board discussed 
how the updated parking structure cost projections appeared low given recent 
developments in metro Detroit. The CIA concurred that the updated value appeared low, 
and that the projection should factor in Royal Oak’s recent structures and the quote for 
Birmingham’s N. Old Woodward parking deck proposal from 2019. The CIA also felt the 
current economy for construction materials would make a parking deck more costly as 
time goes on, therefore they would like to see projections on the higher end of estimates. 
Staff indicated that information would be incorporated with updates to projections in the 
next meeting. 
 
Chapter 2 of the Development Plan was also updated to reflect the change in State policy 
from Act 280, Public Acts of Michigan, 2005 to P.A. 57 of 2018, Part 6. Section 910 
Reporting Requirements was also added to the Development Plan. The City indicated 
they would be holding at least two informational meetings per year.  
 
Senior Planner Cowan indicated that in Chapter 3 for the TIF plan, The City updated the 
Estimated Captured Taxable Value to have 6% annual increases instead of 2% from the 
former plan. The 6% value was used based on historical growth rates in the corridor since 
2015.  
 
CIA members commented on County values in the Estimated Tax Capture by Taxing 
Jurisdiction table. The City’s table assumed 75% of County capture, however the CIA felt 
the table should be updated to include 100% County capture in the TIF Plan. 



Birmingham Triangle District 
Corridor Improvement Authority 
Minutes of October 5th, 2021 
Page 3 of 3 
 
 
 
Commisioner Sherman commented that it was important to negotiate for the highest 
amount of capture possible. 
 
It was summarized that the CIA wished to have the parking structure cost projections 
updated to higher values reflecting current costs and projected price increases, that the 
County’s portion of the tax capture table be updated to reflect a 100% capture, and that 
changes to the document be highlighted in red.  
 
The Board discussed available dates for the next meeting with the goal of conducting a 
public hearing before the end of October. There was general consensus that Tuesday 
Octboer 26th   at 2 pm would work. 
 
A motion was made by Stuart Sherman to schedule a public hearing for October 26th, 
2021 at 2 pm. The motion was seconded by Thomas Guastello. 
 

Yeas – 4 
Nays – 0  

 
The motion was approved. 
 
5. Comments from the public (no public was present) 
 
6. Adjournment 

The meeting adjourned at 4:05 p.m. 

 



 

BIRMINGHAM TRIANGLE DISTRICT 
CORRIDOR IMPROVEMENT AUTHORITY 

MINUTES OF TUESDAY OCTOBER 26th, 2021 
 

Municipal Building Commission Room #205 
   151 Martin, Birmingham, Michigan 
           

 
1.  Call to Order by Chairperson Stuart Sherman at 2:00 P.M. 
 
2.  Roll Call: 
 
Present:  Stuart Sherman  

Kip Cantrick, Jr.   
  Thomas Guastello 
  Samuel Oh 
 
Absent:   
   
Others Present:  Assistant City Manager Ecker, Finance Director Gerber, Assistant to 
the City Manager Fairbairn, Senior Planner Cowan 
 
3.  Approval of Minutes from January 20th, 2017 
 
MOTION:  Motion by Mr. Guastello, seconded by Mr. Cantrick 
To approve the minutes of January 20, 2017 as presented 
 
VOTE:  Yeas, 4 
  Nays, None 
     
Motion carried 4-0. 
 
4.  Approval of Minutes from October 5th, 2021 
 
MOTION:  Motion by Mr. Guastello, seconded by Mr. Cantrick 
To approve the minutes of October 5th, 2021 as presented 
 
5.  Unfinished Business 
 
 a.  Review of Development & TIF Plan updates 
 
Senior Planner Cowan went over updates that were requested at the October 5th, 2021 
meeting. The projected parking structure cost was updated to $18 million with assuming 
$40 thousand per parking space. Staff indicated they spoke with developers and 
professionals involved with parking structure development in metro Detroit who estimated 
costs of around $35 to $40 thousand per space, and that Birmingham should choose the 



Birmingham Triangle District 
Corridor Improvement Authority 
Minutes of October 26th, 2021 
Page 2 of 3 
 

 
 

high end of that value. Comparable parking structure costs for Royal Oak and the N. Old 
Woodward project were discussed in arriving at an approximate construction value. 
 
Staff also indicated that the estimated tax capture from Oakland County was updated 
from 75% to 100% as requested.  
 
Chairperson Sherman commented that the total estimated tax capture was approximately 
30% of the total estimated project cost which was a stated goal of the CIA from the 
beginning.  
 
Senior Planner Cowan discussed an informal review of the updated plan with Oakland 
County staff who had questions regarding the 2015 base year and the 6% projected 
growth rate. Chairperson Sherman mentioned that Oakland County has reaped the 
benefits of Birmingham development for many years and that Birmingham is a tax donor 
to Oakland County. It was discussed how the 6% growth rate is based on actual values 
and that Birmingham’s taxable value grows more than a 2.5% inflationary rate. 
 
There was general consensus from the CIA that Birmingham should maintain the 
projected 6% growth rate and request that Oakland County permit a 100% tax capture for 
the purpose of economic development. Building parking structures in the Triangle District 
will spur development and increase the total taxable values for Oakland County. 
 
Mr. Oh commented on the parking structure cost projections and the differences between 
Royal Oak’s structures and what was planned for the N. Old Woodward project. Staff 
discussed how a number of factors were considered in the estimate including rising 
construction costs, underground spaces, and accomodating commercial space. The CIA 
discussed how they did not have exact plans for a structure, and were only looking for 
approximate values that can be justified at this time for the purpose of creating the 
Development and TIF Plan. 
 
Overall the CIA was satisfied with the updates made to the Development and TIF Plan. 
 
A motion was made by Kip Cantrick to recommend approval of the updates to the CIA’s 
Development and TIF Plan to the City Commission. The Motion was seconded by 
Thomas Guastello. 
 

Yeas – 4 
Nays – 0  

 
The motion was approved. 
 
5. Comments from the public (no public was present) 
 



Birmingham Triangle District 
Corridor Improvement Authority 
Minutes of October 26th, 2021 
Page 3 of 3 
 

 
 

6. Adjournment 

The meeting adjourned at 2:35 p.m. 

 



 

BIRMINGHAM TRIANGLE DISTRICT 
CORRIDOR IMPROVEMENT AUTHORITY 

MINUTES OF TUESDAY OCTOBER 26th, 2021 
 

Municipal Building Commission Room #205 
   151 Martin, Birmingham, Michigan 
           

 
1.  Call to Order by Chairperson Stuart Sherman at 2:00 P.M. 
 
2.  Roll Call: 
 
Present:  Stuart Sherman  

Kip Cantrick, Jr.   
  Thomas Guastello 
  Samuel Oh 
 
Absent:   
   
Others Present:  Assistant City Manager Ecker, Finance Director Gerber, Assistant to 
the City Manager Fairbairn, Senior Planner Cowan 
 
3.  Approval of Minutes from January 20th, 2017 
 
MOTION:  Motion by Mr. Guastello, seconded by Mr. Cantrick 
To approve the minutes of January 20, 2017 as presented 
 
VOTE:  Yeas, 4 
  Nays, None 
     
Motion carried 4-0. 
 
4.  Approval of Minutes from October 5th, 2021 
 
MOTION:  Motion by Mr. Guastello, seconded by Mr. Cantrick 
To approve the minutes of October 5th, 2021 as presented 
 
5.  Unfinished Business 
 
 a.  Review of Development & TIF Plan updates 
 
Senior Planner Cowan went over updates that were requested at the October 5th, 2021 
meeting. The projected parking structure cost was updated to $18 million with assuming 
$40 thousand per parking space. Staff indicated they spoke with developers and 
professionals involved with parking structure development in metro Detroit who estimated 
costs of around $35 to $40 thousand per space, and that Birmingham should choose the 



Birmingham Triangle District 
Corridor Improvement Authority 
Minutes of October 26th, 2021 
Page 2 of 3 
 

 
 

high end of that value. Comparable parking structure costs for Royal Oak and the N. Old 
Woodward project were discussed in arriving at an approximate construction value. 
 
Staff also indicated that the estimated tax capture from Oakland County was updated 
from 75% to 100% as requested.  
 
Chairperson Sherman commented that the total estimated tax capture was approximately 
30% of the total estimated project cost which was a stated goal of the CIA from the 
beginning.  
 
Senior Planner Cowan discussed an informal review of the updated plan with Oakland 
County staff who had questions regarding the 2015 base year and the 6% projected 
growth rate. Chairperson Sherman mentioned that Oakland County has reaped the 
benefits of Birmingham development for many years and that Birmingham is a tax donor 
to Oakland County. It was discussed how the 6% growth rate is based on actual values 
and that Birmingham’s taxable value grows more than a 2.5% inflationary rate. 
 
There was general consensus from the CIA that Birmingham should maintain the 
projected 6% growth rate and request that Oakland County permit a 100% tax capture for 
the purpose of economic development. Building parking structures in the Triangle District 
will spur development and increase the total taxable values for Oakland County. 
 
Mr. Oh commented on the parking structure cost projections and the differences between 
Royal Oak’s structures and what was planned for the N. Old Woodward project. Staff 
discussed how a number of factors were considered in the estimate including rising 
construction costs, underground spaces, and accomodating commercial space. The CIA 
discussed how they did not have exact plans for a structure, and were only looking for 
approximate values that can be justified at this time for the purpose of creating the 
Development and TIF Plan. 
 
Overall the CIA was satisfied with the updates made to the Development and TIF Plan. 
 
A motion was made by Kip Cantrick to recommend approval of the updates to the CIA’s 
Development and TIF Plan to the City Commission. The Motion was seconded by 
Thomas Guastello. 
 

Yeas – 4 
Nays – 0  

 
The motion was approved. 
 
5. Comments from the public (no public was present) 
 



Birmingham Triangle District 
Corridor Improvement Authority 
Minutes of October 26th, 2021 
Page 3 of 3 
 

 
 

6. Adjournment 

The meeting adjourned at 2:35 p.m. 

 



1 

MEMORANDUM 
Police Department 

DATE:  December 1, 2021  

TO:  Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Chris Busen, Investigative Commander 

APPROVED: Mark H. Clemence, Chief of Police 

SUBJECT: Sushi Japan, Inc.’s Request for a Redevelopment Quota Class C 
and SDM Liquor License with Sunday Sales (AM and PM) Permits 
to be Located at 176 S Old Woodward, Birmingham, Oakland 
County, Michigan, to be Issued Pursuant to MCL 436.1521a(1)(b).

INTRODUCTION: 
The police department has received a request from the Law Offices of Adkison, Need, Allen, and 
Rentrop for a Redevelopment Class C and SDM liquor license with Sunday Sales (AM/PM) for 
Sushi Japan, Inc. (“Sushi Japan”) at 176 S Old Woodward, Birmingham, Oakland County, MI 
48009. Sushi Japan has paid the initial fee of $1,500.00 for a business that serves alcoholic 
beverages for consumption on the premises per section 7.33 of the Birmingham City Code. On 
July 12, 2021, the City Commission approved a Special Land Use Permit (SLUP) for Sushi Japan 
to operate with a Bistro License for 176 S Old Woodward, pursuant to Article 7, Section 7.34, 
Zoning, of the Birmingham City Code (minutes attached). The sole stockholder of Sushi Japan is 
Ximing Yu.  

BACKGROUND: 
Sushi Japan is a Chinese, Japanese, and Sushi restaurant serving lunch and dinner. Sushi Japan 
will be open from 11:00 a.m. to 10:30 p.m. from Monday-Thursday, 11:00 a.m. to 11:00 p.m. on 
Friday and Saturday and 11:00 a.m. to 9:30 p.m. on Sunday. Sushi Japan is approximately 2,200 
square feet and has seating for approximately 56 patrons, which includes five seats at the bar. 
Sushi Japan has expended $115,000 in the restoration and rehabilitation of the building. Sushi 
Japan will pay $27,000 for the license and the initial alcoholic beverage inventory. This has been 
paid out of personal funds and secured bank financing. On August 19, 2021, Sushi Japan 
submitted an application to the Michigan Liquor Control Commission requesting the new Class C 
liquor license. Sushi Japan has a lease with the property owner Merrillwood Investments, LLC for 
10 ½ years at $7,500.00 per month.  

Sushi Members Percentage of Interest 

Ximing Yu 100% 

A background check was conducted on Ximing Yu using the Law Enforcement Information 
Network (LEIN), the Courts and Law Enforcement Management Information System (CLEMIS) 
and the Middle Atlantic-Great Lakes Organized Crime Law Enforcement Network (MAGLOCLEN) 

5C



2 
 
 

FBI N-DEX national database.  Yu has no criminal convictions and no negative law enforcement 
contacts.   
 
LEGAL REVIEW: 
Non-applicable 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
$1,500.00 liquor license application fee received.  
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS:  
Non-applicable 
 
SUMMARY: 
Sushi Japan has requested approval from the City for a new Class C liquor license issued under 
MCL 436.1521 a(1)(b) (the “Redevelopment License Law”) and the City of Birmingham’s bistro 
ordinance to be located at 176 S Old Woodward, Birmingham. Sushi Japan also requests the 
following permits: SDM License and Sunday Sales (AM/PM) permit. The applicant, Ximing Yu, has 
successfully completed the police background check.  The City Commission has already approved 
Sushi Japan, Inc.’s Final Site Plan and SLUP at a previous Commission meeting on July 12, 2021.  
The police department has not uncovered any information that would give cause to deny the 
applicant’s request.   
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
City Commission meeting minutes of July 12, 2021. 
 
SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
 

A. Make a motion adopting a resolution to authorize the City Clerk to complete the Local 
Approval Notice at the request of Sushi Japan, Inc. approving the liquor license request 
of Sushi Japan, Inc. requesting a Redevelopment Quota Class C and SDM liquor license 
to be issued pursuant to MCL 436.1521 a(1)(b) with Sunday Sales (AM/PM) located at 
176 S Old Woodward, Birmingham, Oakland County, MI 48009. 







1 

MEMORANDUM 
(Information Technology) 

DATE: 12/08/2021 

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Eric Brunk, IT Manager 

SUBJECT: Adobe Creative Cloud subscription renewal 

INTRODUCTION: 
A number of Departments are using a subscription license for Adobe creative cloud for teams. 
This subscription has a yearly renewal and gives those users the ability to use the entire suite of 
adobe products and grants them access to the latest version of those products.   The current 
subscription is up for renewal the end of December 2021. 

BACKGROUND: 
Adobe has 2 avenues for the purchase of its software. A Perpetual license, where you purchase 
the individual software applications and then purchase the newer versions when they are available 
and a subscription license where you purchase a yearly subscription to their software and services 
and automatically receive the latest versions as they become available.  Adobe has continually 
increased its perpetual application license costs to direct consumers to their subscription software 
avenue.  The subscription cost for the entire suite is less that a yearly perpetual license for only 
a few applications.   We have purchased the original subscription license from CDWG and it is 
time for renewal.   The renewal cost for the subscription license is $938.14 per license. We 
currently hold 9 licenses so the total cost for the renewal is $8,443.26.  This renewal is being 
purchased under the Michigan Master Computing – MiDeal Agreement, a government purchasing 
schedule. 

LEGAL REVIEW:  
This is a standard subscription license for a software product. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
This purchase is a budgeted item. 

SUMMARY: 
The IT department is requesting the ability to purchase the renewal for 9 subscription licenses of 
Adobe Creative cloud for teams – All apps from CDWG for a total cost of $8443.26.  

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to allow the IT department to purchase the renewal of 9 
licenses of Adobe Creative Cloud from CDWG for a total purchase price of $8,443.26 using 
funds available in the IT computer software account 636-228.000-742.0000 

5D



Page 1 of 1

QUOTE CONFIRMATION

DEAR ERIC BRUNK,

Thank you for considering CDW•G LLC for your computing needs. The details of your quote are below. 

Click here to convert your quote to an order.

QUOTE # QUOTE DATE QUOTE REFERENCE CUSTOMER # GRAND TOTAL

MMNX389 12/2/2021 MMNX389 5969901 $8,443.26

QUOTE DETAILS

ITEM QTY CDW# UNIT PRICE EXT. PRICE

Adobe Creative Cloud for teams - All Apps - Subscription 

Renewal - 1 user

9 5868003 $938.14 $8,443.26

Mfg. Part#: 65304042BC01A12

Electronic distribution - NO MEDIA

Contract: Michigan Master Computing-MiDEAL (071B6600110)

PURCHASER BILLING INFO SUBTOTAL

$8,443.26

Billing Address:

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

151 MARTIN ST

PO BOX 3001

BIRMINGHAM, MI 48009-3368

Phone: (248) 530-1850

Payment Terms: Net 30 Days-Govt State/Local

SHIPPING

$0.00

SALES TAX

$0.00

GRAND TOTAL

$8,443.26

DELIVER TO Please remit payments to:

Shipping Address:

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM

ERIC BRUNK

151 MARTIN ST

BIRMINGHAM, MI 48009-3368

Phone: (248) 530-1885

Shipping Method: ELECTRONIC DISTRIBUTION

CDW Government

75 Remittance Drive

Suite 1515

Chicago, IL 60675-1515

Need Assistance? CDW•G LLC SALES CONTACT INFORMATION

Ryan Marron | (877) 219-8208 | ryamarr@cdwg.com

This quote is subject to CDW's Terms and Conditions of Sales and Service Projects at

http://www.cdwg.com/content/terms-conditions/product-sales.aspx

For more information, contact a CDW account manager

© 2021 CDW•G LLC 200 N. Milwaukee Avenue, Vernon Hills, IL 60061 | 800.808.4239

http://www.cdwg.com/shop/quotes/QuoteDetails.aspx?qn=MMNX389
http://www.cdwg.com/shop/products/default.aspx?EDC=5868003
http://www.cdwg.com/shop/products/default.aspx?EDC=5868003
http://www.cdwg.com/content/terms-conditions/product-sales.aspx


1 

MEMORANDUM 
City Clerk’s Office 

DATE: December 9, 2021 

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 

SUBJECT: Grave Release Request 

INTRODUCTION: 
Cheri Arcome of Creative Collaborations, the city’s contracted cemetery services provider, recently 
brought an issue to the attention of the City Clerk.  There is a family with space in the cemetery 
is currently in an “at need” situation to acquire another space. The family desires to place a 
recently expired family member adjacent to their existing family plots.  

BACKGROUND: 
On April 26, 2021 the City Commission approved a grave release that restricted new sales to only 
the rows highlighted in the map below in orange: 

The family needing space currently has family members in section B, row 2-A. In order to allow 
the family to have their members together in the cemetery a space must be released in section 
B, row 2-A.  

The family is planning to purchase a lot and hold services later this month. 

**Section B, Row 2-A is indicated on the above map with a red arrow.  

5E



2 
 
 

 
LEGAL REVIEW:  
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
This plot will be sold at the current rate of $4,000 per space as indicated on the city’s fee schedule. 
All revenue from cemetery plot sales is deposited into the Perpetual Care Fund, account number: 
150.000.000-643.0000. 
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
All decisions in regards to releasing graves for sale in Greenwood Cemetery are made by the City 
Commission, in open public meetings that are noticed allowing for public comment.  
 
SUMMARY: 
The City Clerk and Contracted Cemetery Service Provider recommend the release of one grave in 
section B, row 2-A, in order to allow a family in an “at need” situation to stay together with 
adjacent plots in the cemetery.    
 
ATTACHMENTS:   
• City Commission minutes from April, 26, 2021, see resolution number 04-128-21 regarding 

the most recent grave release.  
 
SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to release one grave in section B, row 2-A, for the family 
in an “at need” situation to purchase another plot adjacent to their existing family plots.  
 
 
 



 
Birmingham City Commission Minutes 

April 26, 2021 
7:30 P.M. 

Virtual Meeting 
Meeting ID: 655 079 760 

Vimeo Link: https://vimeo.com/event/3470/videos/538949933/ 
 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Pierre Boutros, Mayor, opened the meeting with the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

II. ROLL CALL 
Alexandra Bingham, City Clerk, called the roll. 
 
Present:  Mayor Boutros (location: Birmingham, MI) 
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe (location: Birmingham, MI) 
   Commissioner Baller (location: Birmingham, MI) 
   Commissioner Hoff (location: Birmingham, MI) 
   Commissioner Host (location: Birmingham, MI) 
   Commissioner Nickita (location: Birmingham, MI) 
   Commissioner Sherman (location: Birmingham, MI) 
 
Absent:  None 
 
Administration: City Manager Markus, City Clerk Bingham, Police Chief Clemence, City Planner 
Dupuis, City Attorney Kucharek, Planning Director Ecker, Finance Director Gerber, Interim HR 
Director/Assistant City Manager Hock, Building Official Johnson, City Attorney Kucharek, DPS Director Wood 
 

III. PROCLAMATIONS, CONGRATULATORY RESOLUTIONS, AWARDS, APPOINTMENTS, 
RESIGNATIONS AND CONFIRMATIONS, ADMINISTRATION OF OATHS, INTRODUCTION OF 
GUESTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS. 

PROCLAMATIONS 
● Proclamation on Mental Health Awareness 
● Proclamation on Gun Violence Awareness  

 
APPOINTMENTS  
 
04-115-21 Appointment of Larry Bertollini to the Architectural Review Committee 
 
The Commission noted that Larry Bertollini was not able to attend the present meeting, but has been a 
member of the ARC since 2012.  
 
MOTION: Nomination by Commissioner Host:  

To appoint Larry Bertollini as a regular member to the Architectural Review Committee to serve a three-
year term to expire April 11, 2024. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Host  
    Commissioner Sherman 

Mayor Pro-Tem Longe 
    Mayor Boutros 
    Commissioner Baller 

Commissioner Nickita 
Commissioner Hoff    

 
   Nays, None 
 
04-116-21 Appointment of Pierre Yaldo to the Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 
 
The Commission interviewed Pierre Yaldo for the appointment.  
 

https://vimeo.com/event/3470/videos/538949933/


2  April 26, 2021 

MOTION: Nomination by Commissioner Host:  
To concur with the Mayor’s appointment of Pierre Yaldo as a regular member to the Brownfield 
Redevelopment Authority to serve a three-year term to expire May 23, 2024. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Host  
    Commissioner Sherman 

Mayor Pro-Tem Longe 
    Mayor Boutros 
    Commissioner Baller 

Commissioner Nickita 
Commissioner Hoff    

 
   Nays, None 
 
04-117-21 Appointment of Karson Claussen to the Housing Board of Appeals 
 
The Commission interviewed Karson Claussen for the appointment.  
 
MOTION: Nomination by Commissioner Host:  
To appoint Karson Claussen as a regular member to the Housing Board of Appeals to serve a three-year 
term to expire May 4, 2024. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Host  
    Commissioner Sherman 

Mayor Pro-Tem Longe 
    Mayor Boutros 
    Commissioner Baller 

Commissioner Nickita 
Commissioner Hoff    

 
   Nays, None 
 
04-118-21 Appointment of Phil Vincenti to the Housing Board of Appeals 
 
The Commission interviewed Phil Vincenti for the appointment.  
 
MOTION: Nomination by Commissioner Nickita:  
To appoint Phil Vincenti as a regular member to the Housing Board of Appeals to serve a three-year term 
to expire May 4, 2024 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Nickita 

Commissioner Hoff    
Commissioner Host  

    Commissioner Sherman 
Mayor Pro-Tem Longe 

    Mayor Boutros 
    Commissioner Baller 
     
   Nays, None 
 

IV. OPEN TO THE PUBLIC FOR MATTERS NOT ON THE AGENDA 
None. 
 

V. CONSENT AGENDA 
All items listed on the consent agenda are considered to be routine and will be enacted by one motion 
and approved by a roll call vote.  There will be no separate discussion of the items unless a 
commissioner or citizen so requests, in which event the item will be removed from the general order 
of business and considered under the last item of new business. 

 
04-119-21  Consent Agenda 
 
The following items were pulled from the Consent Agenda: 

Commissioner Hoff: Item B – City Commission Meeting Minutes of April 12, 2021 
   Item E – Michigan Parkinson's Foundation Walk at Seaholm  

 



3  April 26, 2021 

MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Sherman, seconded by Commissioner Nickita: 
To approve Consent Agenda with the exclusion of Items B and E. 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Sherman 
   Commissioner Nickita 
   Commissioner Hoff 

Mayor Boutros 
Commissioner Baller 

   Commissioner Host 
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe  
    

 Nays, None  
 

A. Resolution to approve the Workshop meeting minutes of April 12, 2021 
 

C. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, dated April 
14, 2021, in the amount of $809,759.86 
 

D. Resolution to approve the warrant list, including Automated Clearing House payments, dated April 
21, 2021, in the amount of $493,415.90 

 
F. Resolution directing the Treasurer to transfer the following unpaid and delinquent special 

assessment and invoices, including interest and penalty, to the 2021 City tax roll and to authorize 
removal from the list any bills paid after City Commission approval. (Complete resolution in agenda 
packet) 
 

G. Resolution directing the Treasurer to transfer the following unpaid and delinquent water/sewage 
bills of the properties listed in this report to the 2021 city tax roll and to authorize removal from 
the list any bills paid or a payment plan agreement signed after City Commission approval. 
(Complete resolution in agenda packet) 
 

H. Resolution to approve the purchase of holiday lights from Wintergreen Corporation for a total cost 
not to exceed $29,910.00. Funds are available from the General Fund-Community Activities-
Operating Supplies account #101-441.004-729.0000 and Property Maintenance-Operating Supplies 
account # 101-441.003-729.0000 for this purchase. 
 

I. Resolution to set a public hearing date for May 24, 2021 to consider the Special Land Use Permit, 
Final Site Plan and Design Review application for 720 N. Old Woodward – Vinewood Bistro. 
 

J. Resolution to set a public hearing for May 24, 2021 to consider a lot split for the property known 
as 525 W. Brown. 
 

K. Resolution to set a public hearing for May 24, 2021 for the lot combination application of 385 & 
353 Fairfax, Parcel # 19-26-451-018 and Parcel # 19-26-451-019. 
 

04-120-21 (Item B) City Commission Meeting Minutes of April 12, 2021 
 

Commissioner Hoff asked that her early departure from the meeting be noted in the body of the minutes 
on page 12. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Hoff, seconded by Commissioner Nickita: 
To approve the City Commission meeting minutes of April 12, 2021. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Hoff 
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
Commissioner Baller 

   Commissioner Sherman 
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe  
   Commissioner Host 
    

 Nays, None  
 

04-121-21 (Item E) Michigan Parkinson's Foundation Walk at Seaholm 
 



4  April 26, 2021 

In reply to Commissioner Hoff, City Clerk Bingham clarified that both the MPF Walk and Yoga in the Park 
would be held on Saturday, June 26, 2021. 
 
Commissioner Hoff said she saw no conflict between the two events and that she had just wanted 
confirmation of the dates. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Hoff, seconded by Commissioner Baller: 
To approve a request from the Michigan Parkinson Foundation to hold the “I gave my sole to Parkinsons” 
walk at Seaholm High School and on the surrounding streets on June 26, 2021 contingent upon compliance 
with all permit and insurance requirements and payment of all fees and, further, pursuant to any 
modifications or event cancellation that may be deemed necessary by administrative staff, leading up to 
or at the time of the event, due to public health and safety measures. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Hoff 
   Commissioner Baller 
   Commissioner Sherman 
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe  
   Commissioner Host 
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
 

 Nays, None 
 

VI. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
04-122-21 Lot Combination of 34350 Woodward Avenue and 907-911 
Haynes Street 
 
CP Cowan reviewed the item. 
 
Commissioner Host thanked CP Cowan for highlighting the new information in blue 
in the agenda item. 
 

Commissioner Hoff asked that in the future updated drawings and information be provided with the agenda 
packet when it goes out to the Commissioners on Thursdays, instead of being provided on Fridays. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Nickita, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Longe: 
To cancel the public hearing on the proposed lot combination of 34350 Woodward and 907-911 Haynes, 
parcel #19-36-281-022 and parcel #19-36-281-030 and direct the applicant to first obtain Final Site Plan 
and SLUP approval for expanding the use of an auto sales and auto showroom use in the MU-5 and MU-7 
zones. 
 
Jason Canvasser, attorney for the applicant, asked the Commission to indicate whether they were broadly 
amenable to the proposed plans while still understanding the plans would need to undergo review by the 
Planning Board and the Board of Zoning Appeals.  
 
Commissioner Baller said that while he understood Mr. Canvasser’s request the applicant may not get an 
answer to the question during the present proceedings.  
 
Commissioner Nickita noted that while the prototype building being proposed has strict guidelines imposed 
by Porsche corporate, it does not obligate the City to accept the building as-planned. He said that even 
though there may not be flexibility in the building’s parameters on the applicant’s part, the City must still 
either approve buildings that adhere to ordinance or grant variances from the ordinances.  
 
Public Comment 
Mr. Canvasser additionally asked the Commission to indicate when the agreements in the proposal would 
be re-addressed.  
 
Commissioner Nickita said the Commission’s regular consideration of the item over a number of months 
indicates its intention to try and work out a mutually beneficial agreement with the applicant.  
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Nickita 
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe  
   Commissioner Host 

Mayor Boutros 
   Commissioner Hoff 
   Commissioner Baller 



5  April 26, 2021 

   Commissioner Sherman 
    

 Nays, None 
   

04-123-21 2021 Initial Screening for Bistro Applicants - Spring 
 
PD Ecker reviewed the item. She noted that Maple & One would be pursuing a SLUP amendment instead 
of a bistro license.  
 
Commissioner Sherman recommended The French Lady re-apply in Fall 2021 given that there were two 
other bistro reviews pending and one with a scheduled public hearing. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Sherman, seconded by Commissioner Hoff: 
To take no action on the bistro application for The French Lady at this time. 
 
In reply to Commissioner Nickita, PD Ecker concurred it would be useful to give the fall bistro applicants a 
90-day time limit for submitting their documentation moving forward so that it was more clear how many 
bistro licenses might be available for the spring applicants.  
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Sherman 
   Commissioner Hoff 
   Commissioner Baller 
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe  
   Commissioner Host 
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
 

 Nays, None 
 

04-124-21 Chesterfield Fire Station - Park Designation  
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Sherman, seconded by Commissioner Baller: 
To refer this matter to the Parks and Recreation Board for their review, discussion and recommended 
actions about designating a portion of the Chesterfield Fire Station property as a City Park and provide 
formal park naming procedures. Further, to consider potential park site amenities and budget implications 
in order to undertake such endeavor, and to take into consideration the needs of the Chesterfield Fire 
Station. 
 
Commissioner Hoff said she would send her list of concerns about this proposal to DPS Director Wood for 
consideration by the Parks and Recreation Board.  
 
Commissioner Nickita recommended that Parks and Recreation Board consider how this proposed park 
would fit within the City’s system of parks overall.  
 
Commissioner Baller expressed interest in Commissioner Hoff’s concerns, said he concurred with 
Commissioner Nickita, and said that this item might be a good opportunity for the City to utilize the Bang 
the Table tool or other ways to facilitate collaboration on the discussion between the Commission and the 
Parks and Recreation Board.  
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Sherman 
   Commissioner Baller 
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe  
   Commissioner Host 
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
   Commissioner Hoff 
    

 Nays, None 
 

VII. NEW BUSINESS 
04-125-21 Unimproved Streets Policy Modifications 

 
Consulting City Engineer Surhigh summarized the item. In reply to Commissioner Hoff, he stated that an 
expression of interest would be solicited from residents once the Engineering Department completes its 
unimproved streets rankings.  
 



6  April 26, 2021 

CM Markus added that the City would provide the residents of unimproved streets with an estimate of the 
approximate costs of improving their street. He said this process moves the City more towards initiating 
the process of improving streets versus only waiting for resident petitions as was done in the past. He also 
stated that assessments would occur as part of the process, and that it was unrealistic to imagine the City 
would be able to fund the entire process.  
 
Commissioner Baller ventured that residents often care more about the condition of the street’s surface 
than the condition of the water lines or sewers. Consequently, he recommended that the Engineering 
Department weigh the former criterion more heavily than the latter in its ranking system.  
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Hoff, seconded by Commissioner Nickita: 
To follow up on the unimproved streets workshop in regards to unimproved street policy modifications. 
(Complete resolution in agenda packet) 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Longe said she was in support of the resolution as it would help clarify the likely costs and 
help inform future City policy on the matter. 
 
Mayor Boutros commended Consulting City Engineer Surhigh for his work on the item. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Hoff 
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
   Commissioner Sherman 
   Commissioner Baller 
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe  
   Commissioner Host 
    

 Nays, None 
 

04-126-21 Ordinance Amendment Fee Schedule Memo 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Sherman, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Longe: 
To adopt the proposed ordinance: 

Sec. 1-16. – Fee Schedule 
Fees for application, plan reviews, permits, inspections, licenses, registrations, appeals, and 
other charges or penalties shall be specified in the schedule of fees, charges, bonds and 
insurance. All fees are subject to change from time to time as recommended by city staff 
and as determined by resolution of the City Commission. Ordained on this 26th day of April 
2021. Effective upon publication. 
 

In reply to Commissioner Hoff, City Attorney Kucharek stated she was recommending this language be 
added to the City’s ordinances in order to ensure that fee-related matters were covered as part of the 
ordinances’ general provisions.  
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Sherman 
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe  
   Commissioner Host 
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
   Commissioner Hoff 
   Commissioner Baller 
 

 Nays, None 
 

04-127-21 Greenwood Cemetery Fee Schedule Proposed Revisions 
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Sherman, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
To amend the City’s schedule of Fees, Charges, Bonds and Insurance under the City Clerk’s Office section 
in regards to Greenwood Cemetery as proposed in the item’s report. 
 
City Clerk Bingham stated that these fees go to paying the subcontractor that performs the necessary 
work. 
 
In reply to Commissioner Sherman, City Attorney Kucharek stated that she would review any outstanding 
purchase agreements to see if the City can require they be returned within a certain timeframe. She said 



7  April 26, 2021 

that at the direction of the City Manager she would also review the purchase agreement template to add 
any language necessary to protect the City’s interests.   
 
Cheri Arcome of Creative Collaborations stated that City Clerk Bingham can send the City Attorney the 
purchase agreement template.  
 
In reply to Commissioner Sherman, City Clerk Bingham stated that the currently proposed fee changes 
would be effective after this ordinance is approved by the Commission and published. She stated that the 
fee changes approved at the March 22, 2021 Commission meeting were already in effect.  
 
In reply to Commissioner Hoff, City Clerk Bingham stated that the cost to repair damages done to markers 
or monuments by lawnmowers or natural changes would come out of the perpetual care fund.  
 
Public Comment 
Andrew Haig made a recommendation about timing of payments for gravesite purchases. 
 
Commissioner Hoff stated that it was her recollection that the City prohibited payment plans for grave 
purchases. 
 
Ms. Arcome stated that the Cemetery’s Rules and Regulations currently allow payment plans and outline 
the process of their creation.  
 
Commissioner Hoff said the matter should be looked into further since she was sure payment plans were 
prohibited. 
 
City Clerk Bingham said GCAB would be looking into clarifying the payment plans section of the Rules and 
Regulations at an upcoming meeting.  
 
CM Markus noted that the present conversation was no longer germane to the motion. 
 
Margaret Suter, resident and member of GCAB, said the previous change in payment plans eliminated the 
variety of options available and replaced them with a single option that would allow a purchaser to pay 
over the course of two years.  
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Sherman 
   Commissioner Host 
   Commissioner Hoff 
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
   Commissioner Baller 
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe  
      

 Nays, None 
 

04-128-21 Greenwood Cemetery Grave Release  
 
MOTION: Motion by Commissioner Host, seconded by Commissioner Nickita: 
To release 38 graves in section B, rows 17-C, 16-C, 15-C, and 14-A to be available for purchase in 
Greenwood Cemetery. 
 
Commissioner Hoff reiterated her ongoing stance that any other available graves in the Cemetery should 
be located via reclamation, ground-penetrating radar, cross-referencing of records, or any other means, 
and released for sale before further selling graves in historic Sections A and B.  
 
It was noted that the Commission discussed and approved plans for creating and selling gravesites in 
Sections B and C in 2015. Commissioner Nickita said this proposed grave release was a continuation of 
that process which has been ongoing for a number of years.  
 
Mayor Boutros echoed Commissioner Nickita. 
 
Mayor Boutros and Commissioners Nickita and Sherman said they were also in favor of utilizing the 
mechanisms listed by Commissioner Hoff to locate possible additional graves outside of the historical 
sections. 
 



8  April 26, 2021 

CM Markus stated that the GCAB, City Clerk Bingham, Ms. Arcome, DPW and himself all were 
recommending the currently proposed grave release. He noted that nine sites have partial obstructions but 
those would not preclude the burial of cremated remains.  
 
Commissioner Hoff expressed concern that the turnover in the Clerk’s Office staff in the last few years has 
lead to difficulties for GCAB because ‘things have slipped through the cracks’. She acknowledged that the 
reconciliation of Cemetery records is a large undertaking and said more time was required to know what 
additional graves might be available outside the historical sections.  
 
Commissioner Nickita noted that the aisles in Sections B and C would remain walkable even with the sale 
of additional graves in those sections.  
 
Public Comment 
Fred Lavery said he owned two plots in the Cemetery that are as yet unused, and said the graves’ lack of 
occupancy did not reflect the graves’ availability for reclamation. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Commissioner Host 
   Commissioner Nickita 
   Commissioner Sherman 
   Commissioner Baller 
   Mayor Pro Tem Longe  

Mayor Boutros 
 

 Nays, Commissioner Hoff 
 

04-129-21 Greenwood Cemetery Contract Service Provider Annual 
Renewal 

 
City Clerk Bingham presented the item. 
 
MOTION: Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Longe, seconded by Commissioner Host: 
To authorize the agreement with Creative Collaborations, LLC, a Cemetery Service Provider firm to act, on 
behalf of the City, as the service provider to the Historic Greenwood Cemetery for a term of one year with 
annual renewals until either party exercises the termination provisions as stated in the contract. The annual 
contract is set for an amount not to exceed $45,600.00, which will be paid from account #101-215.000-
811.0000. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Longe moved the motion, saying that a number of current factors make the decision to 
renew the contract with Creative Collaborations at this time the most judicious one. 
 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE: Ayes, Mayor Pro Tem Longe  
   Commissioner Host 
   Commissioner Sherman 
   Commissioner Hoff 
   Commissioner Nickita 

Mayor Boutros 
   Commissioner Baller 
    

 Nays, None 
 

Commission discussion on items from prior meeting. 
1. Builder developer street damage. Issues, costs, remedial action and payment proposal. 

CM Markus reported that he had met with Mr. Haig, and that many of Mr. Haig’s recommendations are 
already in place in the City. He stated that Mr. Haig had recommended the City consider requiring that 
builders obtain a bond while building a new home in order to repair damage to public property that may 
not be immediately visible. CM Markus stated that he would be looking into possible ways of instituting 
that requirement and would be returning to the Commission with a proposal. He said that the City generally 
has the appropriate policies in place to prevent construction damage and needs to spend more energy on 
enforcement. 

Commission Items for Future Discussion. A motion is required to bring up the item for future 
discussion at the next reasonable agenda, no discussion on the topic will happen tonight. 

VIII. REMOVED FROM CONSENT AGENDA 



9  April 26, 2021 

 
IX. COMMUNICATIONS 

A. Short Term Rentals – Haig  
 
Mr. Haig asked the City to look into Ferndale, Michigan’s recently passed provisions regarding short-term 
rentals to see if they might provide a model for Birmingham’s ordinances. 
 
City Attorney Kucharek stated she would be presenting potential ordinance language to address short-term 
rentals at the Commission’s upcoming workshop on the topic. 
 
Commissioner Nickita stated that the Michigan Municipal League (MML) has also done work regarding 
short-term rentals in the past few years and that it would be worthwhile for Staff to see how the MML’s 
research might inform Birmingham’s policies. 
 

X. REPORTS 
A. Commissioner Reports 
B. Commissioner Comments 
C. Advisory Boards, Committees, Commissions’ Reports and Agendas 
D. Legislation 
E. City Staff 
 1. Manager’s Report 
 

CM Markus reviewed the item. He confirmed, in reply to Commissioner Hoff, that outdoor dining allowances 
for restaurants would be on an upcoming Commission agenda. 

 
 2. Indexing of Fees 
 3. Prior Communications with Restoration Hardware 
 

 
   
INFORMATION ONLY  
   

XI. ADJOURN 
 
Mayor Boutros adjourned the meeting at 10:25 p.m. 
 
 
 

 



MEMORANDUM 

Planning Department 

DATE:  November 29th, 2021 

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner 

APPROVED: Nick Dupuis, Planning Director 

SUBJECT: Public Hearing – To Amend Article 7, Section 7.41-7.46 – 
Processes, Permits, and Fees & Article 9, Section 9.02 Definitions 
of the Zoning Ordinance to Create a Wall Art Definition and 
Review Process 

INTRODUCTION: 
Conversations regarding wall art in Birmingham have occurred with the Public Arts Board, Design 
Review Board, and staff over the years. A number of mural inquiries from property owners and 
residents have been made, though Birmingham does not currently permit murals on the exterior 
of buildings. 

BACKGROUND: 
On August 19th, 2020, the Design Review Board conducted a study session related to murals and 
art on the exterior of buildings. The issue was brought up by staff when Griffin Claw Brewery 
requested to have an artist paint a mural on the side of their building. Issues related to the Sign 
Ordinance preventing murals from being painted on the side of a building were discussed, as well 
as issues regarding the lack of clarity in the Sign Ordinance and Zoning Ordinance for the 
application of wall art versus signage and building design features.  

The issue with signage refers to the Sign Ordinance section 1.03(D) Painted Signs which states, 
“No sign may be painted directly onto any building surface.”  By creating a definition and review 
process for wall art, there would be a policy and procedure in place to separate wall art from 
signage. 

In regards to supporting ordinance language, section 3.16(A)(3) of the Via Activation Overlay 
District lists “art display”  as a permitted use to encourage the activation of vias. Staff 
recommended a review process for art display to ensure quality control and public input. 

On August 24th, 2020, the Public Arts Board submitted a report on strategies to enhance 
Terminating Vistas to the City Commission with a number of recommendations, one being to 
allow murals and wall art in the City.  

In November of 2020, the Design Review Board (DRB) indicated they were amenable to a process 
where the Public Arts Board would review wall art applications and make a recommendation to 

6A



the DRB, which would conduct the final vote for approval. The DRB was also amenable to wall 
art on the rear of buildings facing an alley, or on the side and rear of buildings in the Rail District. 

The Planning Board then reviewed the proposed ordinance amendments in August, September, 
and October of 2021. The Planning Board clarified that if a new site plan application was proposed 
with wall art, the Planning Board would not be required to consider the wall art in the review 
process. The applicant would be required to go to the Public Arts Board and Design Review Board 
for approval of the wall art component. 

Staff discussed the possibility of wall art as a way to enhance blank, windowless walls in the 
Downtown Overlay and Triangle District that are built with a 0 foot side setback. The Planning 
Board was amendable to this proposal, and moved to recommend approval of the proposed 
Zoning Ordinance changes during a public hearing on October 27th, 2021. 

LEGAL REVIEW: 
The City Attorney has reviewed the amendment proposal and recommends including review 
requirements of Article 7, Section 7.41-7.44 in the definition for wall art. Recommended changes 
are highlighted in red within the proposed ordinance language. 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
There are no fiscal impacts for this agenda item. 

PUBLIC NOTIFICATION: 
The Public Arts Board and the Design Review Board have discussed this item in multiple public 
meetings. A legal ad was placed in a newspaper of local circulation to advertise the nature of the 
proposed amendment in advance of the October 27th, 2021 Planning Board meeting. Noticing will 
be provided in a newspaper of local circulation and posted online 15 days prior to the City 
Commission hearing as well. 

SUMMARY: 
The Planning Division requests that the City Commission consider amendments to the Zoning 
Ordinance to permit a review process for the installation of wall art in Birmingham. 

ATTACHMENTS:  
 Proposed ordinance language
 Wall art memo
 Terminating Vista Report
 Relevant meeting minutes

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting an ordinance to amend Article 7, Section 7.41-7.46 – Processes, Permits, 
and Fees & Article 9, Section 9.02 Definitions of the Zoning Ordinance to create a wall art definition 
and review process. 



 
 

ORDINANCE NO.________ 
 
THE CITY OF BIRMINGHAM ORDAINS:  
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND CHAPTER 126, ZONING, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE 
CITY OF BIRMINGHAM: 
 

TO AMEND ARTICLE 7, SECTION 7.41-7.46 – PROCESSES, PERMITS, AND FEES 
TO CREATE A REVIEW PROCESS FOR WALL ART 

 
 7.41 Zoning Ordinance Compliance Permit: Purpose 

It shall be unlawful to change the type of use of land, or to change the type of use or 
type of occupancy of any building, or to extend any use on any lot until the Building Official 
has issued for such intended use a Zoning Ordinance Compliance Permit or Certificate of 
Occupancy and use as provided for in Chapter 22 of the Birmingham City Code. 
 
7.42 Zoning Ordinance Compliance Permit: Application 

A. In all cases where a certificate of occupancy and use is not required, application 
for a Zoning Ordinance Compliance Permit shall be made, except for signs which 
are regulated by Chapter 86 of the Birmingham City Code. This application shall 
be made in writing to the Building Official on forms provided for that purpose. A 
record of all such applications shall be kept on file by the Building Official. 
 
B. The Building Official shall require every application for a Zoning Ordinance 
Compliance Permit shall be accompanied by a written statement and plans or plats 
showing the following in sufficient detail to enable the Building Official to ascertain 
whether the proposed work or use is in conformance with the Zoning Ordinance: 

1. The actual shape, location and dimensions of the lot. 
2. The existing and intended use of the lot and of all buildings or structures 
upon the lot. 
3. Such other information which may be essential for determining whether 
the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance are being observed. 
 

C. The Building Official may accept a preliminary application and a lesser number 
of submitted documents than those listed above in situations where a basic 
clarification is desired ahead of proceeding with further technical work. If such 
preliminary application is denied in writing by the Building Official, the applicant 
may appeal such action to the Board of Zoning Appeals. However, the Building 
Official shall not refuse to issue a permit when the conditions imposed are complied 
to by the applicant despite violations of contracts, such as covenants or private 
agreements, which may be obtained upon the granting of such permit. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

7.41 Wall Art Review: Purpose   
The purpose of this section is to enable creative artistic designs on the exterior 
of buildings, to activate space and create an inviting experience through the 
use of art, to allow for public input regarding wall art design, and to  ensure 
the location, size and design of wall art is aesthetically appropriate and 
compatible with the area of the proposed location.  
 
7.42 Wall Art Review: Application Requirements   

A. An application for wall art shall include the following; 
a. An application form from the Planning Department, indicating 

property owner’s name, mailing address, location of the 
property, name of the artist, artist contact information, and 
such other information as deemed necessary by the 
appropriate reviewing body. 

b. Two hard copies and one digital copy of the proposed design 
which includes, but is not limited to, a drawing, rendering or 
photo of the proposed artwork to be placed on the building, as 
well as the proposed dimensions of the art work. 

c. A photo of existing conditions of the wall where the artwork is 
proposed, along with the dimensions of the wall or walls.  

d. A timeframe for the art work to be exhibited and whether it is 
intended to be temporary or permanent. 

e. Specifications of materials that will be used for the art work. 
f. A resume of the artist(s) including names, location, and photos 

of previous work. 
 

7.43 Wall Art Review: Review 
All applications for wall art begin with review and recommendation by 
the Public Arts Boad. The application will then be reviewed by the Design 
Review Board for final consideration. Final approval of wall art is subject 
to the review requirements for the Design Review Board as stated in 
Section 7.09 Design Review: Review.  

 
7.44 Wall Art Review: Application Fee 

An application fee as established by the City Commission and set forth 
in Appendix A of the City Code shall be payable upon submitting an 
application for Wall Art Review pursuant to this division.        

 
7.45 Zoning Ordinance Compliance Permit: Purpose 

It shall be unlawful to change the type of use of land, or to change the type of use 
or type of occupancy of any building, or to extend any use on any lot until the 
Building Official has issued for such intended use a Zoning Ordinance Compliance 
Permit or Certificate of Occupancy and use as provided for in Chapter 22 of the 
Birmingham City Code. 

 
7.46 Zoning Ordinance Compliance Permit: Application 



A. In all cases where a certificate of occupancy and use is not required, application 
for a Zoning Ordinance Compliance Permit shall be made, except for signs which 
are regulated by Chapter 86 of the Birmingham City Code. This application shall 
be made in writing to the Building Official on forms provided for that purpose. A 
record of all such applications shall be kept on file by the Building Official. 

 
B. The Building Official shall require every application for a Zoning Ordinance 
Compliance Permit shall be accompanied by a written statement and plans or plats 
showing the following in sufficient detail to enable the Building Official to ascertain 
whether the proposed work or use is in conformance with the Zoning Ordinance: 

1. The actual shape, location and dimensions of the lot. 
2. The existing and intended use of the lot and of all buildings or structures 
upon the lot. 
3. Such other information which may be essential for determining whether 
the provisions of the Zoning Ordinance are being observed. 

 
C. The Building Official may accept a preliminary application and a lesser number 
of submitted documents than those listed above in situations where a basic 
clarification is desired ahead of proceeding with further technical work. If such 
preliminary application is denied in writing by the Building Official, the applicant 
may appeal such action to the Board of Zoning Appeals. However, the Building 
Official shall not refuse to issue a permit when the conditions imposed are complied 
to by the applicant despite violations of contracts, such as covenants or private 
agreements, which may be obtained upon the granting of such permit. 

  
 

 
 
 
 
ORDAINED this ______ day of _________, 2021 to become effective 7 days after publication. 
 
____________________________ 
Therese Longe, Mayor       
 
____________________________  
Alex Bingham, City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 





1 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

Planning Department 
 
DATE:   October 22nd, 2021 
 
TO:   Planning Board 
 
FROM:  Brooks Cowan, City Planner 
 
SUBJECT: Public Hearing: Wall Art  
 
 
Conversations regarding wall art in Birmingham with the Public Arts Board occurred throughout 
2019 and 2020. On August 24th, 2020, the Public Arts Board submitted a report on ways to 
enhance Terminating Vistas to the City Commission with a number of recommendations, one 
being to allow murals and wall art in the City.  
 
On August 19th, 2020, the Design Review Board conducted a study session related to murals and 
art on the exterior of buildings. The issue was brought up by staff when Griffin Claw Brewery 
requested to have an artist paint a mural on the side of their building. Issues related to the Sign 
Ordinance preventing murals from being painted on the side of a building were discussed, as well 
as issues regarding the lack of clarity in the Sign Ordinance and Zoning Ordinance for the 
application of wall art versus signage and building design features. Discussion regarding the 
location of wall art and how the board may consider limiting such art to certain locations occurred. 
There was also discussion related to defining art in the Ordinance in order to separate wall art 
from signage and architectural design features. 
 
The issue with signage not allowed to be painted onto buildings refers to the Sign Ordinance 
Section 1.03(D) Painted Signs which states, “No sign may be painted directly onto any building 
surface.”  By creating a definition and review process for wall art in the Ordinance, there would 
be a policy and procedure in place to separate wall art from signage. 
 
In regards to supporting ordinance language, Section 3.16(A)(3) of the Via Activation Overlay 
District lists “art display”  as a permitted use to encourage the activation of vias. Staff 
recommends a review process for art display to ensure quality control and public comment. 
  
Examples of wall art from local cities have been provided as follows: 

FE
R

N
D

A
LE

, M
I 

   



2 
 
 

 
More examples of wall art may be found in in the Terminating Vista Report attached to the 
memo. 
 
On November 4th, 2020, staff presented the Terminating Vista Report and wall art 
recommendations to the Design Review Board where staff recommended that the Design Board 
consider three items related to wall art for discussion: 
 

1.) Permitting murals to be painted on the exterior of buildings; 
2.) Permitting wall art to be applied to the exterior of buildings, including but not limited to: 

• Temporary Canvasses 
• Ceramic Tiling 
• Wall sculptures 

3.) Creating a review process for wall art that incorporates a review and recommendation 
from the Public Arts Board first. 

 
In regards to discussion item one, the Design Review Board was amenable to murals being 
painted directly onto buildings in areas such as alleys, however they expressed concern about 
this being applied to the front of a building. A member of the DRB was also involved in the Alleys 
and Passages Plan committee and noted that murals in alleys could be a positive addition to the 
plan.  
 
In regards to discussion item two, the Design Review Board was also amenable to temporary art, 
though they had issues related to how the city regulates content. It was discussed that trying to 
regulate specific content could create legal issues with freedom of speech.  
 

R
O

Y
A

L 
O

A
K

, M
I 

   

B
E

R
K

LE
Y

, M
I 

   



3 
 
 

In regards to discussion item three, the Design Review Board was also amenable to a wall art 
review process that involves an application for wall art, and is reviewed with a recommendation 
by the Public Arts Board before going to the Design Review Board for final review. 
 
On November 18th, 2020 the Public Arts Board discussed the following items brought up at the 
Design Review Board and recommended topics from staff: 
 

1. Allowing murals directly on buildings along the alley and passages as indicated in the 
Alleys and Passages Plan (see map below). The 2040 Draft Master Plan recommends the 
Rail District as a potential location for this as well. The Board may wish to discuss limiting 
this to certain areas. 
 

2. Creating a content review process for temporary wall art such as canvasses. For example, 
will the applicant be required to provide renderings beforehand, or can an artist be 
commissioned to paint what they wish after review of a portfolio? 
 

3. Creating a review process for wall art that involves comment and recommendation from 
the Public Arts Board before the DRB/ HDC makes the final approval or denial. 

 
There was general consensus from the Public Arts Board that the locations suggested by the DRB 
were reasonable. The Public Arts Board also felt that drawings, renderings, or photos of the 
proposal should be required before approval. The Arts Board was also amenable to a process 
involving making recommendations to the DRB/HDC prior to going through the final review 
process.  
 
On January 21st, 2021, the Public Arts Board reviewed ordinance language that defined wall art 
and created a review process for approval. In regards to wall art being limited to the Rail District 
and alleys within the Downtown Overlay and Triangle District, the Public Arts Board is currently 
content with the recommended areas. If the City likes the program and wanted to expand the 
boundaries in the future, the Public Arts Board mentioned that they would be amenable to doing 
so.   
 
Concerns about subject matter were discussed at both the Design Review Board and the Public 
Arts Board throughout the study session process. Given the broad concept of what is considered 
art, staff recommended to the Public Arts Board that the definition of wall art be kept broad. 
Attempting to regulate art with a specific list of what is and is not allowed to be considered art 
would be cumbersome to put into ordinance language. The Public Arts Board felt that the best 
way to distinguish between art and signage is to require renderings of the proposed artwork prior 
to approval and allow the content to be vetted by staff, the Public Arts Board, and the Design 
Review Board.  
 
On March 3rd, 2021, the Design Review Board considered the proposed wall art ordinance. The 
DRB had concerns about wall art in alleys that faced residential zones, particularly in the alley 
between Ann Street and S. Old Woodward. The DRB also wanted to verify boundaries of the Via 
Activiation Overlay. 
 
Upon review, Section 3.14 of the Zoning Ordinance specifies the boudary for the Via Activation 
Overlay District and outlines the areas in pink on the map which is attached. Verbage has been 
added to the wall art definition that prohibits wall art in an alley facing a single-family residential 
zone, and the Via Activation Overlay District has been specified as the boundary. 



4 
 
 

 
On April 7th, 2021, The Design Review Board verified the boundaries of the Via Activation Overlay 
District. The Board was amenable to the suggested Ordinance language allowing wall art to abut 
alleys in the Via Activation Overlay District, as well as the side and rear walls in the Rail District. 
The Board was also amenable to a review process that begins with a recommendation from the 
Public Arts Board and is then finalized by the Design Review Board. 
 
On August 11th, 2021, The Planning Board reviewed the proposed amendments and 
recommended minor changes such as using the word “abutting” instead of facing, to elaborate 
more on the purpose for wall art review, and to repace the word “content” with something else. 
Upon review of the word “elevation”, “facing”, and the definition of “abutting” in the Zoning 
Ordinance, the Planning Division recommends using the term “facing” to accommodate for any 
setback. Facing is term used throughout the Ordinance in various sections regarding the wall of 
a building and its orientation towards the street. 
 
On September 23rd, 2021, staff asked the Planning Board if they are amenable to permitting wall 
art on side or rear walls in the triangle district and/or downtown that do not abut an alley, via, or 
passage. In particular, side walls with 0 foot setback that do not have windows. Permanent or 
temporary art installations could be a way to activate the space until another building is 
constructed beside it. 
 
Commerical and residential uses in the Triangle District are not permitted to have windows on 
side elevations with a 0 foot setback that do not face a street, alley, or passage. Buildings in the 
Downtown Overlay also do not permit windows on 0 foot setback sidewalls for commercial uses, 
however it does permit residential uses to do so with fire rated glass. Windows on a 0 foot side 
setback are either banned or considered risky because of the potential for a neighboring property 
to construct a building with 0 foot side setback, block the window view, and create a fire hazard. 
This has resulted in large blank sidewalls on multi-story properties beside single-story or vacant 
properties. The Planning Board felt that permitting wall art on sidewalls with 0 foot setback in the 
Downtown Overlay and Triangle District could be a way to enhance the space on blank walls until 
a building is constructed alongside it. 
 
Suggested Action: 
To recommend Zoning Ordinance amendments to Aticle 7, Section 7.41-7.44 and Article 9, 
Section 9.02 to define wall art and require a review process involving the Public Arts Board for 
recomendation and Design Review Board for final approval. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



5 
 
 

 
(Section 3.14 Via Activation Overlay Map) 

 
 
 
 
 
 



6 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



1

August 24th, 2020

Terminating Vistas in Downtown Birmingham

A Report by the Birmingham Public Arts Board



2

Report Summary
On May 20th, 2019 The Birmingham Public Arts 
Board was asked by City Commission to evaluate 
ways to enhance Terminating Vistas in Birmingham’s 
downtown through the use of Public Art. 

The concept of Terminating Vistas having enhanced 
design features was first introduced to the City in 
the Downtown Birmingham 2016 Plan and the 
designated locations were approved as a part of the 
Downtown Overlay District in 1997.

Terminated Vistas are defined in the Zoning 
Ordinance as “a building or structure, or a portion 
thereof, as designated on the Regulating Plan, that 
terminates a view with architectural features of enhanced 
character and visibility” (Section 9.02 Definitions).

Section 3.04(E)(15) of the Downtown Overlay 
Standards states that “any building that terminates 
a view, as designated on the Regulating Plan, shall 
provide distinct and prominent architectural features 
of enhanced character and visibility, which reflect the 
importance of the building’s location and create a positive 
visual landmark.”

The Downtown Overlay Zoning Districts Map has 
designated 20 locations as Terminating Vistas. The 
Birmingham Public Arts Board used these locations 
as a guide to evaluate Terminating Vistas and make 
recommendations relative to ways in which public 
art may help enhance the City’s Terminating Vistas. 
Recommendations for prominent intersections that 
could benefit from enhanced design features were 
also made. 

The Public Arts Board evaluated various types 
of public art that could be placed in Terminating 
Vistas such as sculptures, furniture, artistic utilities, 
landscaping and murals. Current City policy 
affecting the review process and installation process 
was also considered and recommendations were 
made regarding City standard furniture, landscaping, 
utilities and signage policy.

Lastly, the Public Arts Board evaluated City policy 
impacting the installation process of public art and 
has provided policy recommendations to assist in the 
implementation of the public art recommendations. 

RECOMMENDATION SUMMARY
1.) Use public art such as sculptures, artistic furniture, 
artistic utilities, landscaping and wall art to enhance 
the City’s Terminating Vistas.

2.) Revise the sculpture installation process to 
incentivize sculptures on loan and to make the 
installation process more efficient for artists and City 
staff.

3.) Revise City policy towards City-standard benches, 
light poles, landscaping and utility boxes to permit an 
occasional artistic variation.

4.) Amend the sign ordinance and create a new design 
review policy to allow murals to be placed on the 
exterior of buildings.

5.) Create a public notification process for art in public 
spaces.



3

Terminating Vista Locations in Birmingham

1

2 3

4 5



4

Terminating Vista Locations in Birmingham

6

7 8

109



5

Terminating Vista Locations in Birmingham

11

12 13

14 15



6

Terminating Vista Locations in Birmingham

16

17 18

19 20



7

Prioritized Locations for Public Art

The Public Arts Board maintains a map of prioritized 
locations for public art. It is used as a reference 
whenever a sculpture for loan or donation is made 
to the City. Each point is numbered for reference, 
and the colors indicate areas with higher priority. The 
priorities are meant to serve as a guideline, though the 
Public Arts Board has indicated that each sculpture 
will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis so that it can 
be contextual with its surroundings.

The Public Arts Board reviewed the various 
Terminating Vistas and selected seven of the locations 
to add to their priority map for sculptures. These 
locations include N. Old Woodward and Hamilton 
Row, Chester & Willits, Bates & Willits, Maple 
& Henrietta, Park & Maple,  S. Old Woodward & 
Bowers, and S. Old Woodward & Woodward. The 
updated Prequalified Public Art Locations Map is 
pictured below where downtown Terminating Vistas 
were placed as a high priority.



8

Recommended Locations for Public Space Enhancements
Terminating Vista locations are defined by the 
Downtown Overlay zoning map, as specified in 
Section 3.04(E)(15) of the Zoning Ordinance. 
Upon evaluation, the Public Arts Board finds that 
there are other intersections throughout downtown 
Birmingham that merit enhanced architectural and 
streetscape design features to create a positive visual 
landmark for that intersection which are included 
in the orange locations in the adjacent map. If the 
City wishes to officially deem these locations as 
Terminating Vistas, the Zoning Ordinance would 
have to be reviewed by the Planning Board and 
amended by the City Commission.

21

22

24

23



9

Recommended Locations for Public Space Enhancements
25

26

27 28



10

Best Practices in Public Art for Terminating Vistas: Sculptures
Sculptures are one  way  in which public art can 
be used to enhance the architectural features of a 
Terminating Vista. Doing so may effectively draw 
more attention and bring more prominence to the 
surrounding buildings. Birmingham currently has 
fifteen sculptures throughout the City that have either 
been purchased, donated or placed on loan, though 
only one is currently in a designated Terminating 
Vista which is located at the corner of Pierce and 
Brown Street.

Public sculptures have the ability to compliment the 
surrounding buildings and invigorate public spaces. 
The various colors and shapes of sculptures provide 
the ability for art to interact with the surrounding 
building and public right-of-way, potentially 
enhancing the connection between the two. Unique 
public art may create a stronger sense of place and 
identity for the building and intersection where it is 
placed in a Terminating Vista. Such sculptures may 
capture the eye of a passer-by, bring more attention 
to the civic environment and contribute to a greater 
sense of civic vitality.

Forever Bicycles
Ai WeiWei, Austin, TX, 2018

I See What You Mean
Lawrence Argent, Denver, 2005

Flamingo
Alexander Calder, Chicago, IL, 1974

Tembo, Mother of Elephants
Derrick Hudson,Toronto, ON, 2002



11

Best Practices in Public Art for Terminating Vistas: Artistic Furniture

Artistic furniture is another way public art can be 
used to enhance the character of a Terminating Vista. 
Doing so may accent the surrounding buildings 
while providing a unique public space for socializing 
or respite. 

The City of Birmingham is a walkable city with 
pedestrian oriented design throughout its downtown 
and neighborhoods. Unique public furniture may 
invite a variety of uses that activate a Terminating 
Vista and promote social interaction. The shape and 
color of artistic furniture may also have an aesthetic 
contribution to the right-of-way and surrounding 
buildings. An artistic bench can be more inviting 
for a pedestrian to relax and enjoy a section of the 
City they may have otherwise walked past, and may 
provide an enhanced civic experience for leisure 
and appreciation of the surrounding cityscape. 
Artistic furniture can provide the opportunity to 
activate Terminating Vistas with people-oriented 
architectural streetscape design.

Circular Bench
Lucile Soufflet, Bruxelles,  France 2003

Custom Curve Seats
University of Syndney, Australia

Bench of Expectations
Jeppe Hein, Springfield , MA 2018

The Wave
dSPACE Studio, Chicago, IL,  2014

Swirling Bench



12

Best Practices in Public Art for Terminating Vistas: Artistic Utilities
Artistic utilities may also enhance a space and bring 
more prominence to the surrounding buildings. 
Many cities, including Birmingham, Michigan have 
painted electrical boxes with an interesting design 
to add more character to a utility box placed in the 
right-of-way. Cities such as Milwaukee, Wisconsin 
have commissioned artists to paint numerous utility 
boxes throughout their downtown with a theme to 
be determined by the artist. There are other examples 
of cities having sculptors create artistic coverings for 
electrical boxes that are equipped with hinges and 
gates for access to interior controls. These coverings 
provide opportunities for other types of art to be 
placed on and around them to compliment the 
surrounding space and improve the aesthetics of 
public utilities.

Artistic lighting could also be used to enhance the 
pedestrian experience and illuminate architectural 
features in a Terminating Vista. Cities such as 
Portland, Oregon and Seattle, Washington have 
explored various solar powered lights and sculptures 
with an artistic design and ambient glow to create 
unique public spaces. A well placed artistic light 
can enhance the character of the area and create 
an interesting talking point while highlighting the 
surrounding buildings.

Solar Lights
Brian Borello, Portland, OR

Fashion and Design
Santiago Calatrava, Milwaukee, WI

San Francisco State Univeristy Lakeside

Nebulous
Dan Corson, Seattle, WA



13

Best Practices in Public Art for Terminating Vistas: Wall Art
Outdoor wall art such as murals, mosaics, and 
ceramic tiling are another example of public art that 
can enhance a public space and the surrounding 
architectural features.  

Wall art can be temporary or permanent. For local 
examples, The Park Shelton mural in Detroit, MI 
has been up since 1978, meanwhile Detroit’s Eastern 
Market cycles through numerous murals every year.

Temporary murals can be done on materials such as 
plywood or canvas and be applied to the exterior of 
a building for a length of time and then be removed, 
thus maintaining the original design and color and 
the building. Mosaics and ceramic tiles can also be 
used  to provide an interesting texture to the artistic 
experience. 

The various forms of wall art can be especially 
effective in activating Terminating Vista spaces that 
have large sections of blank walls.

Aretha
Desiree Kelly, Detroit, MI 

Park Shelton
John Egner, Detroit, MI, 1974

Tiger
Arlin Graff, Detroit, MI



14

Integrating artistic landscaping with art and 
design can be another way to enhance Terminating 
Vistas. Birmingham has a number of green spaces 
and planters surrounding buildings at prominent 
intersections. An example is at Park and Maple 
where a community garden welcomes people into the 
downtown. This garden blends well with the Pazzi 
Building immediate behind it, and provided a natural 
landscaping to screen the electrical box located within 
it. Landscaping could be an effective medium to 
connect buildings, utilities, furniture and sculptures 
together into one cohesive artistic experience. 

As another example, the City of Seattle allows 
property owners and tenants to garden in the 
planting strip in front of their property as long as a 
proper street use permit is obtained. Once obtained, 
the plantings may include low growing perennials, 
ornamental grasses, shrubs, herbs, or edible plants. 
Doing so could encourage more interesting variety 
in landscape design and create a unique space at 
prevalent intersections. 

Best Practices in Public Art for Terminating Vistas: Landscaping

Gramercy Park Co-Op
New York City, NY

Personalized Planting Strip
Seattle, WA

18th and F Streets, N.W,
Washington D.C.

Pazzi Community Garden
Park & Maple, Birmingham, MI



15

City Policy Related to Public Art in Terminating Vistas
SCULPTURES
Birmingham currently has sculptures on display 
that were either donated to the City, purchased by 
the City, or placed on loan to the City for a certain 
period of time. If the sculpture is donated and 
placed on public property, the City is responsible for 
installation and maintenance of the sculpture. If a 
sculpture is on loan, the loan agreement specifies that 
the artist is responsible for installation, maintenance 
and removal.

An issue with the current policy for sculpture 
installation is that each piece is unique and may 
require special care for installation. This includes but 
is not limited to how the sculpture is transported 
to the installation site, how to safely secure the 
sculpture to the location, how to create the necessary 
base and fabricate proper mounts. City staff may not 
have adequate experience to handle the installation 
process of various unique sculpture shapes and 
sizes. Requiring the artist to be responsible for all 
installation and removal processes may also create 
issues related to the artist operating machinery on 
City property.

ARTISTIC FURNITURE
Downtown Birmingham has City-standard green 
metal benches installed along the sidewalks as well 
as granite benches that were a part of the downtown 
Old Woodward and Maple Reconstruction projects. 
This classic design for public furniture fits in with the 
surrounding streetscape and does not detract from 
the architectural style of downtown Birmingham.  

The Public Arts Board recommends that 
Birmingham consider allowing more creative and 
artistic furniture that will contribute a positive 
design aesthetic to the character of the area. Doing 
so could enhance the pedestrian space in Terminating 
Vistas and be used to activate the public space and 
compliment the surrounding architecture. The City’s 
current approach to streetscape furniture with City-
standard benches should remain relatively consistent, 
but the Public Arts Board recommends that an 
occasional deviation from City-standard furniture in 
Terminating Vistas could create a unique pedestrian 
experience and enhance the character of the area.

Local art museums such as the Detroit Institute of 
Arts and Cranbrook Museum have employees who 
specialize in the installation of sculptures. The Public 
Arts Board recommends that the City of Birmingham 
consult with such specialists for installing sculptures 
that have been either donated or loaned to the City. 
Doing so would enable a more efficient installation 
process in areas such as Terminating Vistas.



16

City Policy Related to Public Art in Terminating Vistas

PUBLIC UTILITIES
Birmingham’s streetscape contains electrical utility 
boxes and a number of light-poles in the right-of-
way in Terminating Vistas. The City-standard light 
poles and electrical boxes are all painted Birmingham 
green, with the exception being the recent popcorn 
box art project at the intersection of Merrill and Old 
Woodward.

The Public Arts Board has considered a number 
of different ways to paint and decorate electrical 
boxes throughout downtown. Various themes were 
discussed, as well as whether or not the design should 
be contextual with the surrounding. It was determined 
that each box should be considered on a case-by-case 
basis and should not be directly tied to any theme or 
be required to be related to the surrounding use. The 
Public Arts Board recommends the City be open to 
all types of artistic designs for electrical boxes. 

Sculptural enclosures for such utility boxes have also 
been considered by the Public Arts Board. The Public 
Arts Board recommends that these be considered 
on a case-by-case situation as well, and not be tied 
to any theme or surrounding context. Given the 
intended function of electrical boxes, any sculpture 
placed on or around the electrical box should provide 
easy access to the interior controls and should only be 
mounted on the ground. The Public Arts Board does 
not recommend drilling holes or attaching public art 
directly to the electrical boxes in order to maintain 
the integrity of the box. 

The Public Arts Board also recommends that the 
City consider allowing unique designs in lighting 
that are in Terminating Vistas. Lighting can be  
used for either function or form to create a unique 
aesthetic from the shape of the lantern and the 
ambient glow of the light. An occasional artistic 
light pole to replace a city standard lamp in front of 
a Terminating Vista could enhance the interaction 
between the streetscape and surrounding buildings. 
City standard lights should remain relatively 
consistent, but the Public Arts Board recommends 
an occasional deviation in this pattern to allow for 
unique designs.



17

City Policy Related to Public Art in Terminating Vistas

WALL ART
Artistic paintings such as murals on the front, side 
or rear of buildings are not currently permitted 
in Birmingham. Such paintings are considered a 
sign and section 1.03(D) of the Sign Ordinance 
states that “No sign may be painted directly onto any 
building or surface.”

The Public Arts Board recommends that the City 
re-evaluate its policy towards wall art and create a 
design review process for such art work. There are 
several Terminating Vistas with large blank walls 
that the Public Arts Board believes would be ideal 
for murals, but current policy restricts the building 
owner from pursuing such design enhancements. 

The 2020 Birmingham Plan Draft recommends 
implementing a mural policy in the Lower Rail 
District to extend and improve upon the area’s 
current character, though the Public Arts Board 
recommends that such a policy be implemented 
throughout the entire City. A temporary mural 
program is also recommended where the painting 
could be placed on some type of material which is 
then attached to the building.

Murals could be another form of public art 
used to enhance Terminating Vistas throughout 
downtown. There are some Terminating Vistas 
that are more suitable than others and the Public 
Arts Board recommends that the review process 
engage the public for input so there is support on 
a community level. 

In order to permit murals and various types of 
wall art, the Public Arts Board recommends that 
the City amend the Zoning Ordinance and Sign 
Ordinance to allow wall art and to define a proper 
review process by the necessary boards. This would 
also include creating a public notification process 
for public art in the municipal code. 



18

City Policy Related to Public Art in Terminating Vistas

LANDSCAPING
The City of  Birmingham is an excellent example for 
maintaining high quality landscaping throughout 
its streetscape in downtown. Well-maintained 
flower pots can be found hanging from the lamp 
posts while an array of plants can be found within 
the gardens along the sidewalks. The landscaping 
blends well with the surroundings and provides a 
complimentary aesthetic to the area.

For instances when a public utility is placed 
within a planter box in a prominent intersection, 
the Public Arts Board recommends that special 
consideration for landscaping is made to help 
screen the utilities from view, especially in cases 
where no artistic design has been applied to the 
utility. 

When a piece of art is placed within a planter box, 
the Public Arts Board recommends that special 
consideration also be made regarding the size 
and types of plantings surrounding the artwork in 
order to allow the aesthetics of the art, landscaping 
and surrounding buildings to work together in a 
complimentary manner.

The Public Arts Board also recommends the City 
consider allowing adjacent businesses in downtown 
design their own planter garden in front of their 
store. Proper permitting and design process would 
have to be created and implemented. Doing 
so could allow some unique designs regarding 
landscaping and how the plantings interact with 
the surroundings.

PUBLIC NOTIFICATION
At the moment, there are no formal requirements 
for public notification regarding proposals for 
sculptures, artistic furniture and artistic utilities. 
The item is posted on the Public Arts Board 
Agenda and City Commission Agenda, but 
notifications are not required to be sent to 
surrounding businesses and residents for public 
art projects. In order to promote public input at 
the Public Arts Board and City Commission, the 
Public Arts Board recommends establishing a 
public notification policy for public art projects 
on City property.   



19

Recommendation and Implementation Priorities
Recommendation 1: Use public art such as sculptures, 
artistic furniture, artistic utilities, landscaping and 
wall art to enhance the City’s Terminating Vistas

Implementation: Actively seek artists to provide 
various forms of artwork. Advertise in the art 
community for the type of art the City is seeking.

Recommendation 2: Revise the sculpture installation 
process to incentivize sculptures on loan and to make 
the installation process more efficient for artists and 
City staff.

Implementation: Establish an agreement with a 
professional sculpture installation specialist to consult 
and assist with sculpture installations in Birmingham. 
Amend the City’s art on loan agreement to require 
approval of sculpture installation from installation 
consultant.

Recommendation 3: Revise City policy towards 
city-standard furniture and utilities to allow for an 
occasional artistic variation.

Implementation: Amend the Zoning Ordinance 
to allow an occasional deviation from city-standard 
benches and light poles where such items may be 
replaced by an artistically designed light or bench.

Recommendation 4: Create a new policy and review 
process to allow murals and other various forms of 
wall art to be placed on the exterior of a building.

Implementation: Amend Zoning Ordinance and 
Sign Ordinance to allow for placement of temporary 
and permanent  murals and other various forms of 
wall art. The amendment should include review 
process by all relevant boards.

Recommendation 5: Establish a public notification 
policy for art projects on public property.

Implementation: Create a provision in the Public 
Art Section of the Municipal Code to require public 
notifications to be sent to residents for public art 
projects proposed within their area.



Priority Recommendation Background Implementation Costs  Approval Process 

1 Use public art such as 
sculptures, artistic furniture, 
artistic utilities, landscaping and 
wall art to enhance the City’s 
Terminating Vistas.  

Public Arts Board is 
responsible for recruiting 
and recommending 
public art in various 
locations throughout the 
City. 

 Public Arts Board creates call for entry to 
recruit art donations and loans. This 
includes a request for an artist stipend fund 
to assist with installation before sending 
out. 

 Public Arts Board reviews art pieces 
submitted and selects artwork for 
recommendation. 

$2,000 per piece if 
approved, no more 
than $10,000 total 
per year. 

1. Public Arts
Board

2. Parks and
Recreation
Board (if on
greenspace)

3. City Commission

2 Revise the sculpture installation 
process to incentivize 
sculptures on loan and to make 
the installation process more 
efficient for artists and City 
staff.  

Issues have arisen 
regarding responsibility 
for installation and 
removal. 

City Employees may not 
have expertise to install 
unique pieces of art. 

Sculpture installation 
requirements have 
varied over the years, 
particularly related to 
concrete pads.  

1. Public Arts Board recommends revisions to
art on loan agreement to allow City to assist
with installation and removal to ensure
quality control and manage liability.

2. Public Arts Board creates RFQ for  sculpture
installation specialist to assist with mount
fabrication and consult on installation
process if necessary.

3. Public Arts Board coordinates with
Engineering Department’s annual sidewalk
program to install concrete base pads.

Up to $5,000 for art 
installation 
specialist per year. 

Costs associated 
with concrete base 
pad installation
(Much more cost 
efficient to 
incorporate with 
Engineering 
sidewalk program). 

1. Public Arts
Board

2. City Commission

 Input from 
Engineering and 
DPS strongly 
recommended 

3 Revise City policy towards city-
standard furniture and utilities 
to allow for an occasional 
artistic variation in Terminating 
Vistas. 

City-standard benches 
and lightpoles are 
required in the 
downtown.  

1. Planning Board reviews Terminating Vista
report to consider additional Terminating
Vista locations as well as possible ordinance
changes to permit artistic furniture and
utilities.

No Cost 

(In house) 

1. Planning Board

2. City Commission

4 Create a new policy and review 
process to allow murals and 
other various forms of wall art. 

The Sign Ordinance 
currently prevents wall 
art. 

1. Design Review Board considers definition
for wall art in Sign Ordinance and Zoning
Ordinance to help clarify difference between
art and commercial signage.

2. Design Review Board considers review
process for wall art that possibly includes
Public Arts Board.

No Cost 

(In house) 

1. Design Review
Board

2. Public Arts
Board

3. City Commission

5 Establish a public notification 
policy for art projects on public 
property. 

There is no formal public 
notification process for 
art proposals on public 
property. 

1. Public Arts Board reviews public notification
options for public art and makes
recommendations for notifications process.

No Cost 

(In house) 

1. Public Arts
Board

2. City Commission

Terminating Vista Recommendation and Implementation Framework 

20



City Commission

Public Arts Board

Planning Board

Design Review Board

Parks and Recreation Board

Terminating Vista Recommendation and Implementation Framework Suggested Timeline Goals 

1 Recruit public art

2 Revise installation process

3 Allow artistic City furniture and utilities

4 Permit wall art such as murals

5 Establish public notification policy for artwork proposals

Recommendation Priorities

Priority Implementation Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21 Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21

1 - Create Call for Entry to recruit new artwork Parks and Rec City Commission

2 - Application for artwork review and recommendation Public Arts Board Parks and Rec City Commission

1 - Consider revisions to Art on Loan Agreement City Commission

2 - RFQ for sculpture installation specialist City Commission

3 - Coordinate basepads with Engineering's Sidewalk Program Public Arts Board

3 1 - Planning Board review Terminating Vista report
TBD - Joint 

Meeting

1 - Design Review Board consider permitting wall art Public Arts Board City Commission

2 - Design Review Board consider wall art review process Public Arts Board City Commission

5 1 - Establish Public Notification Process for Public Art City Commission

Design Review Board

Design Review Board

Public Arts Board

Public Arts Board

Public Arts Board

Public Arts Board

1

2

4

21



DESIGN REVIEW BOARD 
MINUTES OF AUGUST 19, 2020 

Held Remotely Via Zoom And Telephone Access 
    
Minutes of the regular meeting of the Design Review Board (“DRB”) held Wednesday, August 19, 
2020. Chairman John Henke called the meeting to order at 7:39 p.m.  
 
1)  ROLLCALL 
 
Present: Chairman John Henke; Vice-Chairman Keith Deyer; Board Members Gigi 

Debbrecht, Natalia Dukas, Joseph Mercurio, Michael Willoughby 
   
Absent: Board Member Patricia Lang; Alternate Board Member Alexander Jerome 
 
Administration: Nicholas Dupuis, City Planner 
  Laura Eichenhorn, Transcriptionist 
 
Chairman Henke thanked everyone for joining the virtual meeting and reviewed protocol for 
virtual meetings. 

 
 

6)  Study Session 
 

A. Murals & Art (Private) 
 

City Planner Dupuis reviewed the item. 
 
Mr. Deyer said he would want to create parameters regarding permissible locations, sizes, 
verbiage, types of paint, primers, and ongoing maintenance responsibilities.  
 
Chairman Henke said the Public Works Board has already defined some of those parameters. He 
also cautioned the DRB against trying to legislate what can be defined as ‘art’. He said the DRB 
could subjectively determine which proposals are appropriate. Chairman Henke ventured that it 
would be preferred by the City Commission if the DRB incorporates fewer details into the 
ordinance itself.  
 
Ms. Dukas said she would not be in favor of the proposal as it stood. 
 
Mr. Deyer said he would not be in favor of the proposal without relatively detailed guidelines. 
 
Mr. Willoughby said he was in favor of the proposal with some guidelines provided. He concurred 
with Chairman Henke that the DRB should not attempt to legislate the definition of ‘art’.  

 
 
 
 
 

 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



 
DESIGN REVIEW BOARD 

MINUTES OF NOVEMBER 4, 2020 

Held Remotely Via Zoom And Telephone Access 

    

Minutes of the regular meeting of the Design Review Board (“DRB”) held Wednesday, November 

4, 2020. Chairman John Henke called the meeting to order at 7:09 p.m.  

1)  ROLLCALL 

Present: Chairman John Henke; Vice-Chairman Keith Deyer; Board Members Gigi 

Debbrecht, Natalia Dukas, Michael Willoughby   

Absent: Board Member Patricia Lang 

Administration: Nicholas Dupuis, City Planner 

  Brooks Cowan, City Planner 

  Laura Eichenhorn, City Transcriptionist 

 
 

11-91-20 
 
6)  Study Session 
 

A. Wall Art  
 

Chairman Henke resumed facilitation of the meeting. 
 
CP Cowan reviewed the item. 
 
Both Chairman Henke and Mr. Deyer expressed a preference for temporary installations of wall 
art over permanent ones.  
 
Mr. Deyer said a review process for public art in the City should at least include criteria regarding 
permissible size, political messages, commercial messages, and permitted number of murals in a 
given location.  
 
Chairman Henke said that murals considered in a historic area should be reviewed by the HDC. 
 
There was consensus on the part of the DRB that they would be amenable to being part of the 
review process for public art installations in the City.  
 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



Mr. Willoughby said the primary function of the DRB in such a review process should be to 
evaluate how wall art would affect the building on which it would be installed and how it would 
affect the environmental context around said building. He said that while he thought the DRB 
could opine on the content of the wall art, he did not imagine that would be their primary charge. 
Mr. Willoughby added he would likely be against art on the fronts of buildings, and amenable to 
wall art installed in alleyways. 
 
CP Cowan said the Public Arts Board may want to pursue installing art on the front of the bridge 
of the 555 Building, but agreed that the installation of wall art on the fronts of buildings would 
likely be limited. 
 
Mr. Willoughby said he would like to see a map of alleyways that could offer opportunities for 
wall art installations. 
 
There was DRB consensus that the rear and side walls of historic buildings in alleyways could be 
places to install public art. There was also consensus among the DRB, CP Dupuis, and CP Cowan 
that the process would need to tread very carefully in regards to proposed installations on historic 
buildings. It was agreed that no wall art should be proposed for historic facades. 

 
The Board members thanked CP Cowan and said they looked forward to further discussions on 
the topic. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



Public Arts Board Minutes  
 

Public Meeting on Zoom – November 18th, 2020 

 
A. Roll Call: 

 
Members Present:  Barbara Heller, Monica Neville, Annie VanGelderen, Jason 

Eddleston, Linda Wells, Anne Ritchie  
 

Members Absent:  Natalie Bishae 
 

Administration:   Brooks Cowan, City Planner  
 
Members of the Public:  Vahe Tazian, Charlie Neff 

 

D. New Business 

A third study session item related to wall art was discussed. Staff presented thoughts and 
concerns related to wall art that were discussed by the Design Review Board. The DRB had 
indicated an interest in murals directly on buildings along the Alleys and Passages Plan. The 
Draft Master Plan suggests murals in the Rail District, therefore staff suggested the first 
proposal contain language that limits murals to certain areas of the City which could possibly 
be expanded in the future. The Board was receptive to this idea. 
 
Staff also presented an idea that the DRB discussed and was open to, which is having a wall 
art application and review process that is first reviewed and recommended by the Public Arts 
Board and then finalized by the Design Review Board. The Board was amenable to this idea 
and would review a suggested application process at the next meeting.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



Public Arts Board Minutes  
 

Public Meeting on Zoom – January 21st, 2021 

 
B. Roll Call: 

 
Members Present:  Barbara Heller, Monica Neville, Annie VanGelderen, Jason 

Eddleston, Linda Wells, Anne Ritchie, Natalie Bishae, Peggy 
Daitch 

 
Members Absent:   

 
Administration:   Brooks Cowan, City Planner  

 

C. Unfinished Business 

The first item of unfinished business was the discussion for proposed ordinance updates to 
allow wall art and require a wall art review process. The Board agreed that having the 
application requirements include renderings and size was appropriate, and that making 
recommendations to the Design Review Board for them to finalize the application was an 
acceptable process. The Board was read approval requirements for any items that go to the 
DRB and the Public Arts Board felt those were acceptable standards of final approval. 
 
Motion to approve suggested ordinance updates to allow wall art and a wall art review process 
was made by Monica Neville, seconded by Annie VanGelderen. 
 
Yeas: 7  Nays: 0 
 
The motion carried. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



Design Review Board 
Minutes Of March 3, 2021 

Held Remotely Via Zoom And Telephone Access 
    
Minutes of the regular meeting of the Design Review Board (“DRB”) held Wednesday, March 3, 
2021. Chair John Henke called the meeting to order at 7:48 p.m.  
 
1)  ROLLCALL 
 
Present: Chair John Henke; Board Members Keith Deyer, Natalia Dukas, Gigi Debbrecht, 

Dustin Kolo, Patricia Lang, Michael Willoughby; Alternate Board Member Samantha 
Cappello; Student Representatives Charles Cusimano, Elizabeth Wiegand (all 
located in Birmingham, MI except Dustin Kolo, who was in Gaylord, MI.) 

   
Absent: Alternate Board Member Kathleen Kriel  
 
Administration: Nicholas Dupuis, City Planner 
  Laura Eichenhorn, City Transcriptionist 
  Brooks Cowan, City Planner 
 

03-026-21 
 
6)  Study Session 
 
A. Wall Art 
 
CP Cowan reviewed the item. 
 
The Board recommended the allowable locations for public art be limited to the activation areas 
of the overlays. They also recommended there be some consideration of limiting residential-facing 
public art where it directly abuts residential buildings. They were fine with allowing public art in 
the other non-overlay locations recommended by the Public Arts Board. 
 
Mr. Willoughby and Chair Henke were in favor of leaving the ordinance language as unrestricted 
as possible since all public art projects would go through review by two Boards. 
 
CP Cowan advised the Board that if a person or group installed or put up a public art piece 
contrary to the ordinance, the City could require them take it down. He advised the DRB that the 
Public Arts Board recommended to the City Commission a public arts notification process be 
created in order to encourage public review and involvement. 
 
The DRB requested the item be brought back once more for their review once updated. 
 

 

 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



Design Review Board 
Minutes Of April 7, 2021 

Held Remotely Via Zoom And Telephone Access 
    
Minutes of the regular meeting of the Design Review Board (“DRB”) held Wednesday, April 7, 
2021. Vice-Chair Keith Deyer called the meeting to order at 7:45 p.m.  
 
1)  ROLLCALL 
 
Present: Vice-Chair Keith Deyer; Board Members Gigi Debbrecht, Natalia Dukas, Dustin 

Kolo, Michael Willoughby; Alternate Board Members Samantha Cappello, Kathleen 
Kriel; Student Representatives Charles Cusimano, Elizabeth Wiegand (all located 
in Birmingham, MI except Dustin Kolo, who was in Waterford, MI, Keith Deyer who 
was in Harbor Springs, MI, and Elizabeth Wiegand who was en route to Grosse 
Pointe, MI.) 

   
Absent: Chair John Henke; Board Member Patricia Lang 
 
Administration: Nicholas Dupuis, City Planner 
  Brooks Cowan, City Planner 
  Laura Eichenhorn, City Transcriptionist 
 

04-040-21 
 
6)  Study Session 
 

A. Wall Art 
 

CP Cowan reviewed the item. 
 
Mr. Willoughby commended CP Cowan for his work on the item. 
 
Motion by Mr. Willoughby 
Seconded by Ms. Debbrecht to recommend Zoning Ordinance amendments to Article 
7, Section 7.41-7.44 and Article 9, Section 9.02 to define wall art and require a review 
process involving the Public Arts Board for recommendation and Design Review Board 
for final approval. 
 
Motion carried, 7-0. 
 
ROLL CALL VOTE  
Yeas:  Willoughby, Debbrecht, Kolo, Kriel, Cappello, Deyer, Dukas 
Nays:  None 
 

 

 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



City Of Birmingham 
Regular Meeting Of The Planning Board 

Wednesday, August 11, 2021 
City Commission Room 

151 Martin Street, Birmingham, Michigan 
 
Minutes of the regular meeting of the City of Birmingham Planning Board held on August 11, 
2021. Chair Clein convened the meeting at 7:33 p.m. 
 
A. Roll Call 
 
Present: Chair Scott Clein; Board Members Robin Boyle, Stuart Jeffares, Bert Koseck,  

Daniel Share, Janelle Whipple-Boyce, Bryan Williams; Alternate Board Members 
Jason Emerine, Nasseem Ramin; Student Representative Daniel Murphy 

     
Absent: Student Representative Jane Wineman 
  
Administration: Jana Ecker, Assistant City Manager (“ACM”) 
   Brooks Cowan, City Planner (“CP”) 

 Laura Eichenhorn, City Transcriptionist 
 

2. Wall Art  

CP Cowan presented the item. 

It was clarified that: 

● Maintenance issues with wall art would be a code issue; 
● ‘Content’ is not something that can be regulated, but ‘non-commercial’, ‘aesthetically 

appropriate’ or ‘compatible with the area’ could work; 
● It would be useful to have a brief statement in Article 7, Section 7.41 about the benefit 

and value of wall art; 
● The intent of the word ‘facing’ should be made more clear in the proposed amendment to 

Article 9  - Definitions To Define Wall Art And Determine Permitted Locations For Wall Art;  
● Wall art approval would be a standalone process and not subject to site plan approval, 

though site plan approval would be granted at the Planning Board contingent on the wall 
art’s approval by the appropriate boards; and, 

● This ordinance amendment does not intend to allow a new building to create a blank wall 
in excess of 20 feet with the intent of installing wall art; it intends to allow already-existing 
blank walls that qualify according to the ordinance amendments to consider installing wall 
art. 
 

Mr. Share noted that often wall art in other cities is not painted directly on buildings, but on 

canvas-type features.  

Staff said they would make the recommended revisions and return with the item. 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



City Of Birmingham 
Regular Meeting Of The Planning Board 

Wednesday, September 23, 2021 
City Commission Room 

151 Martin Street, Birmingham, Michigan 

Minutes of the regular meeting of the City of Birmingham Planning Board held on September 23, 
2021. Vice-Chair Williams convened the meeting at 7:30 p.m.  

A. Roll Call

Present: Vice-Chair Bryan Williams; Board Members Robin Boyle Stuart Jeffares, Daniel 
Share, Janelle Whipple-Boyce; Alternate Board Member Jason Emerine 

Absent: Chair Scott Clein; Board Member Bert Koseck; Alternate Board Member Nasseem 
Ramin; Student Representatives Daniel Murphy, Jane Wineman 

Administration: Jana Ecker, Assistant City Manager (“ACM”) 
Nick Dupuis, Planning Director  (“PD”) 
Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner (“SP”) 
Laura Eichenhorn, City Transcriptionist 

F&V: Julie Kroll 

Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings 
September 23, 2021 

SP Cowan presented the item. 

Ms. Whipple-Boyce and ACM Ecker recommended that ‘of the proposed location’ be struck from 
the last line of 7.41 Wall Art Review: Purpose.  

SP Cowan and ACM Ecker confirmed for Mr. Share that wall art would not be permitted on rear 
walls facing single family residential areas.  

SP Cowan reviewed the different proposed review processes for a development with wall art, just 
wall art with a proposed location, and just wall art without a proposed location.  

Motion by Mr. Share 
Seconded by Ms. Whipple-Boyce to set a public hearing to consider amendments to 
Article 7, Section 7.41 to 7.46 and companion sections of Article 9 of the Zoning 
Ordinance on October 27, 2021. 

Motion carried, 6-0. 

VOICE VOTE 
Yeas: Share, Whipple-Boyce, Emerine, Williams, Jeffares, Boyle 
Nays: None 

09-147-21

I.  Study sessions

1. Wall Art

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



 

 

City of Birmingham 
Regular Meeting of the Planning Board 

Wednesday, October 27, 2021 
City Commission Room 

151 Martin Street, Birmingham, Michigan 
 
Minutes of the regular meeting of the City of Birmingham Planning Board held on October 27, 
2021. Chair Clein convened the meeting at 7:30 p.m.  
 
A. Roll Call 
 
Present: Chair Scott Clein; Board Members Robin Boyle, Stuart Jeffares, Bert Koseck,  

Daniel Share, Janelle Whipple-Boyce, Bryan Williams; Alternate Board Members 
Jason Emerine, Nasseem Ramin; Student Representative Jane Wineman 

     
Absent: Student Representative Daniel Murphy  
  
Administration:  

Nick Dupuis, Planning Director 
Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner 

  Laura Eichenhorn, City Transcriptionist 
  Paul Wells, Fire Chief 
 
 

10-171-21 
 

J. Study Session 
 

1. Wall Art 
 
SP Cowan presented the item. 
 
PD Dupuis confirmed for Chair Clein that small edits could be made without needing to hold an 
additional public hearing. 
 
Under ‘TO AMEND ARTICLE 9 – DEFINITIONS TO DEFINE WALL ART AND DETERMINE 
PERMITTED LOCATIONS FOR WALL ART’, Mr. Share recommended that ‘Wall art is not permitted 
in an alley’ be changed to ‘Wall art is not permitted facing an alley’. 
 
From the same section, Messrs. Boyle and Share recommended that the last line be changed from  
‘an alley, passage or via that abuts’ to ‘an alley, passage, or via, any of which abuts’. 
 
Motion by Mr. Share 
Seconded by Mr. Williams to recommend Zoning Ordinance amendments to Article 7, 
Section 7.41-7.44 and Article 9, Section 9.02, as contained on pages 71 through 74 of 
the Planning Board’s October 27, 2021 agenda packet and as revised during the 
present meeting, to define wall art and require a review process involving the Public 
Arts Board for recommendation and Design Review Board for final approval. 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
October 27, 2021 

 

1 

 

 
Motion carried, 7-0. 
 
VOICE VOTE 
Yeas: Share, Williams, Jeffares, Whipple-Boyce, Boyle, Clein, Koseck  
Nays: None  
 
 
 



MEMORANDUM 

Planning Department 

DATE:  

TO: 

FROM: 

APPROVED: 

SUBJECT: 

November 29th, 2021

Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner 

Nick Dupuis, Planning Director 

Public Hearing – 203 Pierce Street  - Toast – Special Land Use 
Permit Amendment, Final Site Plan and Design Review 

INTRODUCTION: 
Toast has operated as a bistro at 203 Pierce Street since 2008. A condition of Toast’s original 
approval is that it be open for dinner hours in order to bring activity to the area and provide 
dining opportunities during evening hours. Toast’s menu specializes in breakfast and lunch 
offerings and the applicant has cited difficulties in attracting patrons for dinner hours, therefore 
the applicant is requesting to amend their hours of operation. 

BACKGROUND: 
Toast’s original approval from 2008 indicated they would be open until 5 pm on Sunday, 9pm 
Monday-Wednesday, and 12am Thursday-Saturday. In 2018, City staff was made aware that 
Toast was closing prior to the hours documented in their 2008 SLUP agreement. Article 7, Section 
7.34 of the Zoning Ordinance states that once a permit for a Special Land Use has been granted 
as to any parcel of land, no change in that use may be made nor may any addition to or change 
in the building or improvements on the parcel of land take place until a new request for approval 
has been filed with the City Commission and the City Commission has approved the request for 
change. 

On January 9th, 2019, the applicant went before the Planning Board for a pre-application 
discussion regarding a proposal to change their hours of operation to eliminate dinner hours and 
host special events in the evenings instead, such as cooking classes and private parties. Toast 
wished to close at 3 p.m. Monday through Friday and 4 p.m. on Saturday and Sunday. During 
the meeting, Board members expressed positive responses to the proposals, as Toast is the only 
restaurant on Pierce open for breakfast, serves two meals (breakfast and lunch), and activates 
the street during the morning and afternoon hours.  

On February 25th, 2019, the restaurant went before the City Commission for a hearing regarding 
the 2018-2019 renewal of their Liquor License. During the meeting, the change in hours was 
discussed as a violation of their SLUP. Toast had proposed to close between 3 pm to 4 pm every 
day, however the City Commission had indicated during the liquor license review that they were 
not in support of the proposal. 

6B



On April 24th, 2019, the applicant appeared before the Planning Board to request a Special Land 
Use Permit Amendment to change the hours of operation from those approved in the Special 
Land Use Permit obtained in 2008. As a compromise to the City Commission’s comments on hours 
of operation during liquor license review, Toast proposed to stay open into evening hours closer 
to the weekend on Wednesday through Saturday with proposed hours of operation as follows: 
 

Sunday……………………….. 8 am – 4 pm 
Monday-Tuesday..……….. 7 am – 3 pm  
Wednesday…………………. 7 am – 8 pm 
Thursday-Friday………….. 7 am – 8 pm 
Saturday…………………….. 8 am – 9 pm 

 
The Planning Board was amenable to the proposed changes and felt that the applicant satisfied 
the intent of the Bistro Ordinance. The Board then moved to recommend the proposed changes, 
citing that the applicant satisfied the Bistro Ordinance requirements, and that  multiple restaurants 
had opened on or near Pierce Street and do not have as strict of hours of operation requirements 
as Toast. 
 
On June 3rd, 2019, the applicant appeared before the City Commission to amend their hours of 
operation for an earlier closing time. The City Commission discussed how the goal of the Bistro 
Ordinance was to enliven the streets and encourage traffic downtown and being closed for dinner 
is not what they envisioned. The City Commission encouraged the applicant to stay open later for 
dinner, however the applicant indicated difficulties attracting such business when Toast’s brand 
is identified as a breakfast and lunch restaurant. The City Commission approved the proposed 
changes in hours with the condition that the agreement include “minimum” hours of operation, 
meaning the applicant may stay open later than indicated, but not close earlier.      
 
On August 4th, 2021, Toast was issued a violation notice for not being in compliance with their 
SLUP agreement in regards to hours of operation. The subject bistro has been closing at 3pm 
Monday-Friday and 4pm Saturdays and Sundays, which is 5 hours earlier than the hours indicated 
in the 2019 SLUP agreement. 
 
At this time, the applicant is proposing to eliminate dinner hours and proposes the following hours 
of operation:  
 
Monday-Friday.………….8 AM – 3 PM 
Saturday-Sunday…….….8 AM – 4 PM 
 
On October 27th, 2021, the Planning Board reviewed the SLUP Amendment and moved to 
recommend approval to the City Commission, stating that Toast activates the area during 
breakfast and lunch hours, other bistros have opened in the surrounding area since 2008 which 
activate the area during the dinner hours, and that the Zoning Ordinance does not specifically 
require that bistros remain open during dinner hours. The phrase “minimum hours of operation” 
was included in the motion to enable the applicant to stay open for dinner hours if they so choose. 
 
LEGAL REVIEW:  
The City Attorney has reviewed this application and has no objections as to form and content. 
 



FISCAL IMPACT:  
There are no fiscal impacts for this agenda item. 
 
PUBLIC NOTIFICATION: 
As required for Special Land Use Permit and Final Site Plan Reviews, a legal ad was placed in a 
newspaper of local circulation to advertise the nature of the request in advance of the October 
27th, 2021 Planning Board meeting, and notices were sent out to all property owners and tenants 
within 300 ft. of the property. In addition, a second legal ad will be placed in a newspaper of local 
circulation and notices will be sent to all property owners and tenants within 300 ft. of the property 
to advertise the public hearing at the City Commission on December 6th, 2021.  
 
SUMMARY: 
The Planning Division requests that the City Commission consider the Special Land Use Permit 
Amendment, Final Site Plan and Design Review application for 203 Pierce Street – Toast. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:   

 Special Land Use Permit Resolution 
 Application & Supporting Documents 
 Site/Design Plans 

 Planning Division Reports 
 Meeting Minutes 

 
SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to APPROVE the Special Land Use Permit Amendment, Final 
Site Plan and Design Review application for 203 Pierce Street – Toast – to amend the hours of 
operation. 
 

OR 
 
Make a motion to POSTPONE the Special Land Use Permit Amendment and Final Site Plan 
application for 203 Pierce Street – Toast – pending receipt of the following: 
 

1. ________________________________________________________________________ 
2. ________________________________________________________________________ 
3. ________________________________________________________________________ 

 
OR 

 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to DENY the Special Land Use Permit Amendment, Final Site 
Plan and Design Review application for 203 Pierce Street – Toast. 
 



1  

TOAST RESTAURANT 
203 PIERCE 

SPECIAL LAND USE PERMIT AMENDMENT 
2021 

 
WHEREAS, Toast Restaurant filed an application pursuant to Article 7, section 7.34 of 

Chapter 126, Zoning, of the City Code to request a change in the hours of operation 
of the bistro;   

 
WHEREAS, The land for which the Special Land Use Permit Amendment is sought is located 

on the east side of Pierce Street between W. Maple and Merrill; 
 
WHEREAS, The land is zoned B-4, Business Residential, and is located within the Downtown 

Birmingham Overlay District, which permits bistros with a Special Land Use 
Permit; 

 
WHEREAS, Article 7, section 7.34 of Chapter 126, Zoning requires a Special Land Use Permit 

to be considered and acted upon by the Birmingham City Commission, after 
receiving recommendations on the site plan and design from the Planning Board 
for the proposed Special Land Use; 

 
WHEREAS,   The Planning Board on October 27, 2021 reviewed the application for a Special 

Land Use Permit Amendment to request a change in the hours of operation, and 
recommended approval of the amended SLUP for 203 Pierce - Toast, incorporating 
the hours in the letter of September 10th, 2021 (as noted below);   

 
WHEREAS,  The Final Site Plan for 203 Pierce – Toast reviewed by the Planning Board on October 

27th, 2021 included the original approved seating plan with no changes to the 
number or placement of indoor or outdoor seats; 

 
WHEREAS, The Birmingham City Commission has reviewed the Toast Restaurant Special Land 

Use Permit Amendment application and the standards for such review as set 
forth in Article 7, section 7.36 of Chapter 126, Zoning, of the City Code; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, The Birmingham City Commission finds the standards 

imposed under the City Code have been met, subject to the conditions below, and 
that Toast Restaurant’s application for a Special Land Use Permit Amendment 
authorizing the operation of a bistro at 203 Pierce in accordance with Chapter 
10, Alcoholic Liquors, is hereby approved; 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That the City Commission determines that to assure continued 

compliance with Code standards and to protect public health, safety, and welfare, 
this Special Land Use Permit Amendment is granted to request a change in the hours 
of operation of the bistro subject to the following conditions: 

 
1) The applicant maintain minimum hours of operation as presented this 

evening: 
Monday through Friday 8 a.m. – 3 p.m.  
Saturday and Sunday 8 a.m. – 4 p.m. 



2  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, That failure to comply with any of the above conditions shall result in 
termination of the Special Land Use Permit. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, Except as herein specifically provided, Toast Restaurant and its heirs, 

successors, and assigns shall be bound by all ordinances of the City of Birmingham 
in effect at the time of the issuance of this permit, and as they may be subsequently 
amended. Failure of Toast Restaurant to comply with all the ordinances of the city 
may result in the Commission revoking this Special Land Use Permit. 

 
I, Alexandria Bignham, City Clerk of the City of Birmingham, Michigan, do hereby certify that the 
foregoing is a true and correct copy of the resolution adopted by the Birmingham City Commission 
at its regular meeting held on December 6th, 2021. 

 

 
 
 

 Alexandria Bingham, City Clerk 



 
  

LAW OFFICES 

ADKISON, NEED, ALLEN, & RENTROP 
PROFESSIONAL LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 

 
39572 Woodward, Suite 222 

Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
Telephone (248)  540-7400  
Facsimile (248)  540-7401 

www.ANAfirm.com 
 

 
 

KELLY A. ALLEN 
JESSICA A. HALLMARK 
JOHN W. KUMMER 
GREGORY K. NEED 
G. HANS RENTROP 

OF COUNSEL:  
PHILLIP G. ADKISON 
KEVIN M. CHUDLER 
KATHERINE A. TOMASIK 

 
 

September 10, 2021 
 
Via Electronic Mail 
 
Jana Ecker, Planning Director 
Nicholas Dupuis, City Planner 
Brooks Cowan, City Planner 
City of Birmingham 
151 Martin Street 
Birmingham, MI 48012 
 

Re: Toast Birmingham, LLC 
 Special Land Use Amendment 

 
Dear Ms. Ecker, Mr. Dupuis, and Mr. Cowan:   
 
 As you know, Toast was issued a Violation Notice for changing its hours of operation from 
the approved Special Land Use Permit (“SLUP”).  The approved SLUP is dated June 3, 2019.  The 
purpose of this letter is to explain the circumstances regarding the change of hours and to request 
that the SLUP be amended to change the hours of operation.  Specifically, Toast is requesting that 
the SLUP be amended to NOT require Toast to be open for or serve dinner.  

 
 Attached to this letter is a SLUP application form stating the reason for the current SLUP 
amendment and various documents as described below.  The application fee in the amount of 
$2,800 is being hand delivered to the Planning Department today.  
 

VIOLATION NOTICE 
 

 Toast was issued a violation notice for not being open during the dinner hours as set forth 
in the approved SLUP from June 3, 2019.   
 
 Toast operated in compliance with the approved SLUP until the Covid-19 shutdown.  Upon 
reopening for indoor dining in the summer of 2020, Toast no longer served dinner.  During this 
time period, restaurants were allowed to open at a reduced capacity.  During this time, there was 
constant uncertainty as to the ability to reopen at 100% capacity, by virtue of the ever-changing 
orders from the Governor and MDHHS.  



Jana Ecker, Nicholas Dupuis, and Brooks Cowan 
September 10, 2021 
Page 2 of 4 
  
 
 
 
   Most of Toast’s employees were receiving unemployment benefits from the State of 
Michigan for an extended period during this time frame and did not come back to work because 
the benefits they were receiving often outweighed their ability to earn in a post-shutdown time.  
 
  The State-ordered shutdowns created a hardship on all restaurants.  Toast understood that 
when they reopened, they were not required to operate during the hours required under the 
approved SLUP. 
 
 If this is incorrect, it was not an intentional violation of the approved SLUP.  It was a 
misunderstanding.  However, it was virtually impossible for Toast to operate during the dinner 
hours.  There was then and is now a national labor shortage.  The statistics in Michigan are 
staggering when related to the restaurant industry.  Upon reopening, Toast, struggled to be open 
for breakfast and lunch.  Their current employees, who remained faithful to the owners, were and 
are working many hours and overtime. 
 
 Having been issued the Violation Notice, Toast considered trying to come into compliance 
with the approved SLUP, but has been unable to do so.  Therefore, Toast is submitting this request 
for a further amendment to its SLUP. 
 

REQUEST FOR SLUP AMENDMENT 
 

 Toast requests an amendment to its approved SLUP for the sole purpose of changing the 
approved hours to eliminate dinner hours.  
 
 Toast first opened in Birmingham in 2008.  In 2008, the City Commission approved a 
SLUP with specific hours which required Toast to maintain “nighttime hours”, as follows: 
 
 “The applicant must maintain nighttime hours, Monday-Wednesday 7am-9pm;   
 Thursday-Saturday & Sunday 7am-midnight; Sunday 7am-5pm.” 
 
 When Toast opened, the City Commission had concerns about activating Pierce Street, 
which is one of the purposes of granting a Bistro License.  Since that time there are now four 
Bistros on Pierce Street, including, Elie’s, Streetside, and Townhouse.  All of these Bistros are 
open for dinner but do not open for breakfast.  
 
 Subsequently, the SLUP was amended in June of 2019, requiring the hours set forth below 
as “Approved Hours.”  The Proposed Hours are on the right, below, and are the basis for this 
amended SLUP request.  
 

Approved Hours .......................................................Proposed Hours  
Sunday: 8 a.m. – 4 p.m. .............................................8 a.m. – 4 p.m.  (No change) 
Monday-Tuesday: 7 a.m. – 3p.m. ..............................8 a.m. – 3 p.m. 
Wednesday: 7 a.m. – 8 p.m. .......................................8 a.m. – 3 p.m. 



Jana Ecker, Nicholas Dupuis, and Brooks Cowan 
September 10, 2021 
Page 3 of 4 
  
 
 

Thursday-Friday: 7 a.m. – 8p.m.................................8 a.m. – 3 p.m. 
Saturday: 8 a.m. –9p.m. .............................................8 a.m. – 4 p.m.  

 
DOCUMENTS REQUIRED FOR SLUP AMENDMENT 

 
 The SLUP amendment application submitted in February of 2019 is attached with the 
documents which have not changed since that time, including:  
 
 I(i). A detailed Existing Conditions Plan including the subject site in its entirety, 
including all property lines, buildings, structures, curb cuts, sidewalks, drives, ramps and all 
parking on site and on the street(s) adjacent to the site, and must show the same detail for all 
adjacent properties within 200 ft. of the subject sites property lines. 
 
 I(ii). A detailed and scaled Site Plan depicting accurately and in detail the proposed 
construction, alteration or repair. 
 
 I(iii). A Certified Land Survey.  
 
 I(iv). Interior floor plans. 
 
 I(v). A Landscape Plan. 
  
 I(vii). Colored elevation drawings for each building elevation. 
  
 IV. Photographs of existing conditions on the site including all structures, parking 
areas, landscaping and adjacent structures. 
 
 V. Current aerial photographs of the site and surrounding properties.  
 
 VI. Warranty Deed, or Consent of Property Owner if the applicant is not the owner.  
  
 NOTE:    The landlord entity is Maple Pierce, LLC.  The manager of the Landlord entity 
is Kevin Denha.  Please note that the warranty deed is in the name of 50935 Van Dyke, LLC.  After 
the closing on the building this entity’ name was changed to Maple Pierce, LLC.  A copy of the 
warranty deed and the name change are attached. 
 

ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTS 
 
 In addition to the above, the following should be noted: 
 
 Toast added an awning to the cover the patio.  The awning was approved by the Building 
Department.   
 
 Current photos of the patio are attached which show the umbrellas and the planters.  



Jana Ecker, Nicholas Dupuis, and Brooks Cowan 
September 10, 2021 
Page 4 of 4 
  
 
 
 
 Please let us know if you require anything further.  Thank you for your professional 
assistance in this matter. 
 

Very truly yours, 
 
ADKISON, NEED, ALLEN, & RENTROP, PLLC 
 
 
 
Kelly A. Allen 

KAA/kjp 
Enclosures 
 
 
 
 
m:\bloom, regan\birmingham slup violation\corres\2021-09-10 ltr to jecker, ndupuis, and bcowan re slup amendment.docx 













of Birmingham

^[1©[1QWI
FEB 2 6 2019 a

A llWi«W« Cammnnky
CITY OFBIRMINGHAM

COMMUNITY DEVELOPi/ENT DEPARTMEffT

Special Land Use Permit Appiication - Bistro
Planning Division

Form will not beprocessed until it is completelyfilled out.

1. Applicant
Namei Birmingham, LLC

Addrcssi Plsrce Streot
Birmingham, Ml 48009

Phone Number: 248-258-6278

Fax Number: 248-479-1800

Email address: finance@eatattoast.com

3. Applicant's Attorney/Contact Person
Name: Anthony Minidiii (Contact Person)

Address: 23150 Woodward Ave
Femdale, Ml 48220

Phone Number: 734-716-4405
Fax Number: 248^79-1800

F.mail address: finance@eatattoaslcom

5. Required Attachments
I. Two (2) paper copies and one (1) digital copy of all

project plans including:
i. A detailed Existing Conditions Plan

including the subject site in its entirety,
including all property lines, buildings,
structures, curb cuts, sidewalks, drives,
ramps and all parking on site and on the
street(s) adjacent to the site, and must
show the same detail for all adjacent
properties within 200 ft. of the subject sites
property lines;

ii. A detailed and scaled Site Plan depicting
accurately and in detail the proposed
construction, alteration or repair;

Hi. A certified LandSurvey;

2. Property Owner
Name: Maple-PierceProperties

Address: Woodward Ave.,Suite 300
Birmingham, Ml 48009

Phone Ntimber: 246-865-1515

Fax Number:

Email address: msarafa@visiongrowthpartners.com

4. Project Designer/Developer
Name: Krieger Associates

Address: 2120 E. Eleven Mile Rd.
Royal Oak, Ml48067

Phone Number: 248-414-9270

Fax Number:
Email address:

iv. Interior floor plans;
V. A Landscape Plan;

vi. A Photometric Plan;
vii. Colored elevation drawings for each

building elevation;
n. Specification sheets for all proposed materials, light

fixtures and mechanical equipment;
in. Samples of all proposed materials;
rv. Photographs of existing conditions on the site

includingail structures,parking areas, landscaping
and adjacent structures;

V. Current aerial photographs of the site and
surrounding properties;

VI. Any other data requestedby the PlanningBoard,
PlanningDepartment,or other City Departments.

6. Project Information
Address/Location of the property: 203 PierceStreet

Birmingham, Ml 48220
Name of development: Toast: ANeighborhood Joirtt
Sidwell #:
Current Use: Restaurant/Bar A-2

Date ofApplication for Preliminary Site Plan:_
Date ofPreliminarySite Plan Approval:
Date ofApplication for Final Site Plan:
Date of Final Site Plan Approval:

it' it-
o

(U >-H

Proposed Use: Same
Area of Site in Acres:

Current zoning:
Is the property located in the floodplain? No
Name of Historic District Site is Located in; Shane Park

Date of Historic District Commission Approval: 3/28/2008

Date of Application for Revised Final Site Plan:_
Date of Revised Final Site Plan Approval:
Date ofDesign ReviewBoard Approval:
Is there a currentSLUP in effect for this site?
Date of Applicationfor SLUP:
Date of SLUP Approval:
Date of Last SLUP Amendment:

_!5_ n -ti —I
iT-

.2.

"57
rsi

--J >-
TJ O

O Oi
— 13-

o
-o-

^ c

f
k-

Q O
O "H

hO CO
i>. 1—1

to 3
O M
>- 2
••O CD

X

cn
C-J

04
•-0

T3
3













































  

MEMORANDUM 
 

Planning Department 
 
DATE:  October 22th, 2021 
 
TO:   Planning Board 
 
FROM:  Brooks Cowan, Senior Planner 
 
APPROVED:  Nicholas Dupuis, Planner Director 
 
SUBJECT:      203 Pierce St. – Toast – Special Land Use Permit Amendment and Final 

Site Plan Review 
 
 
Toast has operated as a Bistro at 203 Pierce Street since 2008. A condition of Toast’s original 
approval is that it be open for dinner hours in order to bring activity to the space and provide 
dining opportunities during evening hours. Toast’s original approval from 2008 indicated they 
would be open until 5 pm on Sunday, 9pm Monday-Wednesday, and 12am Thursday-Saturday. 
 
In 2018, City staff was made aware that Toast was closing prior to the hours documented in their 
2008 SLUP agreement. Article 7, Section 7.34 of the Zoning Ordinance states that once a permit 
for a Special Land Use has been granted as to any parcel of land, no change in that use may be 
made nor may any addition to or change in the building or improvements on the parcel of land 
take place until a new request for approval has been filed with the City Commission and the City 
Commission has approved the request for change. 
 
On January 9th, 2019, the applicant went before the Planning Board for a pre-application 
discussion regarding a proposal to change their hours of operation to eliminate dinner hours and 
host special events in the evenings instead, such as cooking classes and private parties. Toast 
wished to close at 3 p.m. Monday through Friday and 4 p.m. on Saturday and Sunday. During 
the meeting, Board members expressed positive responses to the proposals, as Toast Bistro is 
the only restaurant on Pierce open for breakfast, serves two meals (breakfast and lunch), and 
activates the street during the morning and afternoon hours.  
 
On February 25th, 2019, the restaurant went before the City Commission for a hearing regarding 
the 2018-2019 renewal of their Liquor License. During the meeting, the change in hours was 
discussed as a violation of their SLUP. Toast had proposed to close between 3 pm to 4 pm every 
day, however City Commission had indicated during Liquor License review that they were not in 
support of the proposal. 
 
On April 24th, 2019, the applicant appeared before the Planning Board to request a Special Land 
Use Permit Amendment to change the hours of operation from those approved in the Special 
Land Use Permit obtained in 2008. As a compromise to City Commission’s comments on hours of 
operation during liquor license review, Toast proposed to stay open into evening hours closer to 
the weekend on Wednesday through Saturday with proposed hours of operation as follows: 



 
 

  

 
Sunday……………………….. 8 am – 4 pm 
Monday-Tuesday..……….. 7 am – 3 pm  
Wednesday…………………. 7 am – 8 pm 
Thursday-Friday………….. 7 am – 8 pm 
Saturday…………………….. 8 am – 9 pm 

 
The Planning Board was amenable to the proposed changes and felt that the applicant satisfied 
the intent of the Bistro Ordinance. The Board then moved to recommend the proposed changes, 
citing that the applicant satisfies the Bistro Ordinance requirements, and that  multiple restaurants 
had opened on or near Pierce Street and do not have as strict of hours of operation requirements 
as Toast. 
 
On June 3rd, 2019, the applicant appeared before City Commission to amend their hours of 
operation for an earlier closing time. Commission discussed how the goal of the Bistro Ordinance 
was to enliven the streets and encourage traffic downtown. Being closed for dinner is not what 
was envisioned. Commission encouraged the applicant to stay open later for dinner, however the 
applicant indicated difficulties attracting such business when Toast’s brand is identified as a 
breakfast and lunch restaurant. The Commission approved the proposed changes in hours with 
the condition that the agreement include “minimum” hours of operation, meaning the applicant 
may stay open later than indicated, but not close earlier.      
 
On August 4th, 2021, The applicant “Toast” was issued a violation notice for not being in 
compliance with their SLUP agreement in regards to hours of operation. The subject Bistro has 
been closing at 3pm Monday-Friday and 4pm Saturdays and Sundays, which is 5 hours earlier 
than the hours indicated in the 2019 SLUP agreement. 
 
At this time, the applicant is proposing to eliminate the dinner hours and proposes 
the following hours of operation:  
 
Monday-Friday.………….7 AM – 3 PM 
Saturday-Sunday…….…8 AM – 4 PM 
 
 
1.0 Land Use and Zoning  
 

1.1  Existing Land Use – The existing land use is commercial. 
 

1.2  Existing Zoning – The property is currently zoned B-4, Business-Residential, and 
D-4 in the Downtown Overlay District.  The existing use and surrounding uses 
appear to conform to the permitted uses of each Zoning District. 

 
1.3  Summary of Land Use and Zoning - The following chart summarizes existing land 

use and zoning adjacent to and/or in the vicinity of the subject site. 
 
 
 
 



 
 

  

 
 
 

 North South East 
 

West 
 

Existing Land 
Use 

 
Commercial / 

Retail  
 

Commercial / 
Retail 

Commercial / 
Retail 

 
 

Commercial / 
Retail / 

Residential 
 
 

Existing 
Zoning 
District 

 
B-4, Business-

Residential 
 

 
B-4, Business-

Residential 
 

B-4, Business-
Residential 

 
 

B-4, Business-
Residential 

 
 

Downtown 
Overlay 
Zoning 
District 

 
D-4 

 
D-4 D-4 D-4 

 
 

2.0 Bistro Requirements 
 

Article 9, Section 9.02, Definitions, of the Zoning Ordinance defines a bistro as a restaurant 
with a full service kitchen with interior seating for no more than 65 people and additional 
seating for outdoor dining for no more than 65 people.   

 
Article 3, Section 3.04(C)(10) of the Zoning Ordinance permits bistros in the Downtown 
Overlay District as long as the following conditions are met: 

 
a. No direct connect additional bar permit is allowed and the maximum seating at 

a bar cannot exceed 10 seats; 
b. Alcohol is served only to seated patrons, except those standing in a defined bar 

area; 
c. No dance area is provided; 
d. Only low key entertainment is permitted; 
e. Bistros must have tables located in the storefront space lining any street, or 

pedestrian passage; 
f. A minimum of 70% glazing must be provided along building facades facing a 

street or pedestrian passage between 1’ and 8’ in height; 



 
 

  

g. All bistro owners must execute a contract with the City outlining the details of 
the operation of the bistro; and 

h. Outdoor dining must be provided, weather permitting, along an adjacent street 
or passage during the months of May through October each year.  Outdoor 
dining is not permitted past 12:00 a.m.  If there is not sufficient space to permit 
such dining on the sidewalk adjacent to the bistro, an elevated, ADA compliant, 
enclosed platform must be erected on the street adjacent to the bistro to create 
an outdoor dining area if the Engineering Department determines there is 
sufficient space available for this purpose given parking and traffic conditions. 

i. Enclosures facilitating year round dining outdoors are not permitted. 
j. Railings, planters or similar barriers defining outdoor dining platforms may not 

exceed 42’’ in height. 
k. Outdoor rooftop dining is permitted with the conditions that surrounding 

properties are not impacted in a negative manner and adequate street level 
dining is provided as determined by the Planning Board and City Commission. 
Rooftop dining seats will count towards the total number of permissible outdoor 
dining seats. 

 
The only proposed change to the Bistro requirements is for (g) – operations of the bistro regarding 
an earlier closing time. At this time, the applicant appears to meet the Bistro 
requirements listed above.  
 
3.0  Screening and Landscaping 
 

2.1 Screening – No changes proposed. 
 

2.2 Landscaping – No changes proposed. 
 
 
4.0 Parking, Loading, Access, and Circulation  
 

3.1 Parking – As the subject site is located within the Parking Assessment District, the 
applicant is not required to provide on-site parking.   

 
3.2 Loading – No changes are proposed. 
 
3.3 Vehicular Access & Circulation - Vehicular access to the building will not be altered.   
 
3.4    Pedestrian Access & Circulation – No changes proposed. 
 
3.5  Streetscape – No changes proposed. 

 
4.0 Lighting  
 

The applicant is not proposing any new lighting for the property. 
 



 
 

  

5.0 Departmental Reports 
 

5.1 Engineering Division – Engineering has no concerns at this time. 
 

5.2 Department of Public Services – DPS has no concerns at this time. 
 

5.3 Fire Department – The Fire Department has no concerns at this time. 
 
5.4 Police Department – The Police Department has no concerns at this time. 

 
5.5 Building Department – The Building Department has no concerns at this time. 

 
6.0 Design Review  

 
The applicant is not proposing any exterior changes as a part of the Special Land Use 
Permit Amendment. The applicant has 65 indoor seats and 52 outdoor seats. The applicant 
is approved for 20 seats located on the sidewalk and 32 seats located on the dining deck 
which occupies two parking spaces. The applicant is current with all outdoor dining 
licenses and there are no pending violations. 
 

7.0 Downtown Birmingham 2016 Plan 
 

The site is located within the D-4 zone of the Downtown Birmingham Overlay District. The 
Downtown 2016 Plan encourages a mix of uses in the downtown to encourage visitors 
and social activation during the morning, afternoon, and night. Toast is within the 
Downtown 2016 Plan’s Central Business District retail loop consisting of Pierce, Merrill, 
Woodward and Maple. This loop allows pedestrians to window shop without encountering 
gaps in store frontage or interruptions by vehicular traffic. Restaurants along this loop 
includes Toast, Elie’s, Streetside, La Strada, Sushi Japan, Leo’s Coney Island, Kaku Sushi, 
Churchills Cigar Bar, Eli Tea Bar, and Planthropie. When considering restaurants across 
the street from the subject loop, there is Townhouse, 220 Merrill, Hyde Park Steakhouse, 
Pernoi (alley), Starbacks, and Clean Juice (opening to be determined). A number of the 
surrounding restaurants are open for dinner, helping to balance out dining offerings at all 
times of the day. 
 
The Planning Division finds the proposed SLUP amendment adequately enhances street 
life along this loop during breakfast and lunch hours within the downtown, thus helping 
to promoting a pedestrian friendly environment and assisting in activating the downtown 
during the morning and afternoon hours.  
 

8.0 Approval Criteria 
 

In accordance with Article 7, section 7.27 of the Zoning Ordinance, the proposed plans 
for development must meet the following conditions: 

 
(1) The location, size and height of the building, walls and fences shall be such that 

there is adequate landscaped open space so as to provide light, air and access 
to the persons occupying the structure. 



 
 

  

(2) The location, size and height of the building, walls and fences shall be such that 
there will be no interference with adequate light, air and access to adjacent lands 
and buildings. 

(3) The location, size and height of the building, walls and fences shall be such that 
they will not hinder the reasonable development of adjoining property not 
diminish the value thereof. 

(4) The site plan, and its relation to streets, driveways and sidewalks, shall be such 
as to not interfere with or be hazardous to vehicular and pedestrian traffic. 

(5) The proposed development will be compatible with other uses and buildings in 
the neighborhood and will not be contrary to the spirit and purpose of this 
chapter. 

(6) The location, shape and size of required landscaped open space is such as to 
provide adequate open space for the benefit of the inhabitants of the building 
and the surrounding neighborhood. 

 
In addition, Article 7, Section 7.36 requires applications for a Special Land Use Permit to 
meet the following criteria: 

 
(1) The use is consistent with and will promote the intent and purpose of this Zoning   

Ordinance. 
(2) The use will be compatible with adjacent uses of land, the natural environment, 

and the capabilities of public services and facilities affected by the land use. 
(3) The use is consistent with the public health, safety and welfare of the city. 
(4) The use is in compliance with all other requirements of this Zoning Ordinance. 
(5) The use will not be injurious to the surrounding neighborhood. 
(6) The use is in compliance with state and federal statutes. 

 
The applicant appears to satisfy approval criteria of 7.27 and 7.36 of the Zoning 
Ordinance. Closing before dinner hours does not appear to be contrary to the spirit and 
intent of the Zoning Ordinance as the approved use activates the space and supports 
economic vitality of Pierce Street between W. Maple and Merrill Street during morning and 
afternoon hours seven days a week.  

 
10.0 Suggested Action 
 

Based on a review of the site plans submitted, the Planning Division recommends that the 
Planning Board recommend APPROVAL to the City Commission of the applicant’s request 
for Special Land Use Permit Amendment and Final Site Plan Review for 203 Pierce – Toast. 
It is also recommended that the terminology “minimum hours of operation” be included 
into the SLUP agreement to permit the applicant to stay open later into the evening if 
economically feasible. 
 
The Planning Division’s recommendation is based on the consideration that the applicant 
is open and providing dining services to patrons of Birmingham at times when other 
restaurants and Bistros are not. Toast is open for breakfast and lunch and enhances the 
economic vitality of Pierce Street during those times. The Planning Division’s 



recommendation is also based on the precedent that other Bistros have not been required 
to be open during the morning and provide service during typical breakfast, lunch and 
dinner hours. 

If the City wishes to deny the applicant’s request and require Toast to maintain 
current dinner hours Wednesday-Saturday, the Planning Division recommends 
that the City consider a temporary social district trial on Pierce Street from 
Merrill to the alley intersection, similar to what Royal Oak, Ferndale, and 
Northville have in order to activate the space. Doing so could assist the 
surrounding businesses in activating the space and attracting more 
business at all times of the day.  

11.0 Sample Motion Language 

The Planning Board recommends APPROVAL to the City Commission of the Special Land 
Use Permit Amendment Final Site Plan Review for 203 Pierce – Toast. 

OR 

Motion to recommend POSTPONEMENT of the Special Land Use Permit Amendment and 
Final Site Plan Review for 203 Pierce – Toast, for the following reasons: 

1. _________________________________________________________________
2. _________________________________________________________________
3. _________________________________________________________________

OR 

Motion to recommend DENIAL of the Special Land Use Permit Amendment and Final Site 
Plan Review for 203 Pierce – Toast, for the following reasons: 

1. _________________________________________________________________
2. _________________________________________________________________
3. _________________________________________________________________

OR 

Motion to recommend DENIAL of the Special Land Use Permit Amendment and Final Site 
Plan Review for 203 Pierce – Toast, for the following reasons: 

1. _________________________________________________________________
2. _________________________________________________________________
3. _________________________________________________________________



 
 

  

AND 
 
To consider a temporary social district trial on Pierce Street from Merrill to the alley 
intersection as an effort to activate the space and encourage social gathering at all times 
of the day for the benefit of residents, visitors, and surrounding businesses. 

 



1 

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM  
JOINT MEETING OF THE PLANNING BOARD AND 

HISTORIC DISTRICT COMMISSION  
WEDNESDAY, MARCH 26, 2008 

Minutes of the Joint meeting of the City of Birmingham Planning Board held March 26, 
2008.  Chairman Robin Boyle convened the meeting at 7:32 p.m. 

Present: Chairman Robin Boyle; Board Members Brian Blaesing (arrived at 7:47 
p.m.), Gillian Lazar, Mark Nickita, Janelle Whipple-Boyce

Absent:  Board Members Sam Haberman, Bryan Williams; Student Representative 
Cole Fredrick 

03-58-08

Approval of the Minutes of the Planning Board Meeting held March 12, 2008 

Motion by Mr. Nickita 
Seconded by Ms. Whipple-Boyce to approve the Minutes of March 12 as prepared. 

Motion carried, 4-0. 

VOICE VOTE 
Yeas: Nickita, Whipple-Boyce, Boyle, Lazar 
Nays: None 
Absent:  Blaesing, Haberman, Williams 

03-59-08

Approval of the Minutes of the Planning Board Meeting held December 12, 2007 

Motion by Ms. Whipple-Boyce 
Seconded by Ms. Lazar to approve the Minutes of December 12 as revised. 

Motion carried, 4-0. 

VOICE VOTE 
Yeas: Whipple-Boyce, Lazar, Nickita, Boyle 
Nays: None 
Absent:  Blaesing, Haberman, Williams 

03-60-08

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



2 

Chairperson’s Comments (none) 

03-61-08

Approval of the Agenda (two reviews withdrawn) 

03-62-08

SPECIAL LAND USE PERMIT (“SLUP”) 
203 Pierce St. 
Toast Birmingham bistro, request for Bistro License, New Establishment 

FINAL SITE PLAN REVIEW 
203 Pierce St. 
Toast Birmingham bistro, request for Bistro License, New Establishment 

Ms. Robinson advised that the subject site is located on the east side of Pierce St. 
between Maple Rd. and Martin St.  The parcel is zoned B-4 Business-Residential and 
D-4 in the Downtown Overlay District.  The applicant, a new restaurant, is seeking
approval of a Bistro License under Chapter 10, Alcoholic Liquors, of the City Code.
Chapter 10 requires that the applicant obtain a SLUP and approval from the City
Commission to operate an establishment with a Bistro License within the City.  Bistro
requirements allow two new bistros in the calendar year 2008.  Accordingly, the
applicant will be required to receive a recommendation from the Planning Board on the
Final Site Plan and SLUP, and then obtain approval from the City Commission for the
final site plan, SLUP, and for the operation of a Bistro License.

As the applicant is also proposing signage and changes to the exterior of the 
building, and because the building is located within the CBD Historic District, 
approval from the Historic District Commission (“HDC”) is also required. 

In accordance with the Commission resolution passed December 10, 2007, since 
parking spaces are being taken out of service for this proposal, the applicant 
must also submit plans of the dining deck for review by the Advisory Parking 
Committee (“APC”). 

Toast Birmingham is proposing to have 9 seats in the 174 sq. ft. bar area.  Toast 
Birmingham bistro does not propose any dancing area, but they wish to have low key 
musical entertainment.  They also propose to have tables located in the storefront 
space lining Pierce St., and to provide the existing 70 percent glazing along the front 
façade.  They propose to install a new canvas black awning over the café, directly 
against the building. 

Toast Birmingham is also proposing 26 seats for outdoor dining, with 18 on an elevated 
platform along Pierce St., and 8 seats on the sidewalk directly adjacent to the south side 

ndupuis
Highlight



3 

of the front elevation of the building.  A 5 ft. clear passage will be maintained along the 
public sidewalk.  They propose to construct a temporary 12 ft. 5 ½ in. by 20 ft. platform 
of composite non-slip decking fastened with clips to provide a level outdoor dining 
surface on the sidewalk and into the street.  The platform is proposed to extend 7 ft. into 
one parking space along Pierce St.  The applicant is also proposing a 3.5 ft. high 
custom-made metal fencing system to enclose the outdoor dining space.   

At the recommendation of the Planning Division, the restaurant will maintain hours that 
extend into the evening.  Mr. Thom Bloom said Birmingham Toast hours will be 
Monday–Wednesday 7 a.m. – 9 p.m.; Thursday–Saturday 7 a.m. – midnight; Sunday 7 
a.m. – 5 p.m.

Mr. Drew Norton was present to represent Toast Birmingham.  With him were Thom and 
Regan Bloom, the business owners; Mr. Jason Kregar, the architect; along with the 
head chef, Rubin Griffin.  Mr. Norton indicated the applicant has satisfied or is prepared 
to satisfy all of the conditions raised by the Planning Division.   

Mr. Bloom discussed some of the special events they may want to have in the evening, 
such as wine tastings for charitable events, guest chef cooking classes, and art gallery 
showing/openings with local artists.  On the weekends there could be a Bloody Mary 
and Belini/Mimosa bar.  The front section can be closed off as a private dining area for 
larger parties while they are operating the restaurant.  Lastly, they manage quite a 
robust catering business out of their establishment for upscale corporate events.  They 
request that on occasion there be some light entertainment such as a violin or a harp in 
the background, but nothing loud. If they are given the opportunity to have a bistro 
license Mr. Bloom feels it will be a benefit to the City, the patrons, and the community, 
as well as something they would very much enjoy. 

He distributed a final draft of the dinner menu and a summary on the history of Toast. 
They have been in business in Ferndale for seven years.  Due to the success of their 
Ferndale, location they are very confident that they will provide a very unique and lively 
establishment in Birmingham with some additional offerings.     

Mr. Kregar clarified that the bistro tables measure 28 in. x 24 in.  The restaurant seating 
will be adjusted to accommodate 65 people.   

Mr. Nickita noted the board has not done this sort of dual outdoor enclosure in the past.  
His issue was congestion on the sidewalk.  He suggested moving the entrance to the 
small dining area along the building to the north side, and flipping the outer platform 180 
degrees in order to have the ramp access near the door.   

Mr. Blaesing indicated he is extremely pleased after looking at the presentation.  This is 
the kind of establishment that the board was hoping to get, right in the middle of town, 
and run by proprietors who have been successful with another establishment. The more 
synergy that occurs with the restaurants, the art community, shopping, and the office 
crowd, the better the whole downtown will work.  He is concerned about having the dual 



4 

outdoor dining areas because he feels that when a pedestrian walks up and sees tables 
on both sides of the sidewalk the pedestrian may be intimidated and shy away.   Mr. 
Blaesing is reluctant to approve with dining on both sides of the sidewalk, because he 
thinks it takes up too much of the public space and sets a precedent for other applicants 
to come in with seating on both sides and further constrict sidewalk width and 
functionality.  His view is that the board should approve outside dining on one side or 
the other, see how it goes for a year, and if they think it is going to work, the applicant 
can come back next year and get seating on the other side.  Once the seating is in, 
however, it is not easy to take it out.   

Mr. Nickita noted that to the north there is an existing stone planter that protrudes from 
the building frontage almost the exact same distance as this dining area.  So, the 
planter has already established the pedestrian path away from the building.  Therefore, 
in this condition he is absolutely comfortable with the two dining areas.  Walking 
between tables makes for a very interesting urban experience and he doesn’t think 
people would be intimidated.  Ms. Lazar noted the dining areas are enclosed by a 
railing. 

Chairman Boyle said that if it is determined that outdoor dining on both sides of the 
sidewalk is not working out, it is not beyond the realm of common sense to remove the 
seating next to the building.  There is the opportunity to be flexible. 

Mr. Nickita observed the board has set a bit of a precedent as to the construction of 
platforms.  Mr. Bloom said they have looked at designs that have been approved and 
designed their platform to those exact specs.  The railings will be painted black. 

No members of the public came forward to comment at 8:20 p.m. 

Motion by Mr. Nickita 
Seconded by Ms. Whipple-Boyce to approve the applicant’s request for Final Site 
Plan and a SLUP to permit a Bistro License for Toast Birmingham restaurant at 
203 Pierce with the following conditions: 

1) The applicant maintain nighttime hours as presented this evening,
Monday–Wednesday 7 a.m. – 9 p.m.; Thursday–Saturday 7 a.m. –
midnight; Sunday 7 a.m. – 5 p.m.;

2) The applicant pay for the removal and re-installment of the parking
meter where the outdoor dining platform is located;

3) The applicant appear before the Historic District Commission for all
building changes and signage;

4) The applicant execute a contract with the City of Birmingham for use of
the right-of-way;

5) The applicant obtain an outdoor dining permit from the City of
Birmingham for use of the right-of-way;

6) The applicant comply with all requests of City departments;
7) The applicant shall provide low-key entertainment as desired;
8) The color of the railing is black as presented;



5 

9) The tables measure 24 in. x 28 in. as opposed to 28 in. x 28 in.;
10) The entry to the east outdoor seating area is at the north side of the

enclosure and the west patio access is at the north side of the
enclosure, flipped from what is shown;

11) The seating be 65 seats, with no more than ten at the bar in accordance
to the Ordinance.

There was no discussion from the audience at 8:30 p.m. 

Motion carried, 4-1. 

VOICE VOTE 
Yeas: Nickita, Whipple-Boyce, Boyle, Lazar 
Nays: Blaesing 
Absent:  Haberman, Williams 



 

1 

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE PLANNING BOARD 

WEDNESDAY, JANUARY 9, 2019 
City Commission Room 

151 Martin Street, Birmingham, Michigan 
 
 
Minutes of the regular meeting of the City of Birmingham Planning Board held on January 9, 
2019.  Chairman Scott Clein convened the meeting at 7:30 p.m. 
 
A.  ROLL CALL 
 
Present:    Chairman Scott Clein; Board Members Robin Boyle, Stuart Jeffares, Bert         
   Koseck, Daniel Share, Janelle Whipple-Boyce, Bryan Williams         
 
Also Present:  Alternate Board Member Jason Emerine             
 
Absent:      Alternate Board Member Nasseen Ramin; Student                      
       Representatives Madison Dominato, Sam Fogel, Ellie McElroy 
  
Administration: Matt Baka, Sr. Planner 
             Jana Ecker, Planning Director               
             Carole Salutes, Recording Secretary  
 
Fleis & Vanderbrink (“F&V”)  
             Julie Kroll               
 

 
01-07-19 

 
H.  PRE-APPLICATION DISCUSSION 
 

1.  203 Pierce St., Toast Birmingham 
 

Mr. Tony Manicilli Minicilli, Director of Operations for Toast, was present with Mr. Chris Gadelka 
Gadulka, Executive Chef, and Ms. Reagan Regan Bloom with Toast.  Mr. Manicilli said they are 
looking to change the required hours of their Special Land Use Permit (“SLUP”) to 7 a.m. to 3 
p.m. Monday through Friday and 8 a.m. to 4 p.m. on week-ends.  They want to eliminate dinner 
and do special events in the evenings such as cooking classes and private parties. 
 
Ms. Ecker advised they are required under their SLUP to serve breakfast, lunch, and dinner.  To 
change that condition they would have to amend their SLUP.  They can do one of two things to 
correct the violation: 
• Start serving dinner again; or 
• Go before the Planning Board and City Commission to get approval to strike the condition that 

they must serve dinner. 
 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



 

2 
 

Ms. Ecker explained if they just wanted to have a restaurant with regular dining and no alcohol 
they would not need a SLUP. At the time this SLUP was approved the Planning Board and City 
Commission didn’t feel a bistro license should be issued if the street would not be activated in the 
evenings.  Mr. Manicilli Minicilli said on week-ends their customers generally have about an hour 
wait.  During that wait, most people are in the City and walking around.  Even if it is during the 
day and not at night they are adding to activity on the street.   
 
Board members requested that in Toast’s application for a change in their SLUP they include 
details on their special events and average customer count after 3 p.m. over the last six months 
or so. 
 
Mr. Williams pointed out there are three other restaurants on Pierce and that are open at night 
and none are open for breakfast.  So he would be inclined to go forward with this request.   
 
Mr. Manicilli Minicilli responded for Ms. Whipple-Boyce that they have had 15 special events in 
the evening through December. He anticipates seeing an increase in pop-ups, cooking classes, or 
other events.  He described a pop-up as an invitation for another chef to come in and set up a 
temporary restaurant with a different menu other than theirs for a one night event.  The purpose 
is to receive an indication of whether to invest in opening a new restaurant.  
 
Ms. Reagan Regan Bloom opined that increasing competition has had something to do with 
their declining dinner crowd. 
 
Mr. Jeffares said these people have tried everything to get people in for dinner and it has been a 
valiant effort.  They do quite a few events in the evening and he didn’t think the board should try 
to force anybody to lose money. 
 
 



BIRMINGHAM CITY COMMISSION MINUTES 
FEBRUARY 25, 2019 

MUNICIPAL BUILDING, 151 MARTIN 
7:30 P.M.

I. CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
Mayor Patty Bordman called the meeting to order at 7:30 PM. 

II. ROLL CALL
ROLL CALL: Present: Mayor Bordman 

Mayor Pro Tem Boutros 
Commissioner DeWeese 
Commissioner Harris  
Commissioner Hoff 
Commissioner Nickita 

Absent: Commissioner Sherman 

Administration:  City Manager Valentine, Assistant City Manager Gunter, City Attorney Currier, 
Police Chief Clemence, Planning Director Ecker, Finance Director Gerber, Building Official 
Johnson, Library Director Koschik, City Engineer O’Meara, City Clerk Mynsberge, Birmingham 
Shopping District Executive Director Tighe 

http://www.bhamgov.org/
ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



7  February 25, 2019 

02-047-19 LIQUOR LICENSE REVIEW AND RENEWAL 
Commissioner Nickita recused himself from discussing and voting on 220 Merrill and Toast due 
to business relationships with the owners of both establishments.  
 
City Clerk Mynsberge presented the item. 
 
Commissioner Hoff thanked staff for the clarity of the submitted reports. 
 
Comments/Clarification 
Planning Director Ecker explained: 

● Elie’s Mediterranean filled out their liquor license application incorrectly in regards to 
numbers, but upon the Planning Department on-site review it was clear that Elie’s was 
actually in compliance 

 
City Clerk Mynsberge confirmed: 

● Rojo and Sidecar share an owner and together owe the City $16,325 in taxes and water 
bills. The owner entered into a payment plan with the City for the water bills on 
February 25, 2019 by paying a portion and agreeing to continue making regular 
payments on the debt. The outstanding taxes for both establishments remain unpaid. 

 
Mayor Bordman invited Stephen Simon, owner of Rojo and Sidecar, to speak to the 
Commission. 
 
Mr. Simon explained both Rojo and Sidecar were purchased in bankruptcy court in June 2018. 
There are current talks with the City and Oakland County as to whether the July 2018 taxes are 
due from the current or previous owner. In addition, the company’s accountant has indicated 
that the assets purchased were only about $20,000, which would free the business from owing 
taxes.  
 
City Attorney Currier said with respect to the delinquent taxes he was unsure because he was 
not familiar with the bankruptcy filing. He could not say whether that was a matter the 
bankruptcy court was taking into consideration, but that it would have some priority with 
respect to payment in the bankruptcy court. If the priority stays as-is, eventually the property 
will go to tax sale. 
 
Commissioner Harris suggested setting a March 25, 2019 public hearing date to encourage a 
speedy resolution of the matter on the part of the previous owner and Mr. Simon. 
 
Mayor Bordman concurred and advised Mr. Simon that the tax liability may fall to him if he 
intends to keep the restaurants. She said this was not legal advice, but that it seemed to her 
that if the previous owner were mandated to pay by the court that Mr. Simon would be 
reimbursed. 
 
Commissioner DeWeese said Toast has been slow in addressing issues with the City, including 
the fact that Toast is in violation of its Special Land Use Permit (SLUP) because it is not 
currently operating in the evenings.  
 
 

ndupuis
Highlight



8  February 25, 2019 

Planning Director Ecker explained:  
● Toast had been subject to code enforcement for not providing dinner hours as per their 

SLUP. The owners then came to a pre-application meeting with the Planning Department 
to discuss either providing dinner hours or applying for a SLUP amendment.  

● Toast ultimately submitted an application and attendant fee for a SLUP amendment 
earlier in the day on February 25, 2019, hoping not to provide regular dinner hours but 
to provide evening space for cooking classes and other activities instead. 

● Toast would not likely receive a public hearing regarding their application with the 
Planning Board before the end of April 2019. 

 
Toast representative Tony Minicilli came forward to address the Commission. He explained: 

● Toast’s hours were changed in October 2018, and they were unaware their SLUP was 
contingent on having dinner hours. He said that he believed Toast was the only 
restaurant that had a SLUP requiring evening hours. 

● When Toast was made aware that they were in violation of their SLUP, Toast was 
advised to re-apply. 

● He is the Director of Operations, and neither he nor the current owner were part of the 
SLUP process when it was originally granted to Toast by Birmingham. Toast was 
originally owned by married couple Thom and Regan Bloom, and they since divorced 
with Regan retaining ownership of the restaurant along with investors. 

 
Mayor Bordman stated: 

● SLUPs require any change in ownership be reviewed by the City Commission.  
● Since Toast did not submit their change in ownership for review to the City Commission, 

the restaurant has now made the City aware of an additional violation of their SLUP.  
● Given the major problems with the operation of the restaurant, she recommended 

setting a public hearing for Toast on March 25, 2019.  
 
Commissioner Hoff noted there were several restaurants with discrepancies between the 
number of seats allowed and the number of seats the Planning Department found upon 
inspection. She added that as of the submission of the information to the City Commission, 
many of those discrepancies had not been resolved. She asked Mayor Bordman if the 
Commission could speak with representatives from the establishments in violation present this 
evening to see whether the discrepancies have since been resolved. 
 
Mayor Bordman concurred, suggested reviewing the discrepancies one establishment at a time, 
and asked whether a representative from Bella Piatti was present. 
 
Nino Cutraro introduced himself as the owner of Bella Piatti.  
 
Mayor Bordman asked Mr. Cutraro why he had not responded to contact from the City 
regarding the issue with the number of seats in Bella Piatti. 
 
Mr. Cutraro said he never saw any communication from the City regarding the matter. 
 
Mayor Bordman invited Planning Director Ecker to confirm that attempts to contact Bella Piatti 
had occurred. 
 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
April 24, 2019 

 

1 
 

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE PLANNING BOARD 

WEDNESDAY, APRIL 24, 2019 
City Commission Room 

151 Martin Street, Birmingham, Michigan 
 
Minutes of the regular meeting of the City of Birmingham Planning Board held on April 24, 2019.  
Chairman Scott Clein convened the meeting at 7:30 p.m. 
 
A.  ROLL CALL 
 
Present: Chairman Scott Clein; Board Members Robin Boyle, Stuart Jeffares, Daniel Share,  

Janelle Whipple-Boyce, Bryan Williams; Alternate Board Member Jason Emerine; 
Student Representative Sophia Trimble 

        
Absent: Board Member Bert Koseck; Student Representative John Utley 
  
Administration: Jana Ecker, Planning Director 

Nicholas Dupuis, City Planner       
 Laura Eichenhorn, Transcriptionist  

 
Present in Audience: Alternate Board Member Nasseen Ramin 
      
 

04-059-19 
F. Request for Special Land Use Permit Review and Request for Final Site Plan  

and Design Review  
 

1. 203 Pierce – Toast – Request for approval of a SLUP Amendment and Final 
Site Plan Review to permit a change of hours of operation and a change of 
ownership. 

 
City Planner Dupuis presented the item. 
 
Kelly Allen, Attorney for Toast, noted that the correct proposed hours were listed in her letter 
dated April 18, 2019 and included on page 83 of the agenda packet. She continued: 

● Toast was one of the first two restaurants issued a bistro license in Birmingham in 2008. 
Ms. Allen had served as attorney for Toast at the time, and she had mostly worked with 
former co-owner Thomas Bloom. 

● The goal of bistro licenses was to activate the street, especially with nighttime hours. 
Toast agreed to attempt nighttime hours, even though the focus was more of a breakfast 
and brunch experience. Toast tried to attract dinner patrons for ten years, and the efforts 
were largely unsuccessful. 

● When Reagan Bloom assumed full ownership of Toast following her divorce from Mr. 
Bloom, she was unaware that Toast was obligated to stay open into the evening hours as 
part of the establishment’s contract with the City.  

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
April 24, 2019 

 

2 
 

● The City has many more bistros now, and the necessity of Toast having evening hours is 
no longer extant. City streets are now well-utilized in the evenings. 

● Since the originally proposed change in hours was explicitly discouraged by the 
Commission, Toast is proposing a compromise in hours to try and meet the Commission’s 
directive.  

● Toast will attempt the proposed compromise hours in earnest, but they still may not be 
successful. If that is the case, Toast may be back before the Planning Board and the 
Commission in the future. 

● During the change in ownership Toast acquired new investors and went through the 
required changes with the Michigan Liquor Control Commission. The attorneys handling 
that process did not come before the City to update the information as required by 
ordinance, so Ms. Allen is facilitating that process now. She expects all involved parties 
will be cleared by the City’s Police Department. 

● Toast’s seating is now in compliance with the original SLUP. Toast will be open during all 
of the hours proposed in Ms. Allen’s April 18, 2019 letter, and may host special events 
during some of its evening hours on occasion.   

 
Mr. Jeffares noted other bistro license holders that seem to have less onerous hour requirements. 
He stated that Bella Piatti is not open for business two days out of the week, that La Strada is 
not open for business on Mondays, and that both Tallulah Wine Bar & Bistro and Bistro Joe’s have 
days they are not open for business.  Meanwhile, Toast is required to be open for all meals seven 
days a week. 
 
Ms. Allen agreed with Mr. Jeffares, and suggested that a slight hardship is being imposed on 
Toast in terms of the evening hours. 
 
Mr. Boyle noted that the City was imposing the requirement that Toast revise its schedule to stay 
open during evenings. He suggested that since the City is requiring this, the City could help 
publicize Toast’s new hours and correct the perception that Toast will continue to remain closed 
in the evenings. 
 
Chairman Clein said he understood the Commission’s concerns, acknowledged it was a policy 
issue for the Commission to decide, and would not try to persuade them differently. He also 
opined that a reduction or elimination of evening hours would not negatively impact evening 
activity on Pierce Street.  
 
Motion by Mr. Share 
Seconded by Mr. Williams to recommend approval of the amended SLUP for 203 
Pierce - Toast, incorporating the hours in the letter of April 18, 2019, based on the 
fact that of the six items in Article 7, Section 7.2.7 Items One, Two, Three, Four, and 
Six remain unchanged and Item Five, which relates to compatibility and the spirit and 
purpose are well-satisfied by changing circumstances over time including the evening 
activation of Pierce Street. 
 
Motion carried, 7-0. 
 
VOICE VOTE 



 
Birmingham Planning Board Proceedings  
April 24, 2019 

 

3 
 

Yeas: Share, Williams, Clein, Boyle, Emerine, Jeffares, Whipple-Boyce 
Nays: None  
 
Motion by Mr. Share 
Seconded by Mr. Williams to recommend approval of the Final Site Plan for 203 Pierce 
- Toast, which includes the original seating plan contained in the applicant’s submittal 
materials and the letter of April 18, 2019. With reference to Article 7, Section 7.2.7, 
all of the site plan issues are satisfied.  
 
Motion carried, 7-0. 
 
 
 



BIRMINGHAM CITY COMMISSION MINUTES 

JUNE 3, 2019 

MUNICIPAL BUILDING, 151 MARTIN 

7:30 P.M. 

I. CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

Mayor Patty Bordman called the meeting to order at 7:30 PM. 

II. ROLL CALL

Present: Mayor Bordman 
Mayor Pro Tem Boutros 
Commissioner DeWeese 
Commissioner Hoff 
Commissioner Nickita 
Commissioner Sherman 

Absent: Commissioner Harris 

Administration:  City Manager Valentine, City Attorney Currier, Communications Director Byrnes, 
Police Chief Clemence, Planning Director Ecker, DPS Manager Filipski, Finance Director Gerber, 
Building Official Johnson, City Clerk Mynsberge, DPS Director Wood 

ndupuis
Highlight

ndupuis
Highlight



5 June 3, 2019 

VI. NEW BUSINESS

06-149-19 PUBLIC HEARING TO CONSIDER A SPECIAL LAND USE 
AMENDMENT AND LIQUOR LICENSE OWNERSHIP CHANGE FOR 
TOAST – 203 PIERCE 

Mayor Bordman opened the public hearing at 7:58. 

Commissioner Nickita recused himself due to a current business relationship with one of the 
owners of the building as well as the applicant. 

Planning Director Ecker presented the item. 

Commissioner Hoff pointed out that on the special land use permit application, the hours of 
operation under outdoor dining facility differ from what was just presented.  If the restaurant 
remains open for dinner, wouldn’t the outdoor dining area stay open when weather permits?  

Planning Director Ecker expressed that it was probably a mistake on the application and advised 
Commissioner Hoff to refer those questions to the applicant. 

Attorney Kelly Allen, representing Toast, introduced Rita Bloom and Tony Micelli of Toast. 
Attorney Allen stated, in regard to Commissioner Hoff’s question, a letter was submitted on April 
18th and it reflected the hours that you see in the packet.  The outdoor dining area will be open 
the same hours as the operation of the restaurant. 

Mayor Bordman expressed that she was very pleased to see the willingness to make changes to 
the hours so that evening dining is available and said she will be supportive of the application. 

Commissioner Sherman expressed that he was also very pleased and has no issue with the 
restaurant being closed some evenings at dinner time, but, he is a little concerned with closing 
at 8:00 or 9:00 p.m. on Thursday, Friday, and Saturday when there are a lot of people walking 
around and many restaurants are having their first seating. He asked the owners to consider 
staying open until 10:00 p.m. Thursday through Saturday. 

Attorney Allen, owner representative, responded with a respectful no.  In the past, there has not 
been a demand for dinner at Toast and that is why the hours were cut back.   Ms. Bloom, partner, 
explained that they have tried many combinations of lunch and dinner without success.  She 
added that they are going to continue to try and find a sweet spot for evening hours by putting 
a fun twist on breakfast at night. 

Commissioner Sherman went on to advise the restaurant to stay open until “at least 8:00 p.m.”  
He encouraged late hours on the weekend because the restaurant is a big space to have closed 
during the dinner hour.  Commissioner Sherman also reminded the commission that the goal of 
the Bistro Ordinance was to enliven the streets and to bring traffic downtown.  To have one bistro 
on Pierce Street with the lights off is not what the commission envisioned. 

Mayor Bordman agreed with Commissioner Sherman’s suggestion on the change of wording to 
allow the applicant to eventually grow the business and extend hours of operation. 

Commissioner DeWeese expressed that by changing the agreement to read “minimum” hours of 
operation, the applicant has the flexibility to best serve the customer. 

ndupuis
Highlight



6 June 3, 2019 

Mayor Pro Tem Boutros was supportive but struggled with the applicant limiting their hours. He 
wondered if it is a staffing issue and said he believes that they can be successful if marketing and 
advertising strategies are used to increase the dinner crowd.   

Ms. Bloom explained that it is not a staffing issue, it is a brand issue.  She explained that the 
brand is a breakfast and lunch bistro.  Incorporating dinner into a strong breakfast brand suggests 
that people will double down on a restaurant for three meals.  People generally go to the applicant 
for breakfast and lunch; it is going to be a struggle to push the hours that the Commission is 
requiring.  

Commissioner Hoff supported approval of the proposal with the suggestions of other 
Commissioners. She also expressed confidence in what the restaurant owner says is best for her 
establishment. 

Attorney Allen called attention to an error in the letter of April 18th, listing hours of operation on 
Sunday from 7am – 4 pm.  The hours are 8:00a.m. – 4 p.m. on Sunday.  She requested that the 
letter be amended to reflect the correction. 

Commissioner Hoff asked if the applicant would consider staying in business without the bistro 
license.  The answer was an emphatic no. 

Maureen Sarle, 1585 Henrietta and 12 year Birmingham resident, stated that she likes Toast and 
asked Ms. Bloom if the applicant ever marketed breakfast for dinner. Ms. Bloom’s response was 
yes. 

Aljosa Krajisnik, a millennial, asked if dinner prices are similar to Leo’s Coney Island (under 
$10.00) which can attract people 24 hours per day.  

Ms. Bloom explained her prices are more than $10.00 for dinner but admitted to being on the 
lower end of Birmingham dinner prices.  

Mayor Bordman closed the public hearing at 8:16 p.m. 

MOTION:  Motion by Commissioner DeWeese, and seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Boutros: 
To approve a Special Land Use Permit Amendment for 203 Pierce, aka Toast, to reflect an 
ownership change and change in the hours of operation, with the correction of Sunday hours to 
8:00 a.m. until 4:00 p.m. and the amendment of language to read “the applicant shall maintain 
minimum hours of operation.”. 

AND 
To authorize the Chief of Police to sign the MLCC Police Investigation Report (LC-1800) and to 
approve the liquor license request of Toast Birmingham, LLC that requests a transfer of interest 
in a Class C License to be issued under MCL 436.1521(A)(1)(B) and SDM License with Outdoor 
Service (1 Area) located at 203 Pierce, Birmingham, Oakland County, MI 48009. Furthermore, 
pursuant to Birmingham City Ordinance, to authorize the City Clerk to complete the Local Approval 
Notice at the request of Toast Birmingham, LLC approving the liquor license transfer request of 
Toast Birmingham, LLC that requested a Class C License be transferred under MCL 436.1521 
(A)(1)(B) & SDM License with Outdoor Service (1 Area) located at 203 Pierce, Birmingham, 
Oakland County, MI 48009.  Formal resolution appended to these minutes as Attachment A. 

VOTE: Yeas, 5 
Nays, 0 



1 

 
 

  MEMORANDUM 
 

Finance Department 
 
DATE:   December 7, 2021 
 
TO:   Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 
 
FROM:  Mark Gerber, Director of Finance/Treasurer 
 
SUBJECT: 48th District Court FY 2022 Budget 

 
INTRODUCTION: 
Every year the 48th District Court prepares an annual budget which must be approved by the four 
funding units:  City of Birmingham, City of Bloomfield Hills, Bloomfield Township, and West 
Bloomfield Township.   
 
BACKGROUND: 
In accordance with the 1985 agreement, revenues and Court expenditures are allocated to the 
four control units, which include the cities of Birmingham and Bloomfield Hills and the townships 
of Bloomfield and West Bloomfield, in the same proportion as the number of cases arising from 
each unit.   At the end of each calendar year following the Court’s audit, an adjustment is made 
for the difference between those amounts advanced based on the estimate and the actual 
caseload of each control unit under the agreement as well as the court revenue. 
 
Four municipal governments fund the budget of the 48th District Court:  City of Birmingham, City 
of Bloomfield Hills, Bloomfield Township, and West Bloomfield Township.  The expenditure budget 
of the court is allocated to each municipality based on that municipality’s percentage of the total 
case load of the court.  The City’s percentage of the caseload for just the funding units was 
22.85% in calendar year 2020 and is projected to remain approximately the same in 2021 at 
22.27%.  Each quarter, the City advances 25% of the City’s allocation of the total expenditure 
budget to the Court.  Revenue generated by the court is also distributed to each municipality 
based on the percentage of caseload except for cost of prosecution reimbursements which are 
specific to each municipality.   
 
Attached is the proposed 2022 budget for the 48th Judicial District Court.  In total, the Court is 
requesting an operating budget of $4,689,032 which represents an increase of $85,644, or 
1.86%, from the 2021 budget.  Increases are proposed for salaries, benefits, operations and 
professional fees while security & other expenses and capital expenses are proposed to decrease.  
 
Salaries:  For 2022, salaries are proposed to increase $34,809, or 1.9%, from the 2021 budget.   
 
Benefit Expenses:  This budgeted category is proposed to increase by $10,000, or 1% from the 
2021 budget.  The change is the result of an increase in health and other insurances which was 
partially offset by a decrease in defined contribution expense.  
 



2 

 
 

Operating Expenses:  For 2022, operating expenses are proposed to increase by $52,835, or 
3.8% from the 2021 budget.  This is primarily the result of an increase in rent of $50,835 from 
2021’s budget.  Additionally, payroll tax expense is proposed to increase $2,000.  
 
Professional Fees:  Overall this budgeted category is proposed to increase by $5,000, or 2.9%, 
from 2021’s budget as a result of an increase in magistrate’s expense.  
 
Security & Other Expenses:  This category is proposed to decrease $12,000, or 8.7%, primarily 
as a result of a decrease in court security of $7,000 and a decrease in library/dues/certifications 
of $5,000.   
 
Equipment & Capital:  Expenditures for this category are proposed to decrease by $5,000, or 
2.9%, primarily as a result of a decrease in equipment rental of $10,000 which was partially offset 
by an increase in equipment maintenance of $5,000. 
 
LEGAL REVIEW: 
No legal review is required. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
The Court is estimating that its expenditures will be under budget by $882,597 for 2021.  The 
City’s caseload for 2021 is projected to be 22.27%.  Based on this, the City’s expected portion of 
the Court’s expenditures is projected to be approximately $828,620.  The Court is projecting 2021 
court revenue of $695,542 for Birmingham.  This leaves a shortage of approximately $133,000 
for 2021 that the City has to absorb.  
 
Based on the budget presented and the projected caseload for 2022, the City would advance the 
Court approximately $1,044,250 for their fiscal year 2022.  It is very difficult to project court 
revenues in the current COVID environment.  As explained in the Court’s COVID Measures at the 
beginning of the budget document, the Court has undertaken several strategies to minimize the 
fiscal impact of their operations on the funding units.  
 
PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
None. 
 
SUMMARY: 
It is recommended that the City Commission approve the 48th District Court budget as submitted.   
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. 48th District Court Proposed Budget for FY 2022 
 
SUGGESTED RESOLUTION:  Make a motion adopting a resolution approving the 48th District Court 
budget for fiscal year 2022 as submitted. 
 
 
 
 
 



7A



































7B



















  DATE:          12/8/2021 

TO: Tom Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Alexandra Bingham, City Clerk 

SUBJECT:                  2022 Annual Review of Fee Schedule 

INTRODUCTION: 
The fee required to be paid and the amount of any bond required to be posted, or 
insurance required to be carried, to obtain any license to engage in the operation, 
conduct or carrying on of any trade, profession, business or privilege for which a license 
is required by the provisions of the Birmingham City Code is set by the City Commission 
through the Schedule of Fees, Charges, Bonds and Insurance. 

Each year the fee schedule is reviewed by City departments to determine whether 
amendments are needed to cover the costs of service and processing. 

BACKGROUND: 
On the attached 2021 Proposed Fee Schedule, proposed changes are noted with the 
following codes: 

CHANGE CODES AS LISTED ON THE FEE SCHEDULE 
A Fee has remained the same for many years 
B Proposed fee covers current costs 
C Pass through costs that reflect actual cost of service 
D Fee consistent with neighboring communities 
E New Fee 
F Increase to cover normal inflationary increase 
G No longer provide this service 
H Other 

Proposed changes for the 2022 Fee Schedule include: 

Community Development 
 The Community Development Department is proposing an additional fee for online 
submissions to cover pass-through costs for using the web based service for 
documents.  

MEMORANDUM 
City Clerk's Office 

7C



 Department of Public Services 
 Well (irrigation) permit has been moved to engineering to reflect the department which 
reviews the permit.  
 
 Engineering 
 The proposed Engineering Fee changes are updated to reflect actual costs, 
recommended increases will better cover the actual costs of in office and in field reviews 
related to permits. Increase to the trench maintenance fee reflects actual costs 
associated with upkeep of the trench material costs and labor estimated from the 
current 2021 asphalt contract. This includes time to review and follow up on repairs. 
An addition of a fee for online submission is required to cover the pass-through cost 
for using the web based service for documents.  New fees associated with 5G Small 
Cell work are required for New Pole and Colocation work, these fees are set by the 
State. General permit fees are being updated to match minimum requirements or cover 
actual costs of the permits, these fees cover the basic costs of staff to review and 
enforce permits. Well (irrigation) permit has been moved to engineering to reflect what 
department reviews the permit.  
 
 Fire Department 
 The Birmingham Fire Department recommends increasing the 2022 ALSII and ALS I 
emergency transport and BLS emergency transport fees to the Blue Cross Blue Shield 
and Medicare 2022 acceptable payable amounts. This fee increase was recommended 
by the City’s third party medical billing company MHR. This fee increase helps to offset 
increased medical supply and personnel cost for 2022. 
 
 Public Records Policy 
 The Public Records Policy as it relates to FOIA was reviewed and updated. Item 8 
(relating to ordering copies of the Annual Budget and Audit) was removed by the 
Finance Department, due to the ability to print the Annual Budget and Audits in office 
from digital files, making ordering them unnecessary. Item 13 was updated by the 
Police Department to reflect current offerings of police video which may be requested 
under FOIA. 

 
LEGAL REVIEW: 

 The City Attorney has reviewed the fee schedule and is satisfied the fees are 
reflective of actual costs to the City in compliance with State of Michigan laws. 

 
FISCAL IMPACT: 

Most of the proposed changes in the fee schedule are to offset an increase in operating 
costs. The overall financial impact for the City will be an increase in revenues from 
charges for services which will keep these costs from being funded by property taxes. 
The new fees for small cell permits will increase the City’s revenues for the initial 
installation of the cells. The increase in revenues will be dependent on the number of 
providers that come into the City and the number of cells installed. This revenue is a 
one-time revenue source.   
 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
Fee Schedule for Review is included in the Commission Packet, which is available 



online for residents to review, and public comment as available per the Commission 
approval process. Departments will update their information on the website and any 
appropriate documents to reflect the changes after Commission approval. 

 
SUMMARY: 

As a result of the annual review of City fees, the Community Development, Department 
of Public Services, Engineering, and Fire Departments are recommending presented 
fees in line with actual costs of the fee schedule for 2022. Also recommended is clean 
up language of the Public Records Policy as it relates to the Finance and Police 
Departments. 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 
1. 2022 Proposed Fee Schedule 
2. Public Records Policy 

 
SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 

Make a motion adopting a resolution to amend the 2022 Schedule of Fees, Charges, 
Bonds and Insurance, in the Community Development Department, Department of 
Public Services, Engineering Department, and Fire Department as stated in this report, 
and to adopt the revised Public Records Policy.  
 
 
 



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Definitions Fee Schedule
   

Page 1 of 32



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Definitions Fee Schedule
   

Page 2 of 32



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Standard Insurance Requirements Fee Schedule
   

Page 3 of 32

STANDARD INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS
Where insurance is required to be carried to make application for a permit or license, the applicant shall procure and 
maintain the following coverages and limits unless otherwise specified in this document.

Workers’ compensation insurance.   Workers’ compensation insurance, including employers’ liability coverage, in 
accordance with all applicable statutes of the state.  

Commercial general liability (CGL) insurance.  Commercial general liability insurance on an “occurrence basis,” with limits 
of liability not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence combined single limit, personal injury, bodily injury and property 
damage.  Coverage shall include broad form general liability extensions or equivalent.

Motor vehicle liability insurance. Motor vehicle liability insurance, including all applicable no-fault coverages, with limits of 
liability of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence combined single limit bodily injury and property damage.  Coverage 
shall include all owned vehicles, all non-owned vehicles, and all hired vehicles.

Additional insured.  Commercial general liability insurance and motor vehicle liability insurance as described above shall 
include an endorsement stating the following shall be Additional Insureds : The City of Birmingham, including all elected 
and appointed officials, all employees and volunteers, all boards, commissions and/or authorities and board members, 
including employees and volunteers thereof.  This coverage shall be primary to any other coverage that may be available 
to the additional insured, whether any other available coverage be primary, contributing or excess. 

Professional liability.  Professional liability insurance with limits of not less than $1,000,000 per claim if providing service 
that is customarily subject to this type of coverage.

Cancellation notice.  Thirty days advance written notice of insurance cancellation,  non-renewal and/or reduction or 
material change in coverage shall be provided to the city.  Notice of cancellation, material change or reduction shall be 
attached to the certificate of insurance, or otherwise evidenced as in effect under the policy listed.

Proof of insurance coverage.  The city shall be provided with certificates of insurance evidencing the coverages outlined 
above.

Expiration.  If any of the above coverages expire, renewal certificates and/or policies must be provided to the city at least 
ten days prior to the expiration date.

Acceptability of insurance company.  All coverages shall be with insurance carriers licensed to do business in the state.  All 
coverages shall be with carriers acceptable to the city.



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Date Amended Fee Schedule
   

Page 4 of 32

DATE AMENDED RESOLUTION NUMBER SECTION
2/22/2010 02-30-10 Police - Parking Offenses and Fines
3/8/2010 03-44-10 Engineering - Schedule of Parking Fees
3/8/2010 03-48-10 Fire - EMS Transportation Fees
3/22/2010 03-37-10 Community Development - Vacant Property Registration 

Fee
5/10/2010 05-118-10 DPS - Water; Finance - Sewer Service Rates
6/14/2010 06-150-10 Engineering - Bidding Document Fee and Private Building 

Sewer Investigation Program Fee
6/28/2010 06-172-10 DPS - Sewer Lateral Fee
2/14/2011 02-38-11 Clerk - Voter Information Fees, Valet Parking Fee      

Museum - Research Fee                                             
Police - Non-metered zone, Precious Metal Dealer Fee

3/21/2011 03-72-11 DPS - Annual Dog Park Pass
4/11/2011 04-89-11 Clerk - Vendor and Peddler Fees
5/23/2011 05-141-11 DPS & Finance - Water/Sewer Rates
6/27/2011 06-172-11 DPS - Wedding Ceremony Fees
7/25/2011 07-190-11 DPS - Water and Sewer Connection Fees
3/19/2012 03-74-12 Clerk - Alcoholic Beverages for Consumption on the Premises 

Fee, Animal License Fee, Annual Licenses Criminal Background 
Check Fee, Frozen Confection Vendor Insurance Requirements                                         
Community Development - Lot Division Fee, Temporary Use 
Permit Fee, Zoning Ordinance Fees, Zoning Complinance Fees                                                                                
DPS - Water and Sewer Connection Fees, Wedding Rental 
(Parks) Fee                                                                             
Fire - EMS Transport Service Fee, Fire Code Operational Permits

6/11/2012 06-163-12 DPS - Water; Finance - Sewer Service Rates
9/10/2012 09-257-12 Museum - Allen House Event Request
12/17/2012 12-356-12 Clerk - Cemetery Fees
3/18/2013 03-100-13 DPS - Water and Sewer Connection Fees                                      

Community Development - Contractor Registration Fees, 
Bond Range

5/20/2013 05-163-13 DPS & Finance - Water/Sewer Rates  (effective 7/1/13)
7/8/2013 07-203-13 Clerk - Special Event Fees
7/22/2013 07-211-13 DPS - Water/Sewer Connection Fees
12/16/2013 12-356-13 DPS - Water Meter Opt Out Plan Fees 
4/28/2014 04-98-14 Community Development - Lot Division Fees, Mechanical & 

Refrigeration Permit Fees, Zoning Ordinance Fees        
Fire - EMS Transport Fees,  Water  Fee, Permit Fee,                                                      
DPS - Frozen Water Line Fee, Water & Sewer Connection 
Fees, Water Disconnection Fee                                 
Police - Investigation Fees

5/19/2014 05-118-14 DPS - Water; Finance - Sewer Service Rates (effective 
7/1/14)

7/28/2014 07-187-14 DPS - Grass & Noxious Weeds Civil Infraction
3/30/2015 03-63-15 Clerk - background check fees, DPS - Refuse Collection & 

Water and Sewer Connection fees, Fire - Hydrant Use fees

4/27/2015 04-86-15 Engineering - Monthly Parking Permit Rates (effective 
7/1/15)

5/18/2015 05-112-15 DPS - Water; Finance - Sewer Service Rates (effective 
7/1/15)

8/10/2015 08-174-15 Clerk - Cemetery Fees
9/10/2015 09-191-15 Police - Pedicabs & Quadricycle Fees
3/28/2016 03-99-16 Fire - BLS Transportation & Loaded Mile Fees, move 

Hydrant Fees to DPS section.                                                                 
Building - swimming pool & replacement window bonds & 
lawn sprinkler and water heater update

6/6/2016 06-183-16 Engineering - Daily Parking Rate at all parking structures 
(effective 7/1/16)



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Date Amended Fee Schedule
   

Page 5 of 32

6/27/2016 06-203-16 DPS - Water; Finance - Sewer Service Rates (effective 
7/1/16)

8/8/2016 08-252-16 Community Development - Lot Division Fee for 
Combination of Platted Lot

12/5/2016 12-364-16 Engineering (DPS) Trench maintenance fee;  
12/5/2016 12-364-16 Community Development -Text change; Vents and 

Exhaust Fans (under 1500 C.F.M.) fee change
12/12/2016 12-376-16 Fire Department - Non-electronic reporting Administrative 

fee
2/27/2017 02-50-17 Engineering - Storm Water Utiity Fees & Credits
5/22/2017 05-140-17 Engineering-$.50 increase in all parking meter rates; 

Police-Daily Meter Bag Fee; City Clerk-Outdoor Dining Café 
Platform Fees, Removal/restoration of parking meter 
housings, valet parking Bag Meter Fee

6/26/2017 06-180-17 DPW & Finance - Water/Sewer Rate Changes for 2017-
2018

12/11/2017 12-339-17 Clerk-Removal of Taxicabs due to State law. Community 
Development-increases in Site Evaluation fees & text 
change to include impervious surfaces

2/26/2018 02-057-18 Community Development - Adding Construction Site 
Maintenance Violations (Sec. 50-29)

6/25/2018 06-188-18 Water/Sewer Rate Changes for 2018-2019. Effective July 
1, 2018.

9/17/2018 09-256-18 City Clerk-Addition, under Alcoholic Beverages 
Consumption on the Premises, of Administrative Applicant 
Review fee.

1/28/2019 01-026-19 Clerk: remove passport fee; increase application fee.     
Building: increase Site Evaluation fees.              
Community Development: Cross Connections relocated to  
Department of Public Services section; remove clause at 
end of section regarding reduced SLU permit fees.     
Engineering: remove Private Building Sewer Investigation 
Program; increase Trench Maintenance ROW fee; add 
Small Cell Monthly License fees.                                           
Fire Dept.: increase transport fees.                         
Museum: Limited use fees specified for Allen House; 
limited use fees added for Parks/Grounds.

10/28/2019 10-259-19 Engineering;Waive fees  for replacement of lead water 
services

11/25/2019 11-280-19 Clerk; Increase fee for Full Burial in Greenwood Cemetery 
to be consistent with other Oakland County cemeteries

12/16/2019 11-306-19 Engineering-Increase fees for: Right-of-Way Permits,Soil 
erosion & sediment control permit fees, Stormwater runoff 
permit fee, Streets & Sidewalks permit fees: curb closing, 
curb cuts, driveways, sidewalks, excavations; and 
Obstructions permits.                                                  
Fire Department-Increase fees for ALS Emergency and 
Non-Emergency Transport.                                                         

12/21/2020 12-286-20 Engineering - Increase to bidding document fees
Fire - increases to emergenct transport fees

3/22/2021 03-098-21 Grave Price increase for space that accomidates one full 
burial or up to 3 cremains from $3000 to $4000. 

4/26/2021 04-127-21 Greenwood Cemetary increases to: grave space 
accomodating two and one cremains, fee for transfer of 
ownership, additional equip fees applicable for 
disinterment, marker installation (single and companion), 
marker or monument resets, and hourly overtime fee time 
changes.

10/24/2021 10-268-21 Remove usage of Shain Park Wedding Rental, Increase in 
wedding rental cost and security deposit for remaining 
parks



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Change Codes Fee Schedule
   

Page 6 of 32



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Clerk Fee Schedule
   

Page 7 of 32

CITY CLERK'S OFFICE  EXISTING 
FEE 

PROPOSED 
FEE

CHANGE 
CODE

STAFF

1,500.00$  
 $     350.00 

350.00$         
1,500.00$     

 
 
 

 $         5.00 
 $       10.00 
 $       12.00 
 $       20.00 

 
 $     300.00      
 $       10.00      

 
5.00$          

No charge

 

150.00$          
100.00$          
100.00$          
100.00$          
100.00$          
100.00$          

  

 No charge 

100.00$     
300.00$     

  
50.00$            

  
  

 $       50.00      
 $       25.00      

 50.00$            
  

 $       50.00 

Dancing Schools (26-201)
Investigation and annual fee

Day Care (See Child Care Facilities)

Fumigation permit, per event
Insurance (58-144):  Standard insurance requirements plus environmental impairment/pollution liability 
coverage

Fumigation Contractor, annual fee

Plus for each dog in excess of ten

Charitable Solicitations (38-1)
Annual criminal background check - per person (to be provided by applicant using the Michigan State 
Police ICHAT system)

Child Care Facilities (58-106)
Annual criminal background check - per person (to be provided by applicant using the Michigan State 
Police ICHAT system)
Child Care Center annual fee
Initial investigation fee

All others
Deposit for clean up of lot (forfeited if not cleaned up by January 1st.)

Day care home, family annual fee
Initial investigation fee
Day care home, group annual fee
Initial investigation fee

Christmas Tree Sales (26-88)
December 1 through December 25 - non-profit corporations and merchants assessed for personal 
property

Alcoholic beverages for consumption on the premises
Initial fee
Administrative Applicant Review
Annual renewal
Transfer fee
Annual criminal background check - per person (to be provided by applicant using the Michigan State 
Police ICHAT system)

Animals (18-1)

Fumigation (58-141)

Stray animal fines:  See Police
Pet dog and cat licenses:

license for one year or less
license for two years
license for three years
license obtained 30 days after expiration

Kennels:
Annual fee

Auctions (See Initial Merchants)
Bicycle Rental Agencies (122-26) annual fee

Insurance: Motor vehicle liability insurance conforming with Michigan Vehicle Code § 520: $20,000 per 
person/$40,000 per accident for bodily injury claims/$10,000 for property damage per occurrence.

Garage Public  (54-26) - Annual Fee
Going out of Business (State Law)

Up to 30 days

Electronic Video Game (14-106)
Each game, annual fee (subject to additional fees and requirements for regulated use)

FOIA fees - See public records policy (attached)



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Clerk Fee Schedule
   

Page 8 of 32

CITY CLERK'S OFFICE  EXISTING 
FEE 

PROPOSED 
FEE

CHANGE 
CODE

STAFF

       $       50.00 
  

 $  4,000.00      
 $     750.00      
 $  2,600.00      
 $  1,300.00      

200.00$     

Cremation 750.00$     

Full Burial 1,400.00$  

 
 $     125.00 
 $     250.00 
 $     350.00 

 
250.00$     
350.00$     

   

400.00$     

 

50.00$            
50.00$       

 75.00$       
 $     300.00      
 $     500.00      

 100.00$          
       
 50.00$            
 10.00$            
 50.00$            
       
       

50.00$            

100.00$          
125.00$          
150.00$          
200.00$          

Insurance: Motor vehicle liability insurance conforming with Michigan Vehicle Code § 520: $20,000 per 
person/$40,000 per accident for bodily injury claims/$10,000 for property damage per occurrence.

Open Parking Stations annual licenses (26-428)
Lots accommodating 25 cars or less
Lots accommodating 26-50 cars
Lots accommodating 51-75 cars
Lots accommodating 76 cars or more

Outdoor Amusements (14-161)

50+ Rooms
Initial Merchants:  (All types including transfers)
Kennels (See Animals)
Lumberyard annual fee
Marriage Ceremony Fee
Mechanical Amusement Device each device annual fee
(Subject to additional fees and requirements for regulated use.)
Motor vehicle rentals (122-26)

Annual fee

Insurance:  Standard insurance requirement, with coverage to include premises liability; personal injury 
liability; products liability; and horse or horses liability. (122-75)

Hotels/Motels  annual fee
1-50 Rooms

Marker or monument resets, reinstallations, raising & leveling:

Foundation installation charge as per above schedule, plus an hourly charge for removal of old 
foundation

Weekend, holiday, and overtime interments

Single
Companion

*additional fees may apply, depending on scope of work, equipment necessary and time required. 

Horse Drawn Carriages (122-71)
Company, annual fee
Carriage, each vehicle annual fee

Marker installation - single
Marker installation - companion

*additional equipment fees may apply for disinterment

This fee is in addition to the normal interment fee charged during regular working hours. Hourly 
overtime fees begin at 2 pm Monday - Saturday

Administrative fee for transfer of grave ownership
Interment and disinterment fees:

Foundation charges for markers & monuments:
Foundation Installment - per linear foot

Limit two renewals, each
Greenwood Cemetery (126-26)

Grave space accommodating one full burial or three cremations
Additional Rights of Burial for cremated remains, each
Grave space accommodating two cremated remains
Grave space accommodating one cremated remains



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Clerk Fee Schedule
   

Page 9 of 32

CITY CLERK'S OFFICE  EXISTING 
FEE 

PROPOSED 
FEE

CHANGE 
CODE

STAFF

      25.00$       
1,000.00$  

200.00$          
200.00$     

$1.00 Per Hour Meter Areas 2,280.00$  
$1.50 Per Hour Meter Areas 3,420.00$  

88.29$       
264.87$     
441.45$     

12.00$       
18.00$       

35.00$       

 $     500.00 

     
50.00$       
10.00$       

     

Annual criminal background check - per person (to be provided by applicant using the Michigan State 
Police ICHAT system)

Peddlers and Commercial Vendors (Chapter 26)
Annual criminal background check - per person (to be provided by applicant using the Michigan State 
Police ICHAT system)
Special Event and School Vendor/Athletic Vendor in City Park

Frozen Confection Vendor

Application Fee (per event/application)
Daily Fee (per day/location)
50% discount for Birmingham licensed merchants

Cancellation Notice , Thirty (30) days advance written notice of  cancellation, non-renewal, reduction of 
material change in coverage, will be provided to the City of Birmingham by the insurance carrier.

Proof of Insurance Coverage . The city shall be provided with certificates of insurance evidencing the 
coverages outlined above.

Acceptability of insurance company.  All coverages shall be with insurance carriers licensed to do 
business in the state.  All coverages shall be with carriers acceptable to the city.

Outdoor Dining Café Platform Meter Fees - Seasonal

Outdoor Dining Café Platform Meter Fees - Pro-Rated

Passports
Acceptance of passport application

Pawnshops
Annual licensing fee

Outdoor Dining license annual fee
 Additional flat fee for off-season (subject to additional fees for use of city right of way)
Insurance:

Workers' Compensation Insurance , including Employer's Liability Insurance, in accordance with all 
acceptable statutes of the State of Michigan.

Commercial General Liability Insurance  on an occurrence basis with the limits of liability of not less than 
$1,000,000 per occurrence and aggregate of $2,000,000 for combined single limit personal injury and 
property damage, and shall include independent contractor's coverage and broad form general liability 
coverages. Liquor Liability Insurance (if liquor is to be served) on an occurrence basis with limits of 
liability of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence.

Additional Insured:   Commercial General Liability Insurance (and Liquor Liability, if applicable) shall name 
the City of Birmingham as additional insured for all activities connected with this Agreement and shall 
include an endorsement stating the following as: "Additional Insureds:  The City of Birmingham , all 
elected and appointed officials, all employees and volunteers, all boards, commissions, and/or authorities 
and their board members, including employees and volunteers thereof.  This coverage shall be primary to 
the additional insureds, and not contributing with any other insurance or similar protection available to 
the additional insured, whether said other available coverage be primary, contributory or excess,  The 
authorized representative of the insurance carrier acknowledges that it has read the insurance provisions 
of the agreement between the City of Birmingham and the insured."

Annual fee
Surety bond or cash deposit

$1.00 Per Hour Meter Areas (per space, per day)
$1.50 Per Hour Meter Areas (per space, per day)

Removal of parking meter housing and/or posts - minimum fee (cost)
Removal of parking meter housing and/or posts - 1 meter space (cost)
Removal of parking meter housing and/or posts - 2 meter spaces (cost)



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Clerk Fee Schedule
   

Page 10 of 32

CITY CLERK'S OFFICE  EXISTING 
FEE 

PROPOSED 
FEE

CHANGE 
CODE

STAFF

      80.00$       
26.00$       

500.00$     

     
50.00$       
16.00$       
10.00$       

1,825.00$  
50.00$            

150.00$     
75.00$       

 $  1,000.00    
 $     200.00    
 $       50.00 

 $     165.00    
 $     200.00    

500.00$     

 $       50.00    

1,000.00$  
500.00$     

50.00$       
20.00$       

 $     500.00 
 $     750.00 
 $  1,000.00 
 $     216.00 

Annual license fee
One Day Valet Permit fee
Valet parking card deposit, per card
Fees per car:

1-100 cars, pre-paying for six months in advance, per month
101-200 cars, pre-paying for six months in advance, per month

Peddling

Poolroom, each billiard or pool table annual fee
(subject to additional fees for regulated use)

Application Fee (per event/application)
Amendment to the Application
Daily Fee Option (per day/location)
Yearly Fee Option (calendar year)

Application Fee 
Amendment to the Application
Annual License Fee
Insurance:  Standard Insurance Requirements

201 and above cars, pre-paying for six months in advance, per month
Valet Parking Meter Bag Fees - (Monthly)

Insurance:  Workers' compensation insurance, including employers' liability coverage, in accordance with 
all applicable statutes of the state. Garage liability insurance with limits of liability of not less than 
$1,000,000 per occurrence; or commercial general liability insurance endorsed to provide the equivalent 
of this coverage. Garage keepers legal liability insurance with limits of liability of not less than 
$100,000.00 per occurrence; or commercial general liability insurance endorsed to provide the 
equivalent of this coverage.

Valet Parking
Annual criminal background check - per person (to be provided by applicant using the Michigan State 
Police ICHAT system)
Initial application fee

Refuse Collector:  (Chapter 90)
Annual fee first truck
Each additional truck
Insurance: Proof of workers compensation coverage, motor vehicle liability insurance and the VIN number 
of each vehicle must be provided to the city prior to obtaining a license.

Regulated Uses not otherwise listed Chapter 26:
Application fee
Annual licensing fee

Rollerskating rinks annual fee (Chapter 14)
Special Events (98-140) non-refundable application fee

Annual Application fee
First Time Event Application fee

Additional permit fees as determined by administrative staff due two weeks prior to event with insurance 
documents. Insurance: Standard insurance requirements 

Annual maintenance fee as determined by the Metro
Authority pursuant to Act 48 of the Public Acts of 2002

Theatres annual fee 14.26

Telecommunications
Application fee



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Clerk Fee Schedule
   

Page 11 of 32

CITY CLERK'S OFFICE  EXISTING 
FEE 

PROPOSED 
FEE

CHANGE 
CODE

STAFF

      

15.00$       
5.00$          Voter Information List

2.  Two copies of certificate of insurance for garage liability insurance.
3.  Two copies of certificate of insurance for garage keepers legal liability insurance.
4.  If so requested, certified copies of all policies mentioned above will be furnished.
Expiration:  If any of the above coverages expire, renewal certificates and/or policies must be provided to 
the city at least ten days prior to the expiration date.

Cancellation notice:  Thirty (30) days advance written notice of insurance cancellation, nonrenewal, 
and/or reduction in material change in coverage must be provided to the city.  Notice of cancellation 
material change or reduction must be attached to the certificate of insurance, or otherwise evidenced as 
in effect under the policy listed.
Proof of insurance coverage:  The following certificates and policies shall be provided to the city:
1.  Two copies of certificate of insurance for workers' compensation insurance.

Acceptability of insurance company:  All coverages shall be with insurance carriers licensed to do 
business in the state.  All coverages shall be with carriers acceptable to the city.

Voter Information
Daily Absentee Voter List

Additional insured: Garage liability and garage keepers legal liability insurance, as described above, shall 
name the city as additional  insured for all activities connected with the valet parking service and shall 
include an endorsement stating the following as "additional insured": the city, all elected and appointed 
officials, all employees and volunteers, all boards, commissions, and/or authorities and their board 
members, including employees and volunteers thereof.  This coverage shall be primary to the additional 
insureds, and not contributing with any other insurance or similar protection available to the additional 
insured, whether said other available coverage be primary, contributing or excess.



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Community Development Fee Schedule
   

Page 12 of 32

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPT.               EXISTING 
FEE 

PROPOSED 
FEE

CHANGE 
CODE

STAFF

 $     100.00 
   

 $  1,500.00 
   

 N/A $2.00 C BJ
  

  

   

   

  $       85.00      

 

 

 

 

 $     100.00      
 $     200.00 
 $     300.00 
 $     500.00 
 $  1,000.00 
 $  1,000.00 
 $     500.00 

In addition to the required building permit fee, a cash bond must be posted at the time the permit is 
issued in accordance with the following schedule:

Construction value between $0-$10,000
Construction value between $10,001-$50,000
Construction value between $50,001-$100,000
Construction value between $100,001-$500,000
Construction value of $500,001 and up

The building permit fee is determined from the total construction value as shown in the most recent 
edition of the ICC Building Evaluation Data Square foot construction costs.  For all use groups except 
one and two family residential, the minimum square foot construction cost is 100% of the value  
shown in construction costs table; for renovations the minimum square foot construction costs is 50% 
of the value shown in the table.  For residential one and two family structures, the minimum square 
foot construction cost is $125.

Permit fees are computed at $85.00 for the first $1,000 of construction valuation; $10.00 for each 
additional $1,000 (or fraction thereof) up to $100,000 of construction valuation; and $15.00 for each 
additional $1,000 (or fraction thereof) over $100,000 of construction valuation.

 Refunds of any permit fees are subject to a minimum of 25 percent for administrative services with no 
construction work commencing. After construction has started, fees will be refunded proportionately 
as determined by the building official.  Any permit fee for construction that is 75 percent or more 
completed will not be refunded.

When a plan is required to be submitted, a plan review fee must be paid at the time of submitting 
plans and specifications for review.  The review fee shall be $85.00 for projects up to $10,000 in 
construction value; all other plan examination fees shall be computed as shown below:

Construction value up to $10,000
Construction Value from $10,001 to $500,000  

Construction Value over $500,000

The building plan review fee shall be multiplied by 1.25 when MEAP  reviews are required.
An administrative fee equal to the permit fee may be charged in addition to the permit fee, when 
work is started and/or completed without first obtaining the permit.  Plan review fees are not 
refundable.

Window Permits
Upon satisfactory completion of all final inspections required, and the issuance of a certificate of 
occupancy, if applicable, the construction bond will be returned upon request without interest.

Swimming Pools

(e) Construction Bonds

(d) Plan examination fees:

(b) Total Construction Valuation:

(c) Refunds:

 Construction value multiplied by 0.0020 
$150.00 minimum 

 $1,000 plus construction value multiplied by 
0.0010 

Building Permits (Chapter 22)

(a) Building permit fees:
Online Application Fee

Administrative approval (Planning Department)
Brownfield Developments

Application fee non-refundable and non-reimbursable
Outside consultant fees reimbursement:

Where a review of applications, plans, construction documents, Brownfield development documents 
or any other documents is performed by outside consultants engaged by the city, a review fee shall be 
charged at 1.05 times the actual cost.  Payment shall be in advance of the review based on estimated 
cost.



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Community Development Fee Schedule
   

Page 13 of 32

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPT.               EXISTING 
FEE 

PROPOSED 
FEE

CHANGE 
CODE

STAFF

    $       50.00      

 $     310.00      
 $     510.00      

 $     100.00 
 $     250.00 
 $     500.00 
 $     500.00 

 $     500.00 

 $       25.00      
 $       25.00      
 $         5.00      
 $       15.00      

 N/A $2.00 C BJ
 $     125.00      
 $     200.00      
 $     300.00      

 $     100.00 
##########

 N/A $2.00 C BJ
 $       50.00      
 $       50.00      
 $       15.00    
 $         8.00    
 $       20.00    
 $       20.00    
 $       15.00    
 $       50.00    

      
 $       25.00    
 $       15.00    

      
 $       30.00    
 $       10.00    
 $       20.00    

When a temporary certificate of occupancy is issued prior to completion of the entire work covered by 
the permit, a cash bond shall be posted in an amount as determined by the building official up to 
$10,000 for residential dwellings and $100,000 for commercial buildings or spaces based on the cost 
of completing all remaining and outstanding work.

A bond shall be posted prior to the issuance of a building permit for new construction in the amount of 
$5,000 to assure that the public right-of-way is properly maintained at all times during construction.  
This includes the replacement of city sidewalk, curb and gutter, and the re-establishment of green 
space in the public right-of-way.

Commercial fire alarms:

120 volt or 277 volt each additional circuit
Each 208V, 240V, 480V branch circuits
First 25 lights, receptacles and switches
Each additional set of 20
First sign
Feeders/Buss Ducts:

First 100 feet
Over 100 feet

Fire alarm panel
Each alarm device
Residential smoke detectors up to 8 units, 120 volts

3,000 to 50,000 cubic feet
More than 50,000 cubic feet
Performance cash bond:
Minimum (as determined by the building official)
Maximum (as determined by the building official)

Electrical Installation (Chapter 22)

Base fee
Reinspection Fee
120 volt or 277 volt first circuit

Online Application Fee

Building Permit Holders
Five or more violations at same site within one calendar month

Contractor Annual Registration Fees
Building Contractor
Electrical Contractor
Mechanical Contractor
Plumbing Contractor

Demolition of Buildings

Less that 3,000 cubic feet
Online Application Fee

Board of Building Trades Appeals
Single family residential
All other construction

Construction Site Maintenance Violations (Sec. 50-29)
Municipal Civil Infraction Penalty
First Offense
Second Offense
Subsequent Offenses

(f) A reinspection fee may be required by the building official
(g) Bonding requirements for a temporary certificate of occupancy:

(h) Bonding requirements for maintenance and replacements costs of public right-of-way facilities:



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Community Development Fee Schedule
   

Page 14 of 32

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPT.               EXISTING 
FEE 

PROPOSED 
FEE

CHANGE 
CODE

STAFF

    $       50.00    
 $       50.00    

      
 $       35.00    
 $       50.00    
 $     100.00    
 $       20.00    
 $       40.00    

      
 $       20.00    
 $       35.00    
 $       20.00    
 $       50.00    
 $       10.00    

      
 $       50.00    
 $       75.00    

      
 $       25.00    
 $       40.00    
 $       60.00    

      

 $       10.00 
 $     100.00 

   
    

 $     310.00      
 $     510.00      

   

 $     200.00      
 $     100.00      
 $     100.00      
 $     100.00      

   
   

 $     200.00 
   

 $     200.00 
 $     200.00 

   
 $     250.00      
 $       25.00      
 $     100.00      

   
 N/A $2.00 C BJ

 $       50.00      
   

 $       60.00      
 $       70.00      

New house construction minimum of four inspections requires An administrative fee equal to the 
permit fee may be charged in addition to the permit fee when work is started and/or completed 
without first obtaining the permit.

Appliances/disposal/dishwashers

5 ton or less each
Over 5 ton each

1/4 HP up to 10 HP each
Over 10 HP to 30 HP each
Over 30 HP each

Residential smoke alarm system less than 50 volts with panel

30 AMP to 200 AMP
201 AMP to 400 AMP
Over 401 AMP
A/C Interrupt service
Temporary service up to 200 AMP

Each additional sign
Each residential A/C
Furnace/unit heaters

Base Fee
Gas/oil furnace/boilers, etc:

100,000 BTU or less
Over 100,000

 Change of location (subject to additional fees for regulated use)
Mechanical Permits:

Online Application Fee

Services or transformers:

Sub panel:  Sidewalk inspection req:

Pools/hot tubs/spas

Commercial HVAC:

Boundary Adjustment for single family dwelling:
Separation of platted lots (fee per each lot)
Combination of platted lots (fee per each lot)

Massage Permits (26-251):
Investigation fee to operate massage facility (subject to additional fees for  regulated use)
Investigation fee to perform massage service  

One and two-family dwellings:
Building structure fee per dwelling unit
Electrical fee per dwelling unit
Plumbing fee per dwelling unit
Heating and refrigeration fee per dwelling unit

Landlord Licenses (See Rental Properties)
Lot Division (Chapter 102):

Fee per parcel created from each platted or unplatted lot (lot splits)

Motors - Commercial only:

Equipment installation permit fee
Final site inspection fee  (Planning Dept.)
Housing:

Housing Board of Appeals Fee:
Residential dwelling unit
Other - Commercial

Housing Inspections Owner Authorized:

Low voltage smoke alarm with panel



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Community Development Fee Schedule
   

Page 15 of 32

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPT.               EXISTING 
FEE 

PROPOSED 
FEE

CHANGE 
CODE

STAFF

    $       80.00      
 $       50.00      
 $       30.00      
 $       30.00      
 $       30.00 
 $       30.00 
 $       25.00 
 $       10.00 
 $       30.00     
 $         5.00 

       
       

 $       15.00 
 $       35.00    
 $       55.00 

      
 $       30.00    
 $       40.00    
 $       50.00 
 $       75.00 

 $       50.00 
 $       70.00 
 $       75.00    

 $       50.00    
 $         3.00    

 $       75.00    
 $       30.00    

 $       40.00    
   

Up to 10 HP  $       50.00 
10 HP up to 50 HP  $       70.00 
Over 50 HP  $       95.00 

  $       30.00    
  $       20.00    

 $       50.00    
 $       60.00    

 $       75.00    
 $       90.00    
 $       50.00    
 $       50.00    

   
 $       50.00    
 $       50.00    

Air handling systems:

Review fee for each newsrack box
Annual registration for each newsrack box

Geo Thermal:
Up to 100,000 BTU
Over 100,000 BTU

Additional reinspection
Reinspection fee

An administrative fee equal to the permit fee may be charged in addition to the permit fee, when work 
is started and/or completed without first obtaining the permit.

Newsracks (90-160)

Each additional system at same establishment
Refrigeration:

Self contained refrigeration systems
Remote refrigeration systems:

Water heater
Chimney liner
Hydronic Floor Heat:

Up to 2,000 square feet
Over 2,000 square feet

Standpipe systems:
2-1/2" thru 4"
Over 4"

Fire pumps & connections
Fire sprinkler system:

First head up to 20 heads
Each additional head

Hood and duct fire suppression systems:
Each establishment system- minimum

Under 1,500 c.f.m. each
1,500 to 10,000 c.f.m. each
Over 10,000 c.f.m. each

Heat Pumps:
To 50,000 BTU
To 200,000 BTU
To 500,000 BTU
Over 500,000 BTU

Fire Suppression Systems:

Humidified or air cleaner
Mfg, fireplace (gas or solid fuel), stoves (solid fuel) includes chimney
Gas or oil space heaters
Automatic flue damper
   as part of furnace
Gas piping - first two openings
   additional openings each

 Vents & Exhaust Fans:

Over 500,000
Ductwork
V.A.V. boxes (variable air volume) each



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Community Development Fee Schedule
   

Page 16 of 32

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPT.               EXISTING 
FEE 

PROPOSED 
FEE

CHANGE 
CODE

STAFF

   
N/A $2.00 C BJ

 $       50.00    
 $       15.00    
 $       25.00    
 $       15.00    
 $       50.00    
 $       15.00    
 $       20.00    
 $       25.00    
 $       40.00    
 $       15.00    
 $       15.00    
 $       15.00    
 $       30.00    
 $       15.00    
 $       15.00    
 $       15.00    
 $       15.00    
 $       15.00    
 $       50.00 
 $       15.00    
 $       50.00    
 $       15.00    
 $       15.00    
 $       50.00    
 $       60.00    
 $       75.00    
 $     100.00    
 $     100.00    
 $       15.00    
 $       15.00    
 $       15.00    
 $       30.00    
 $       15.00    
 $       15.00    

 $       30.00    
 $       30.00    
 $       35.00    
 $       45.00    
 $       60.00    
 $       70.00    
 $       75.00    
 $       30.00 

 $       65.00    
 $       65.00    
 $       65.00    
 $     125.00    
 $       50.00    
 $       50.00    

Urinal

Water Heater
Water service:

1 inch
1 1/2 inch
2 inches
Over 2 inches

Additional Inspection
Reinspections

Water closet
Water distribution:

3/4 inch
1 inch
1 1/4 inch and 1 1/2 inch
2 inches
3 inches
4 inches
Over 4 inches

Sewers to 8 inches
Sewers to 10 inches
Sewers to 12 inches
Sewers over 13 inches
Shower trap
Stacks, conductors
Stand pipe
Sump w. pump

Inside drain (weep tile)
Laundry tray
Lavatory
Lawn sprinkler - including Backflow Device
Miscellaneous equipment
Reinspection fee
Roof sump
Safe waste
Sewers to 6 inches

Dishwasher
Drains to 6 inches
Drains over 6 inches
Drinking fountain
Floor drain
Garbage disposal
Grease trap
Hose bibbs
Humidifier

Plumbing Permits

Base Fee
Automatic washer
Backflow preventer
Bathtub
Catchbasin
Dental Chair

Online Application Fee



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Community Development Fee Schedule
   

Page 17 of 32

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPT.               EXISTING 
FEE 

PROPOSED 
FEE

CHANGE 
CODE

STAFF

   

 $     125.00 
 $     225.00 
 $       50.00 
 $     100.00 

 $     150.00 

 $       75.00 
 $       75.00 
 $       25.00 

 current 

 $       75.00 

 $     500.00 

 $     125.00 

 $       40.00 
 $       75.00 

 N/A $2.00 C BJ
 $       50.00    

 $       50.00    
 $       25.00    
 $     200.00    

An administrative fee equal to the permit fee may be charged in addition to the permit fee, when work 
is started and/or completed without first obtaining the permit.

Production filming fees 114-168:
Permit application fee (non-refundable):

Motion picture, television, or video on private property only

The fee shall be increased by 50 percent for any application received more than 30 days after the 
required renewal date.

Signs (Chapter 86)

Construction 

Motion picture, television, or video on public property
Still photography only on private property
Still photography only on public property

Additional fee for expedited processing if less than normal processing time is required. (Late 
application processed at the discretion of the city manager or his/her designee)

Daily public property use fee (from prep to clean-up time):
Motion picture, television, or video, per day
Public property location holding - per day
On-street base camp - per day (if approved)
Parking space rental - per day

Extended hours of permitted filming activity:
Any film permitted activity beyond 7:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. or driving scenes on major, minor, or 
neighborhood roads requiring special barricades, noticing, and/or public safety personnel (hourly 
rates for staff time to be calculated and charged separately).

Security deposit:
A refundable security deposit may be required to cover any unanticipated city staff costs, clean-up 
costs, refund fees to user groups affected by the film permit activities, and/or other expenses not 
included/anticipated in the initial film permit fee calculation.

Staff costs:
Monitoring fee for additional police, fire, ordinance enforcement, public works, recreation and 
parks, or other staff as determined by the city manager or his/her designee; fee will be estimated 
based on hours needed and scheduled.  Staff time to be based on most current city overtime rate 
schedule and calculated and paid in advance of film permit activities.
Insurance: (Sec 14-172 (5) (6) (8) Standard insurance requirement plus limits of liability of not less 
than $5,000,000 per occurrence in the event motor vehicles, aircraft, helicopters, explosives or 
pyrotechnics are used in the activity.  Also, the permittee shall execute a hold-harmless agreement 
as provided by the city prior to the issuance of any permit.

Rental Properties
Fee for rented or leased premises:

First unit
For properties containing more than one unit:

Add, per additional unit or common/exterior area, to the one-unit fee
Additional re-inspection fee for rental properties requiring additional inspections, plus $25.00 for 
each additional unit beyond the first unit.

Temporary - non-residential zone districts - permit per 30 square feet or
fraction 86-133
Temporary - churches in residential zone districts 86-70
Marquee and roof annual fee
Others:

Online Application Fee



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Community Development Fee Schedule
   

Page 18 of 32

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPT.               EXISTING 
FEE 

PROPOSED 
FEE

CHANGE 
CODE

STAFF

    $         2.00    
 $     100.00    
 $       50.00    
 $       50.00    
 $       25.00 
 $     200.00    

 $       25.00 
 $       15.00 
 $  5,000.00 

 $       25.00 

 N/A $2.00 C BJ
 $     250.00 
 $     125.00 

$2,500.00    
$10.00

$1,000.00    

 N/A $2.00 C BJ
 $     100.00 
 $       25.00 
 $       50.00 
 $     100.00 

 $     100.00    
 $     100.00    
 $       75.00    
 $       55.00    
 $       45.00    

   
First offense  $     150.00 
Second offense and any other subsequent offense  $     500.00 

N/A $2.00 C BJ

 $     310.00    
 $     510.00    
 $  2,050.00 
 $     350.00 

 $              -   
 $     350.00 

 $       50.00 
 $     100.00 

Online Application Fee

Fee
Temporary Structure (Tents, Canopies, etc)

Permit per square foot
Minimum
Inspection fee every three years
Removal fee 86-59 86-111
Sign impound fee, per sign

 Failure to comply with notice to remove, daily fine to commence on 31st day after notice to remove 
is issued.

Online Application Fee

Original permit

Special Land Use Permits (See Zoning)
Subdivision plats (Chapter 102)

Tentative preliminary plat approval
Fee
Plus per lot

Online Application Fee

Final preliminary plat approval

Sign Removal:

Site Evaluation 

New house
Addition, accessory structure and impervious surfaces

Bond

Sign inspection bonds per required inspection
Sign Erectors (Chapter 86)

Original license
Renewal - annual fee

All other zone districts 
Public notice signs for land development applications

Fee
Deposit

Renewal 
Plan checking fee
Temporary Use Permit

Vacant Property Registration Fee
Residential  
Commercial
Safety and maintenance inspection
Administrative costs:  Inspector per hour
                                Support staff per hour

Site Plan Review

Sanctions, remedies, penalties:

Zoning Ordinance Fees

Board of Appeals
Single family residential
All others                    

Community Impact Review 
Design review fee 
Historic district review

Single family residential district 



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Community Development Fee Schedule
   

Page 19 of 32

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPT.               EXISTING 
FEE 

PROPOSED 
FEE

CHANGE 
CODE

STAFF

    $     850.00 
 $       50.00 

 $       50.00 

 $  1,050.00 
 $       50.00    

 $     800.00 
 $  1,050.00 
 $     350.00 
 $     450.00 
 $     200.00    
 $     100.00    
 $       50.00    

Zoning Compliance Permit Fees
N/A $2.00 C BJ

125.00$     
Fence Permit - Single Family Zoned Districts 50.00$       
Impervious Surface (driveway, patio, etc.) Single Family Zoned Districts 125.00$     

$125.00
$175.00

Annual renewal fee
Temporary Use Permit
Zoning Compliance Letters

Zoning Ordinance Interpretation (Formal Report)
One & two family zone districts
All other zone districts  

THE FEES FOR DESIGN REVIEW, SITE PLAN REVIEW, HISTORIC DISTRICT REVIEW AND SPECIAL LAND USE 
PERMITS SHALL BE DOUBLE THE LISTED AMOUNTS IN THE EVENT THE PROPOSED PROJECT IS 
COMMENCED PRIOR TO FILING OF AN APPLICATION FOR REVIEW BY THE CITY.

* Special Land Use permit fees may be waived at the discretion of the City Manager where an 
amendment is sought by the applicant to change the name of the establishment, or remove parties from 
the permit when it involves a liquor license associated SLUP. 

Non-residential districts fee 
Plus per acre or fraction thereof

Special Land Use Permits
*Special land use
Plus,  site plan review 
Plus, design review
Plus, publish of legal notice

Accessory Structures Under 200 Square Feet
Online Application Fee

R-4 through R-8 zone districts fee 
Plus, per dwelling unit affected by minor construction or minor site plan changes, as determined by 
the planning director
Or, plus, for each dwelling unit in the entire complex for all other site plan changes, as determined by 
the planning director



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Department of Public Service Fee Schedule
   

Page 20 of 32

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SERVICES  EXISTING 
FEES 

PROPOSED 
FEE

CHANGE 
CODE

STAFF

 $       50.00 
   

 $       10.00 

 $       50.00    
 $     200.00    

 $     135.00 
 $     200.00 

First Offense  $       50.00 
Second Offense  $     100.00 
Third Offense  $     200.00 
All violations after the third offense in a calendar year  $     200.00 

 $     100.00 
 $     160.00 
 $       64.75 

 $       25.90 

 $       15.00    
 $       10.00    

 current
 cost 

 $     300.00 
 $     100.00    

 $     100.00 

 $     500.00 
 $  1,000.00 

 $     200.00 

 $       80.00    
 $       40.00    
 $     150.00    
 $     500.00    
 $     500.00    
 $       12.02    
 no charge 

 time & 
material 

($200 
minimum) 

Frozen water service line thaw - first visit
Frozen water service line thaw - second visit and beyond ($200 minimum)

Water

Water

Customer requested service, emergency, 2 hr. minimum plus equipment and materials if applicable

Meter department service fee, plus equipment and materials if applicable
Meter department service fee for no show appointment
Final meter reading without 24 hour notice
Stop box construction deposit (includes $100 inspection $400 refundable)
Curb box and lid repair (done by city)
Opt Out Plan Meter Reading Fee

Revalidate/Replace for subsequent seasons
Recycle Bins

Refuse collection charges (Chapter 90) Fill-A-Dump
Snow Removal from Sidewalks (98-66 - 98-68) - minimum charge
Tree Preservation (Chapter 118)

Registration for tree service business
Sanctions, remedies, penalties:

First offense, per tree
Second offense, per tree

To be calculated by DPS,  Will include labor, equipment, material
Ice Arena Fees - Annual evaluation at budget
Leisure Activity Pass:

First year

Non-Resident
Golf Course Fees - Adjusted annually by resolution of City Commission with recommendation of Parks and 
Grass & Weed Violations (118-66 to 118-68)

Cutting charge for properties less than or equal to 50 feet wide
Cutting charge for properties greater than 50 feet wide
Municipal Civil Infraction Fine (in addition to cutting charge):

Hydrant Use
Deposit (if required as determined by Fire Chief)
Permit Fee

Cross Connections Inspections/Re-Inspections (114-122)
Fee
Plus, a per hour charge, to be charged at 1/4 hour increments, per city employee or city 
Device test report review, per report

Dog Park Annual Pass:
Resident

Water Charge
Includes 5000 gallons at standard charge. Water charge in excess of 5000 gallons will be charged at 
double rate $25.90 per thousand gallons.

Hydrant Repair



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Department of Public Service Fee Schedule
   

Page 21 of 32

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SERVICES  EXISTING 
FEES 

PROPOSED 
FEE

CHANGE 
CODE

STAFF

   
4.87$          

 $       50.00    
 $       80.00    
 $       40.00    
 $     150.00    
 $     500.00 
 $     500.00    

 $         5.00 
 $         1.67 
 $         8.00 
 $         2.67 
 $       12.00 
 $         4.00 
 $       16.00 
 $         5.33 
 $       24.00 
 $         8.00 
 $       32.00 
 $       10.67 
 $       48.00 
 $       16.00 
 $       64.00 
 $       21.33 

 $       18.50 
 $       20.00 

  

   
  $  1,790.00    

 $     657.00 
 $       50.00 
 $  2,497.00 

   
  $  2,010.00 

 $  1,850.00 
 $       70.00 
 $  3,930.00 

   
  $  2,210.00 

 $  2,060.00 
 $       95.00 
 $  4,365.00 

   
 $  3,950.00 
 $     657.00 
 $       50.00 
 $  4,657.00 

      

Service Install
Water Meter, MTU, Brass Meter Flanges, and Trip
Water for Construction
Total

All Paved Surfaces 1":
Service Install
Water Meter, MTU, Brass Meter Spuds, and Trip

Water Meter, MTU, Brass Meter Spuds, and Trip
Water for Construction
Total

Easement 1 1/2":
Service Install
Water Meter, MTU, Brass Meter Flanges, and Trip
Water for Construction
Total

Easement 2":

1 1/2" Monthly fixed charge

Easement 1":
Service Install

     For each 1,000 gallons or part thereof
Service of notice of intent to discontinue service for non-payment of charges (114-303)
Meter department service fee
Meter department service fee for no show appointment
Final meter reading without 24 hour notice
Stop box construction deposit (includes $100 inspection $400 refundable)
Curb box and lid repair (done by city)

Water Rates
Meter Size  

5/8" Quarterly fixed charge
5/8" Monthly fixed charge
1" Quarterly fixed charge
1" Monthly fixed charge
1 1/2" Quarterly fixed charge

Additional charge for water used:

Water for Construction
Total

All Paved Surfaces 1 1/2":

2" Quarterly fixed charge
2" Monthly fixed charge
3" Quarterly fixed charge
3" Monthly fixed charge
4" Quarterly fixed charge
4" Monthly fixed charge
6" Quarterly fixed charge
6" Monthly fixed charge
8" Quarterly fixed charge
8" Monthly fixed charge

Special charges to the city
Annual charge for fire hydrants
Annual charge for drinking fountains

Water & Sewer Connections (Chapter 114):
Water Service Only - Single Trench



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Department of Public Service Fee Schedule
   

Page 22 of 32

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SERVICES  EXISTING 
FEES 

PROPOSED 
FEE

CHANGE 
CODE

STAFF

    $  4,270.00    
 $  1,850.00 
 $       70.00 
 $  6,190.00 

   
 $  4,630.00 
 $  2,060.00 
 $       95.00 
 $  6,785.00 

 $     120.00 
 $     190.00 
 $     330.00 
 $     465.00 

 $     120.00 
 $     180.00 
 $  1,320.00 
 $  1,525.00 

 $     135.00 
 $       22.00 
 $       75.00 
 $       80.00 
 $     400.00 

   

 $  1,000.00 

 $  1,850.00    
      

 $     800.00 
 $  1,000.00    
 $     100.00  

Resident  $     200.00 
Non-Resident  $     400.00 
Security Deposit  $     100.00 

 $     100.00 $350.00  A,B,F JSS

(Price to be obtained from meter department for any water meter larger than 2")
Meter Transceiver Unit (MTU)
1" Brass Meter Spuds
1.5" Brass Meter Flanges
2" Brass Meter Flanges

Wedding Rental (Parks)
All City Parks (weekdays/weekends) (excluding Shain Park)

Well (Irrigation) Permit Moved to Engineering

Inspection fee when trenching not done by DPS per service
Water disconnection fee:

Water service disconnection at property line if service will be reused (1" or larger copper water 
services only)
2" service or smaller
4" service or greater to be determined individually by the DPS

Fees for trench maintenance
Refundable deposit

4"
6"
8"

(Prices on water services over 2" in size will be determined by (DPS) on a time and material basis. A 
deposit will be made for the estimated cost as determined by DPS.)

5/8" meter
1" meter
1 1/2" meter
2" meter

Water for Construction
Total

All Paved Surfaces 2":
Service Install
Water Meter, MTU, Brass Meter Flanges, and Trip
Water for Construction
Total

Water for construction rates on larger services:
3"

Service Install
Water Meter, MTU, Brass Meter Flanges, and Trip



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Engineering Fee Schedule
   

Page 23 of 32

EXISTING FEE PROPOSED 
FEE

CHANGE 
CODE

STAFF

 $          75.00 
 $          50.00 
 $          20.00 

 N/A $20.00 E SZ

 
 

 $             1.50 
 $             1.00 

free
 $             2.00 
 $             4.00 
 $             6.00 
 $             8.00 
 $          10.00 
 $          10.00 
 $          10.00 
 $             5.00 
 $          50.00 
 $          70.00 

 $          20.00 
 $          30.00 
 $          30.00 

 $        210.00 
 $        150.00 
 $        180.00 
 $        120.00 
 $        180.00 
 $        180.00 

 N/A $2.00 C SZ
 $          65.00 
 $        900.00 $1,200 B,C,F SZ
 $        400.00 
 $        400.00 
 $     1,000.00 

 N/A $300.00 E, H SZ
 N/A $200.00 E, H SZ

N/A $2.00 C SZ

Sewer Service Inspection Fee
Cash Bond (Refundable)
Small Cell New Pole
Small Cell Colocation

Sidewalks (See Streets & Sidewalks)
Soil erosion and sediment control permit fees:

Lot 6 - Regular
Lot 6 - Restricted
Ann St. North
South Old Woodward

Right-of-Way Permits

Lot 11 - NW Corner Maple & Woodward
Lot 12 - SE Corner Maple & Woodward

Online Application Fee

Online Application Fee
Permit Fee
Trench Maintenance 
Water Service Inspection Fee

Over 6 hours
Over 7 hours
Over 8 hours
Maximum Fee After 10:00PM

Permit Parking - All Others
Permit Parking - Chester St. Structure

Parking Structure Permit Parking Activation Fee
Deposit (any cards returned after six-months not eligible for refund)
Activation fee per AVI card
Returned checks

Permit Parking At Meters (3 Months)

Less than 3 hours
Less than 4 hours
Less than 5 hours
Less than 6 hours

Driveways (See Streets & Sidwealks)
Parking Meters

High Demand (Areas Inside Central Core of Business District)
Lower Demand (Areas Outside Central Core of Business District)

Parking Structures

ENGINEERING
Bidding Document Fee

Large Set - Paper Copy
Small Set - Paper Copy

Less than 2 hours

CD Copy (any size)

(Copy fee waived for Plan Room and Advertising Services)
Cable Communications Permit (30-133 (j))

Cable Franchise Insurance:  Standard Insurance requirements plus excess liability insuance (or umbrella 
policy) on an "occurrence basis", with limits of liability not less than $5,000,000 per occurrence; and 
indemnification provisions    (see Section 30-190)

Curb Closings (See Streets & Sidewalks)

Flash Drive



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Engineering Fee Schedule
   

Page 24 of 32

EXISTING FEE PROPOSED 
FEE

CHANGE 
CODE

STAFFENGINEERING
   $          65.00 $100.00 A,B,C, F SZ

 $        125.00 
 $        125.00 

 $     1,560.00 
 $     3,120.00 
 $     4,680.00 

 $        600.00 
 N/A $2.00 C SZ

 $             0.20 

 $          75.00 
 $        150.00 
 $  10,000.00 
 $        500.00 

 $        125.00 
 $          65.00 

 $          50.00 
 $          50.00 
 $          50.00 
 $        100.00 $350.00  A,B,F JSS

CREDIT APPLIES TO ANNUAL VALUE
RENEWAL 
PERIOD

Rain Barrels SFR/Non-SFR $15 2 years
Rain Garden/Bio-Swale SFR.Non-SFR  $20 * 5 years
Infiltration Trench/Dry Well SFR/Non-SFR $25 * 5 years
Cistern SFR/Non-SFR $25 * 10 years
Pervious Pavement SFR/Non-SFR $10 (200-300 Sq. Ft.) 10 years

$20 (300-400 Sq. Ft.)
$30 (>400 Sq. Ft.)

Disconnect Footing Drain SFR/Non-SFR $40 10 years
LID Building Measures Non-SFR ESWU reduction N/A
LID Site Measures Non-SFR ESWU reduction N/A
Enhanced Retention Non-SFR ESWU reduction N/A

SFR CLASS
Classes A & B 1
Class C 1.6
Class D 2.4
Class E 3.2

Tier 1 - Per Month Per Pole

The permit fee shall increase for every acre or portion thereof in access of the above examples.

Inspection desposits:

CREDIT MULTIPLICATION FACTOR

Well (Irrigaion) Permit 
Storm Water Utility Appeals Board Application

Storm Water Utility Fee - Credit Schedule

Those credits marked with an asterisk (*) will be multiplied by the relative size of the parcel the 
improvement makes on the property, provided that the improvement truly captures at least 50% of 
the impervious area that is draining directly to the sewer system, according to the following 
schedule:

Less than 1 acre site
1-2 acre site
2-3 acre site

Less than 1 acre site
1-2 acre site
2-3 acre site
The inspection deposit shall increase $1,560.00 per additional acre or portion thereof in excess of 
the above examples.

Low Impact Development Determination

Storm Water Utility Fee Related Charges
Storm Water Utility Fee Credit Application or Renewal

Soil Filling Permit (Chapter 50)
Application fee

Permit fee, per cubic yard
Small Cell Monthly License

Online Application Fee

Tier 2 - Per Month Per Pole
Performance Bond
Administrative Fee

Stormwater runoff (Chapter 114)
Permit per acre of affected area
Minimum



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Engineering Fee Schedule
   

Page 25 of 32

EXISTING FEE PROPOSED 
FEE

CHANGE 
CODE

STAFFENGINEERING
  Class F 4.6

85.00$           $100.00 F

 $             4.00 
 $          30.00 

   
 $             4.00 
 $          30.00 

 $          40.00 

 $             0.50 
 $          20.00 

 $          65.00 

 $          50.00 

 $     1,000.00 

 $          65.00 

 $     1,000.00 

Curb closings (98-91):
Permit per linear foot
Minimum

Streets & Sidewalks:
There shall be a minimum charge of $85.00 $100.00 for all curb closing, curb, cuts, driveways and sidewalk 
permits.

Plus deposit to be determined by city engineer to cover estimated cost of possible city expenses, 
minimum

Plus deposit to be determined by city engineer to cover estimated cost of possible city expenses, 
minimum

Moving buildings (98-3 - 98-28):
Permit

Plus deposit to be determined by city engineer to cover estimated cost of possible city expenses, 
minimum Insurance: Standard insurance requirements plus hold-harmless agreement

Obstructions (98-26):
Permit

Permit, per square foot
Minimum

Excavations (98-26):
Permit

Driveways (98-91):
Permit   

Sidewalks (98-57):

Curb cuts (98-91):
Permit per linear foot
Minimum



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Finance Fee Schedule
   

Page 26 of 32

FINANCE DEPARTMENT  EXISTING 
FEE 

PROPOSED 
FEE

CHANGE 
CODE

STAFF

 $          7.56 
   Storm Water Utility Fee (Chapter 114)

SFR Class Average Runoff Potential ESWU
Class A 3,166 0.7
Class B 4,317 1
Class C 6,716 1.6
Class D 10,552 2.4
Class E 13,094 3.2
Class F 20,496 4.6

Quarterly fixed fee $48.75 
Monthly fixed fee $16.25 

Quarterly fixed fee $61.25 
Monthly fixed fee $20.42 

 $       0.483 
 $       0.490 
 $       7.228 
 $       0.465 

5/8"  $       10.65 
3/4"  $       16.02 
1"  $       26.67 
1 1/2"  $       58.68 
2"  $       85.32 
3"  $     154.65 
4"  $     213.30 
6"  $     319.92 
8"  $     533.22 
10"  $     746.52 

Amounts of Industrial Surcharge - Total Charge per pound of excess pollutants
Biochemical oxygen demand (BOD), over 275 mg/l
Total suspended solids (TSS), over 350 mg/l

Meter Size - Quarterly Charge

Phosphorus (P), over 12 mg/l
Fats, oils, grease (FOG) over 100 mg/l

Industrial Waste Control IWC (Chapter 114)
An industrial waste control charge shall be levied against all non-residential properties, in accordance 
with rates established by resolution.

Sewer Service Rates (Chapter 114)
For each 1,000 gallons or part thereof

Industrial Surcharge (Chapter 114)

An industrial surcharge shall be levied against industrial and commercial customers contributing 
sewage to the system with concentrations of pollutants exceeding the levels described as follows:

Property Type
Single-Family Residential, 0-125 acres or less
Single-Family Residential, 0-126 acres - 0.250 acres
Single-Family Residential, 0.251 acres - 0.500 acres
Single-Family Residential, 0.501 acres - 0.750 acres
Single-Family Residential, 0.751 acres-1,000 acres 
Single-Family Residential, 1,001 acres or larger

Non-Single Family ESWU.
 The storm water utiity fee for non-single family lots shall equal the number ESWU'S for a given lot, multiplied by 
the annual rate established by the City Commission per ESWU per year.  The formula for determining the number 
of ESWU'S per non-single family lot shall be calculated from the amount of pervious and impervious lot area as 
follows:
Number of ESWU'S = "0.15 (TA-1A + 0.90 (IA)"/4317 s.f./ESWU
where TA=total area of each lot (reported in square feet);
 IA=impervious area of each lot (reported in square feet).                                                                                                                                                                                                                       

Evergreen-Farmington Sewage Disposal District:

Southeast Oakland County Sewage Disposal District:
For each Equivalent Storm Water Unit (EWSU)

For each Equivalent Storm Water Unit (ESWU)



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Finance Fee Schedule
   

Page 27 of 32

FINANCE DEPARTMENT  EXISTING 
FEE 

PROPOSED 
FEE

CHANGE 
CODE

STAFF

    12"  $     853.14 
14"  $  1,066.44 
16"  $  1,279.74 
18"  $  1,493.01 
20"  $  1,706.31 
24"  $  1,919.58 
30"  $  2,132.88 
36"  $  2,346.18 
48"  $  2,559.45 
Effective July 1, 2018



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Fire Fee Schedule
   

Page 28 of 32

FIRE DEPARTMENT  EXISTING 
FEE 

PROPOSED 
FEE

CHANGE 
CODE

STAFF

 $     800.00  $ 850.00 F,D Wells
 $     625.00  $ 650.00 F,D Wells
 $     625.00  $ 650.00 F,D Wells
 $     485.00  $ 525.00 F,D Wells
 $     475.00  $ 525.00 F,D Wells
 $       15.00 

 $       50.00 

 $       50.00 
 $       50.00 

Administrative Fee-Non-electronic reporting (inspections/testing/maintenance)  $       50.00 

Open Fires Permit (includes inspection)
Pyrotechnics displays Permit

EMS Transport Service Fees (Chapter 54)
ALS Emergency Transport II
ALS Emergency Transport I
ALS Non-Emergency Transport
BLS Emergency Transport
BLS Non-Emergency Transport
Loaded Mile (scene to hospital fee per mile)

Fire Code Operational Permits
As listed in the International Fire Code

Hydrant Use & Hydrant Repair - See DPS



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Museum Fee Schedule
   

Page 29 of 32

MUSEUM  EXISTING 
FEE 

PROPOSED 
FEE

CHANGE 
CODE

STAFF

$100.00

$550.00

$100.00
$250.00
$500.00
$400.00
$800.00

additional 
$250.00

$25.00
$15.00

Insurance: Standard Insurance Requirements and Hold Harmless Agreement
Research Requests

First hour
Each additional hour

Over 100 people
Security Deposit, returnable

Limited Use Fee-Park/Grounds
Security Deposit, returnable
Up to 20 people-resident
Up to 20 people- non resident

Limited Use Fee-Allen House
Cleaning Deposit, returnable
2 hrs. of approved private use - Allen House, first floor only, with event specific rider and agreement 
Insurance: Standard Insurance Requirements and Hold Harmless Agreement

21-100 people-resident
21-100 people-non-resident



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Police Fee Schedule
   

Page 30 of 32

 EXISTING 
FEE 

 PROPOSED 
FEE 

 CHANGE 
CODE 

 STAFF 

 $     500.00    
 $     500.00    

   
 no charge 

 $       50.00 
   

 $       10.00 

 $       18.00    

 $         8.00 

$10/20
$30/40
$10/20
$15/25
$30/40
$30/40
$10/20
$10/20
$30/40
$30/40
$30/40

$100/125
$50/75
$30/40
$30/45

 $       50.00           

*Alcohol:

False Alarm fees (74-31):

 Specially Designated Distributor 
 Specially Designated Merchant 

 First false alarm per calendar year 
 All subsequent false alarms per calendar year 
Fingerprints

POLICE  DEPARTMENT                               

Parking Offenses & Fines (If paid before 10 days/If paid after 10 days)
Expired meter: first seven offenses in calendar
Expired meter: eight offenses or more in calendar year
Overtime in non-metered zone
Overtime in a time zone: less than 2 hours
Overtime in a time zone: 2 hours or longer
Stopping, standing or parking where prohibited
Parking over the meter line
Back into parking lot space
Keys in ignition or ignition unlocked
Other illegal parking
No parking here to corner
Handicap zone
Violation of snow emergency parking ordinance
Illegal parking in permit area

Meter Bags - Daily Fee

Parking Permits (110-136 - 110-150)

 Full set of fingerprints; said fee shall be in addition to any license or permit fee which requires fingerprints 
to be taken and/or submitted to the Michigan State Police or the Federal Bureau of Investigation 

Residential parking permit per household (includes 2 resident and 3 visitor permits for a two-year period)

Outdoor Dining Café Platform Meter Fees

Illegal parking on private property

Annual Application Fee

Pedi-cabs & Commercial Quadricycles

(See City Clerk's Office Fee Schedule)



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Police Fee Schedule
   

Page 31 of 32

 EXISTING 
FEE 

 PROPOSED 
FEE 

 CHANGE 
CODE 

 STAFF POLICE  DEPARTMENT                               

   
 $     500.00           

 $       10.00 

 $       25.00 
 $       50.00 
 $       25.00          
 $       25.00 
 $       25.00          

 

Licensed pet properly immunized first offense
Second offense within twelve month period

Annual criminal background check - per person (to be provided by applicant using the Michigan State 
Police ICHAT system)

Vehicle Identification Number Inspection Fee

*Fee for liquor license inspection may be waived at the discretion of the City Manager where an applicant 
seeks to change the liquor license by the removal of a licensee from the license and the licensed 
establishment is not in operation.

Precious Metals  Dealers 26-161

Vehicle Impounding Fee
Vehicle Inspection Fee

 Annual License Fee 

Preliminary breath test (PBT) each

Stray Animal Fines:

Insurance:  The owner of every pedicab or commercial quadricycle shall procure and file with the city clerk a 
liability insurance policy or similar proof of insurance issued by an insurance company authorized to do 
business in the state.  The amount of such liability insurance for each pedicab or commercial quadricycle 
shall be as follows:  An amount of not less than $2,000,000 because of bodily injury to or death of any one 
person; in an amount of $2,000,000 because of bodily injury of two or more persons in any one accident; in 
an amount of not less than $2,000,000 in medical coverage for each passenger.  Such policy of insurance 
may be in the form of a separate policy for each pedicab or commercial quadricycle, or may be in the fleet 
policy covering all pedicabs or commercial quadricycles operated by such owner; provided, however, that 
such a policy provide for the same amount of liability for each pedicab or commercial quadricycle operated.  
Provided further, such policy shall name the City of Birmingham as an additional insured, and no such policy 
as required above may be cancelled until the expiration of 30 days after notice of intent to cancel has been 
given in writing to the city clerk of the City by registered mail or personal delivery of such notice and a 
provision to that effect is made a part of such policy.



City of Birmingham
2022 Fee Schedule for Review

  Treasurer Fee Schedule
   

Page 32 of 32

 EXISTING 
FEE 

PROPOSED 
FEE

CHANGE 
CODE

STAFF

 $       25.00 
 $       10.00      

TREASURER'S OFFICE
Returned Check fees (15.1 - 15.3)
Treasurer's certificate



 

Updated 12.7.21 

 

CITY OF BIRMINGHAM 
PUBLIC RECORDS POLICY 

 
1. The City of Birmingham shall make public records available to the general public 

in accordance with the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) and Article VIII, 
Sections 2-311 through 2.316. 

 
2. The city clerk shall be designated the FOIA coordinator.  The clerk may designate 

others to fulfill FOIA requests, but shall keep copies of requests according to the 
Records Retention and Disposal Schedule. 

 
3. The FOIA Coordinator shall make available a standard form for requests for 

public records.  There is no requirement under FOIA for lists or reports to be 
created. 

 
4. Copying of public records shall only be done by city employees or may be 

reproduced by an outside source as arranged by the FOIA coordinator or his or 
her designee. 

 
5. Copies of public records shall be charged at $.10 each sheet of paper 8.5” x 11: 

and 8.5: x 14”, using double sided printing when available. 
 
6. Maps and plans shall be distributed as follows: 
 
 11” x 17”    $5.00 
 24” x 36”    $10.00 
 26” x 36”    $13.00 
 36” x 42”    $15.00 
 
7. The building department does not release copies of interior plans of houses or 

commercial buildings without written approval of the owner. 
 
8. Copies of the annual budget shall be sold for $69.00 plus mailing costs.  Copies 

of the annual audit, CAFR, shall be sold for $64.00 plus mailing costs.  As 
duplicating costs vary for these documents from year to year based on volume, 
charges will be adjusted accordingly. Removal per Finance Director – Audit is 
available in digital format and can be printed using policy No. 5 as listed above. 

 
9.  All agendas will be posted on the city’s website.  Background material will be 

made available for public review at the respective department counter where the 
document is prepared. Upon request, commission agendas will be provided free 
of charge to the Birmingham homeowners associations representing residents of 
the City.  

 
10. Requests for computer generated lists or documents shall be made available in 

accordance with FOIA and the city code.  Costs for such documents shall be 
determined according to the departmental costs to produce such records. 

 



 

Updated 12.7.21 

 

11. Records of fire investigations shall be available to the public after the 
investigation has been completed.  Copies of fire incident reports shall be sold 
for $5.00 for each copy plus current mailing costs. 

 
12. Copies of standard records from the police department, including dispatch cards, 

incident reports and accident reports shall be sold for $5.00.  Police Department 
letters of clearance will be prepared for $10.00. 

 
13. Copies of standard unredacted police video (booking room, in-car, body-worn 

camera and security) shall be sold for $75.00. Addition due to updated 
technology and services which are available for FOIA request. 

 
14. Copies of standard police audio (9-1-1, telephone, radio) shall be sold for $50.00. 
 
 
 
 
 
Adopted by City Commission July 28, 2008, Resolution #07-240-08 
Amended:   

March 19, 2012, Resolution #03-74-12 
August 27, 2012, Resolution #08-249-12 
March 18, 2013, Resolution #03-100-13 
April 28, 2014, Resolution #04-98-14 
March 30, 2015, Resolution #03-63-15 
March 28, 2016, Resolution #03-99-16 
December 5, 2016, Resolution #12-364-16 
December 12, 2016, Resolution #12-383-16 



7D



















Board Name Staff Liason How to Watch When
Ad Hoc Joint Senior Services Committee City Manager inactive
Ad Hoc Unimproved Street Study 
Committee City Manager inactive

Advisory Parking Committee
Scott Grewe & Ryan 
Weingartz Zoom: https://zoom.us/j/98209276859#success

Typically the first Wednesday of the 
month at 7:30am

Architectural Review Committee Engineering This board seldom meets. Past meetings were not recorded.
As needed for special project review 
when other boards not reviewing

Birmingham Area Cable Board Cathy White https://www.birminghamareacableboard.org/Cable-Board/Meeting-Schedule.aspx 3rd Wednesday of the month 7:45am

Board of Review Jack Todd https://us06web.zoom.us/j/92603155672

For dates, visit https://www.bhamgov.
org/about_birmingham/city_government
/boards___commissions/board_of_revie
w.php

Brownfield Redevelopment Authority Brooks Cowan Zoom https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81205527424

Meeting schedule is irregular
https://bhamgov.
org/about_birmingham/city_government
/boards___commissions/brownfield_red
evelopment_authority.php

Birmingham Shopping District AKA: 
Principal Shopping District Board Sean Kammer https://us06web.zoom.us/j/83915400165

first Thursday of every month at 8:30 a.
m.

Board of Building Trades Appeals Bruce Johnson This board seldom meets. Past meetings were not recorded. As needed

Board of Zoning Appeals Bruce Johnson

Zoom: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/96343198370
BACB
Vimeo: https://vimeo.com/event/3474 Second Tuesday of the month

City Commission Alexandria Bingham

Zoom: https://zoom.us/j/655079760
BACB
Vimeo: https://vimeo.com/showcase/6708293

typically the 2nd and 4th Monday at 7:
30pm

Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board Alexandria Bingham
Zoom: https://zoom.us/j/98983856041
*Ask staff liason for recording

typically the first Friday of the month at 
8:30am

Design Review Board Nick Dupius Zoom: https://zoom.us/j/91282479817 Vimeo: https://vimeo.com/event/419991 1st and 3rd Wednesday, 7:15 PM

Ethics Board Alexandria Bingham
Zoom: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/99656852194
*Ask staff liason for recording As requested

Housing Board of Appeals Bruce Johnson This board seldom meets. Past meetings were not recorded. As needed

Historic District Commission Nick Dupuis Zoom: https://zoom.us/j/91282479817 Vimeo: https://vimeo.com/event/419991 1st and 3rd Wednesday, 7:00 PM
Historic District Study Committee Nick Dupuis Zoom: https://zoom.us/j/92668352238 As Needed
Hearing Officer Jack Todd https://us06web.zoom.us/j/85413772027 As Needed- 1-2 hearings per year

Library Board Rebekah Craft
Zoom Meeting: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88033156263, www.baldwinlib.org/staff-
board for recordings

3rd Monday at 7:30 p.m., except in 
January

Museum Board Leslie Pielack
Zoom: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/99524391376 ; please make advance 
arrangements for recordings First Thurs of the month, 5 PM

Martha Baldwin Park Board Lauren Wood As Needed - Once Per Year Minimum

Multi-Modal Transportation Board

Scott Grewe & Brooks 
Cowan & Scott 
Zielinski Zoom: https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82477954435 First Thurs of the month, 6 PM

Public Arts Board Brooks Cowan Zoom: https://zoom.us/j/88378200269

Planning Board Nick Dupuis Zoom: https://zoom.us/j/111656967 Vimeo: https://vimeo.com/event/3472 2nd and 4th Wednesday, 7:30 PM

Parks and Recreation Board Lauren Wood https://us06web.zoom.us/j/98191466679

First Tuesday of the month at 6:30 PM, 
unless on a holiday goes to following 
Tuesday

Retiree Health Care Fund Investment 
Committee Mark Gerber Live meetings via zoom

Quarterly immediately after the 
Retirement Board meeting

Retirement Board Mark Gerber Live meetings via zoom

Typically, the 2nd Friday in March, 
June, September, and December at 8:
15 am

Retirement Investment Committee Mark Gerber Live meetings via zoom

Typically, the Wednesday a week 
before the Retirement Board meeting at 
7:30 am

Storm Water Utility Appeals Board Engineering This board seldom meets. Past meetings were not recorded.
as-needed when a property owner 
appeals a decision by Engineering

Triangle District Corridor Improvement 
Authority Brooks Cowan Zoom https://us06web.zoom.us/j/84780743574

Meeting schedule has been irregular
https://bhamgov.
org/about_birmingham/city_government
/boards___commissions/birmingham_tri
angle_district_corridor_improvement_a
uthority.php















7E









































1 

MEMORANDUM 
Engineering Department 

DATE: December 13, 2021 

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager 

FROM: Scott D. Zielinski, Assistant City Engineer 
James J. Surhigh, Consulting City Engineer 

SUBJECT: Setting Public Hearing Dates for 
Proposed Sidewalk Streetscape Assessment 
Maple Road Reconstruction Project 

INTRODUCTION: 
In 2020, a portion of Maple Road was reconstructed between Chester Street and Pierce 
Street, and Old Woodward and Woodward, as Phase 2 of the downtown area 
reconstruction effort that was a continuation of the work completed in 2018 on North Old 
Woodward and Maple from Pierce to Old Woodward.  The Special Assessment District 
(SAD) associated with the construction of sidewalks and other streetscape improvements 
as part of the project was not formally established prior to construction.  The Engineering 
Department is requesting Public Hearing Dates for the Sidewalk Streetscape SAD be set.  

BACKGROUND: 
Part of the Maple Road Reconstruction project, completed in November 2020, from 
Southfield Road to Pierce Street and Old Woodward to Woodward, included complete 
replacement of the sidewalks and provided certain landscape enhancements and 
pedestrian-oriented amenities within the project area.  The Maple Road project was a 
continuation of the downtown area reconstruction work which was completed in 2018, on 
North Old Woodward and Maple, from Pierce to Old Woodward, where similar streetscape 
improvements were made (Phase 1).  The costs to the City for construction of these 
improvements in Phase 1 were defrayed by way of Special Assessment to the property 
owners adjoining that project area.  In the same way, the City had intended to assess a 
portion of the costs for the streetscape improvements that would be constructed with the 
Maple Road project, however, due to a number of unprecedented pandemic circumstances 
during 2020, the Special Assessment District was not formally established prior to 
construction and an out of sequence hearing process has occurred. 

On March 9, 2020, the City Commission agreed to enter the construction agreement with 
the Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT) for construction of the Maple Road 
Reconstruction Project by Angelo Iafrate Construction Company, who was the lowest 
qualified bidder for the project.  Within that agreement, unit prices for the proposed 
streetscape elements to be assessed were established.  At that time, based on the 
estimated quantities of related work that were to be performed, the amount of 
construction cost that was associated with the Sidewalk SAD was estimated at 
$2,282,918.67, and was authorized to be paid out of account number 101-444.001-
985.7900.  On similar projects of this nature, including the Phase 1 project on Old 

7F



2 
 
 

Woodward, it has been the City’s policy to assess 75% of the costs for the streetscape 
improvements.   
 
On the Phase 1 project, the public hearings for the Sidewalk Streetscape SAD were held 
after the construction contract was awarded and unit prices for the related work were 
established.  The City intended to hold the public hearings for the Sidewalk Streetscape 
SAD in April of 2020.  However, with the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic and uncertainty 
related to holding public meetings, the City Commission was not asked to set the public 
hearing dates.  By the time there was clarity on the issue related to holding public 
meetings such as this in the pandemic environment, submittal of this request was 
inadvertently delayed.  Furthermore, there were departures in the Engineering 
Department staff during this period that contributed to this matter not being addressed 
sooner. 
 
The final payment amount to the contractor has been made by MDOT and based on the 
final quantities and associated unit prices, the total cost of the sidewalk and streetscape 
improvements is $1,978,766.83.  In accordance with City policy on similar projects of this 
nature, the City plans to assess 75% of this cost, or $1,484,075.12 to the adjoining 
property owners.  Based on the length of the frontages within the special assessment area 
(2,809.06 feet), the assessment cost per foot of frontage is $528.32.  The attached map 
and table show the parcels that are part of the proposed Sidewalk Streetscape SAD, and 
the costs that would be assessed. 
 

LEGAL REVIEW:  
Chapter 94 – Special Assessments of the Birmingham City Code outlines the process by 
which a special assessment is conducted in the City of Birmingham.  The Public Hearing 
of Necessity should have been set sometime in April or May of 2020 to determine the 
necessity, and then finally the hearing confirming the special assessment roll as it relates 
to the proposed Sidewalk Streetscape Maple Road Reconstruction project.  At two (2) 
merchant meetings including one (1) of February 28, 2020, the merchants of Maple Road 
were put on notice that the money needed in order to complete this project would be 
defrayed by a Special Assessment. While it was clear that a Special Assessment District 
for the Sidewalk Streetscape project was to be completed prior to the contracting and 
construction of these improvements, the Special Assessment District was not created as 
these improvements commenced during the height, panic and chaos of the unprecedented 
COVID crisis.  As a result, this out of sequence hearing process has occurred.   
 
COVID hit, then the height of restrictions were ordered, and more importantly, the domino 
effect of reactions occurred during March and April of 2020, lasting for months and 
months. These restrictions, reactions and shutdown of nearly all public services 
complicated the order of the sequence of the City’s hearing processes as it relates to the 
Sidewalk Streetscape Maple Road Reconstruction project.  Despite the fact that the Chief 
City Engineer retired in January of 2020, an interim engineering staff did the best they 
could, the hastened project for the least amount of disruption as possible to the merchants 
was completed by the end of November of 2020.  While we somehow managed to have 
limited Commission meetings during those critical and chaotic summer months, this out 
of sequence hearing process occurred due to the COVID situation beyond anyone’s control 
during the time that the City was prohibited from conducting in person hearings.  Sec. 94-
13. – Adjustments and Corrections at (c) Invalid assessments, offers relief for situations 
such as this.    



3 
 
 

 
“(c) Invalid assessments.  

(1) whenever any special assessment shall, in the opinion 
of the commission, be incorrect or invalid by reason of 
any irregularity or informality in the proceedings, or if 
any court or tribunal of competent jurisdiction shall 
adjudge the assessment to be illegal, the commission 
may, regardless of whether the improvement has been 
made or not, or whether any part of the assessment 
has been paid or not, cause a new assessment to be 
made for the same purpose for which the former 
assessment was made.  
 

(2) All proceedings on such reassessment and for the 
collection thereof shall be conducted in the same 
manner as provided for the original assessment.”  

 
With the height of the uncertain COVID restrictions and reactions, including an increase 
in staff turnover, this out of sequence hearing process has occurred.  The improvements 
that have been completed for the benefit of all property owners on the Maple Road 
Reconstruction project have been completed and, therefore, the Special Assessment 
District creation and confirmation of the roll should be completed in order for the Special 
Assessment District to be assessed. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT:  
Revenue generated from the Sidewalk Streetscape SAD for the Maple Road Reconstruction 
project will defray the costs incurred by the City for construction of these improvements 
and has been considered as an integral part of the financial forecasting for the General 
Fund in future years.   
 

PUBLIC COMMUNICATIONS: 
Information related to the overall project and Sidewalk Streetscape SAD was presented at 
two (2) public “Merchant Meetings” held in cooperation with the Birmingham Shopping 
District on October 23, 2019 and February 28, 2020, for which all affected property owners 
were invited to attend.  The estimated assessment amount was presented at the City 
Commissioner meeting held on March 9, 2020.  

 
SUMMARY 

The Engineering Department recommends that a Public Hearing of Necessity to form a 
Special Assessment District for the construction of sidewalk and streetscape improvements 
as part of the Maple Road Reconstruction project be scheduled at the regularly scheduled  
City Commission meeting on January 24, 2022, followed by a Public Hearing for 
Confirmation of the Roll on February 14, 2022. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:   

• Map of proposed Sidewalk Streetscape SAD 
• Table listing parcels included in proposed Sidewalk Streetscape SAD 
• Presentation Slides from 2/28/2020 Merchant Meeting 
• Sign-in Sheets for 10/23/2019 and 2/28/2020 Merchant Meetings 

 



4 
 
 

SUGGESTED COMMISSION ACTION: 
Make a motion adopting a resolution to set  the Public Hearing of Necessity for the 
construction of sidewalk and streetscape improvements adjacent to all properties within 
the project area on Maple Road, between Chester Street and Pierce Street, and between 
Old Woodward Avenue and Woodward Avenue on Monday, January 24, 2022 at 7:30 P.M. 
for the purpose of conducting; and 
 
If necessity is determined on January 24, 2022, to meet on Monday, February 14, 2022 
at 7:30 P.M. for the purpose of conducting the Public Hearing to Confirm the Assessment 
Roll for the construction of sidewalk and streetscape improvements adjacent to all 
properties within project area on Maple Road, between Chester Street and Pierce Street, 
and between Old Woodward Avenue and Woodward Avenue. 
 

 
 
 



$494,691.71

336 W Maple 19‐25‐377‐006 291

180 W Maple 19‐25‐378‐023 327.53

168 W Maple 19‐25‐378‐008 44.95

166 W Maple 19‐25‐378‐009 40

150 W Maple 19‐25‐378‐010 56.23

142 W Maple 19‐25‐378‐011 44

203 E Maple 19‐25‐456‐018 33.5

225 E Maple 19‐25‐456‐018 29.78

261 E Maple 19‐25‐456‐035 62.5

323 E Maple 19‐25‐456‐023 62.5

335 E Maple 19‐25‐456‐024 30.31

355 E Maple 19‐25‐456‐034 40

361 E Maple 19‐25‐456‐027 20

369 E Maple 19‐25‐456‐050 20

395 E Maple 19‐25‐456‐029 99.98

35001 Woodward 19‐25‐456‐037 195.43

34977 Woodward 19‐36‐207‐001 214.5

378 E Maple 19‐36‐206‐018 101.6

344 E Maple 19‐36‐206‐020 80.5

300 E Maple 19‐36‐206‐002 84.5

288 E Maple 19‐36‐206‐001 44.5

102 Pierce 19‐36‐129‐005 67

137 W Maple 19‐36‐129‐004 53

163 W Maple 19‐36‐129‐003 40

175 W Maple 19‐36‐129‐002 40

195 W Maple 19‐36‐129‐001 70

211 W Maple 19‐36‐128‐004 112

247 W Maple 19‐36‐128‐003 70

299 W Maple 19‐36‐128‐002 40

299 W Maple 19‐36‐128‐001 59.5

320 Martin 19‐36‐127‐004 132.5

355 W Maple 19‐36‐127‐001 146

180 W Maple 19‐25‐378‐023 55.75

2809.06 $1,484,075.12

Total Assessable Frontage (ft) Price Per Linear Foot

2809.06 $528.32

Assessable Total 75% Of Total SAD

$70,002.05

$77,134.33

$29,453.69

Address

$28,000.82

$21,132.69

$21,132.69

$36,982.21

$59,171.54

$36,982.21

$16,013.30

$21,132.69

$10,566.35

$10,566.35

$52,821.17

SAD Cost Per Property

$153,740.35

$173,039.78

$23,747.86

$29,707.28

$21,132.69

$21,132.69

$31,434.88

$42,529.55

$44,642.82

$23,510.12

$35,397.26

$103,249.06

$113,324.07

$53,677.04

$17,698.63

$15,733.29

$33,019.83

$33,019.83

$23,245.96

City Cost 25% of 

Total SAD
 Total Assessable Street Scape SAD 

$1,978,766.83

Property Tax ID
Total Assessable 

Frontage 

Assessable Total 75% Of 

Total SAD

$1,484,075.12



0 0.03 0.06 0.09 0.120.015
Miles

Ü

Maple Road SAD Properties

szielinski
Polygon

szielinski
Polygon

szielinski
Polygon

szielinski
Polygon

szielinski
Polygon

szielinski
Polygon

szielinski
Polygon

szielinski
Polygon

szielinski
Polygon



February 28, 2020

Dick O’Dows



Maple Road 
Reconstruction 
Phase II
Construction in

2020
(MDOT Project)



*Public Sewers & Public Water Mains / Hydrants

*New Mid-Block Crossing

*Street Pavement

*Mast Arm Traffic Signals

*Street Lights

*City Trees w/Irrigation 

*Communication Conduit

*Granite Benches / USB Charging Stations

*Signs / Parking Meters

*Bike Racks







*Sidewalk & Streetscape Amenities (75% assessed)
* Includes Tree Wells, Irrigation, Plantings, Benches, etc…

*Sewer Lateral Replacement (100% assessed)
* Laterals 50 years or older

*Water Service Replacement (100% assessed)
* Replace ¾” Services

Public Hearings will be held for all Special Assessment Districts

* It is anticipated these will occur sometime in April 



1. Keep Project Moving Quickly

2. Keep Sidewalks Open & Front Doors Accessible

3. Keep Traffic Flowing

4. Keep Communications Flowing

5. Keep Public Parking Easy and Accessible

6. BSD Promotional Activities



PROJECT INITIATION
1. City Commission Authorization (Anticipated – March 9th)
2. Pre-Project Preparation (Anticipated to occur in March)

Tree, Streetlight, Parking Meter Removals
3. Pre-Construction Meeting (Anticipated to occur in Late March)
4. Contractor Mobilization / Traffic Control (Anticipated Early April)

CONSTRUCTION PROCESS
Start – Early April
Anticipated Construction Time Frame – 3 ½ to 4 months

*Hire Contractor with Experience
*Expand Available Work Hours (7am – 10pm - Sunday Work Allowed)
*Bonus/Penalty Clause (Early / Delayed Project Completion)
*Encourage Multiple Crews



Exceptions – During Water Service, Sewer Lead & Sidewalk Installation 





*Flyers & Weekly Updates
*Constant Contact by Email: 

www.bit.ly/bhamnews
www.bhamgov.org/enotify

*City of Birmingham Website 
www.bhamgov.org/maplereconstruction

*BSD/City Social Media –
Facebook, Twitter, Next Door

*Digital and Print Newsletters





Questions?









CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

December 2021 

Baldwin Public Library 

Phase 3: Front Entrance and Circulation Area Project 

The Library Board's Building Committee continues to meet with Merritt Cieslak Design to 

plan the Phase 3: Front entrance and Circulation area project. The public is welcome to 

view renderings of the exterior and interior, view floor plans, and read meeting minutes 

online at https://www.baldwinlib.org/renovation/. The project will be presented to the 

City Commission at the long range planning meeting on January 22, 2022. 

Library Board Update 

At their November meeting, the Library Board voted to elect Frank Pisano as President, 

Jennifer Wheeler as Vice President, and Karen Rock as Secretary. The Library Board will 

meet on December 20 and will be voting to approve updates to four policies: Collection 

Development Policy, Social Media Policy, Staff Development Policy, Meeting Room Policy. 

The policies can be viewed at https://www.baldwinlib.org/mission/. The Library will be 

closed from Friday, December 24 through Sunday, December 26. 

The Birmingham Museum 

Birmingham Museum-Heritage Zone Enhancements Update 

Construction of the museum’s Phase I Heritage Zone project 

is now complete, with the installation of the new signage in 

the plaza area. The total project cost came in under 

budget at $32,600. Approximately half ($16,500) of the 

cost of fence improvements, new trees, and signage 

installation was covered by private donations. Furthermore, 

the garden bed surrounding the sign will be the site of a 

community-sourced heirloom perennial garden, with plants 

reflecting the 1920s being contributed by the public. The 

museum is planning a public event in the spring with a plant exchange and donation of 

perennials from Birmingham gardeners, and will be utilizing Engage Birmingham to 

promote the project and the event. 

10E1

https://www.baldwinlib.org/renovation/
https://www.baldwinlib.org/mission/


Birmingham Shopping District (BSD) 

New Businesses 

The BSD is pleased to welcome State & Liberty and Mare Mediterranean to the Shopping 

District! 

The BSD was thrilled to see a story in dbusiness titled “Downtown Birmingham Draws 

Multiple Retailers and Restaurants.” The article was another positive news story that 

originated with a press release written by the Shopping District. 

Holiday Promotional Video 

The holiday promotional video is completed and being promoted online and on social 

media. The BSD’s Advertising Committee worked very hard on this project and is proud 

of the final result. The 30-second and 60-second versions of the video can be viewed on 

the Shopping District’s YouTube channel. 

Shopping District Events 

2021 saw another amazing Winter Markt. Special thanks to our many event sponsors, 

50+ vendors, DPS, and the police and fire departments for being such great partners. 

The BSD is transitioning into promoting the 2022 Restaurant Week and will be 

organizing restaurant owners for a planning session. Restaurant Week is scheduled to 

run from January 24th to February 4th. 

Marketing Materials 

Be on the lookout for revised marketing materials from the Shopping District! The BSD 

has worked to align many of our print and digital materials with the new brand 

developed for the ALLINBirmingham website. This consistent look will better help to 

strengthen our brand identity throughout the region. 

Tenant Mix Analysis 

The BSD is also working on developing a tenant mix analysis for the shopping district. 

This analysis will help identify market saturation of particular industries, as well as 

opportunities to better diversify our downtown economy. 

 

Building Department 

 

Monthly Report 

The Building Department’s monthly report provides an update on the following 

construction activity: building permits issued, building inspections conducted, trades 

permits issued and trades inspections conducted. In November, we processed 341 

online permit applications, bringing our total to 3,912 online permits for 2021. 

Plan Review Time Concerns Update 

In response to the panel discussion held in September to address plan review time 

concerns, the Building and Engineering Departments are evaluating each step in our 

review processes. The Building Department is defining target timelines, refining our 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=n5V1WqBZIo0
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=V2o1lpPSLjE
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCx9a3NW3kBQVls9Wm7ccM0g
http://www.allinbirmingham.com/
https://www.bhamgov.org/Document_Center/Department/City%20manager/City%20Manager%20Report/Dec%202021/CONSTRUCTION%20ACTIVITY%20(3).pdf


methodologies and assessing areas for increased efficiencies. All of these improvements 

will be incorporated into the development of an electronic plan review procedure that 

will be implemented next year. Additionally, based on the feedback, HRC has made 

additional resources and staff available for Site Evaluation and As-Built reviews.   

Though plan review timeframes can vary depending on the scope of work, we have 

been meeting our target review times for the majority of projects since the September 

meeting.   

 

City Clerk’s Office 

City Commission election results stand after recount 

A Nov. 30 recount of the 2021 Birmingham City Commission election by the Oakland County 
Board of Canvassers found that challenger Anthony Long received five fewer votes than 
candidate Andrew Haig, a change of one vote from Haig’s original 6-vote lead. County election 
officials certified the results at the recount’s completion, confirming that the original winners of 
three city commission seats remain the same: 

 Katie Schafer, with 3,084 votes 
 Elaine McLain with 2,372 votes 
 Andrew Haig, with 2,340 votes 

The new commissioners were sworn in and began their 4-year terms at the Nov. 8 City 
Commission meeting . Learn more about them here. 

Lessons learned from the November 2021 Election and Recount 

 Near the end of the night on Election Day, there were several ballots turned in that were 
not sealed in their assigned green return envelopes. The City Clerk’s Office encourages 
voters to carefully read and follow all instructions, allowing enough time to understand 
the directions and deliver your ballot to the Clerk’s Office or official drop boxes before 
the deadline. If you are ever unsure, please ask our office - we want to make sure every 
vote counts! 

 During the recount several issues were discovered: 
o White Out 

 The use of white-out caused several ballots to be flagged for possible 
errors.  

 If you make an error, we strongly recommend that you spoil your ballot 
and obtain a new ballot if there is time.  If a voter’s intent is confusing or 
unclear, an adjudication process may determine how to allocate their 
votes.  

o Sometimes ballots get wet! 
 Ballots can and do get wet in the mail-carrying process. We strongly 

caution voters against using pens or markers that may bleed if saturated 
by rain. 

https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Minutes/2021/2021.11.08%20City%20Commission%20Minutes%20PDF.pdf
https://cms7files1.revize.com/birmingham/Document_Center/Agenda%20&%20Minutes/City%20Commission/Minutes/2021/2021.11.08%20City%20Commission%20Minutes%20PDF.pdf
https://bhamgov.org/about_birmingham/city_government/boards___commissions/city_commission/city_commissioners.php


o Rips and tears.  
 In one case, a voter may have unintentionally ripped a hole in their ballot 

when trying to scratch out a candidate. If you ever have a rip, hole, or 
tear in your ballot please get a new ballot from the Clerk’s Office.  

o Attend to the limits. 
 Be sure to read the headings. Make sure that you don't “over vote” or 

choose too many candidates for a given race.  

 

o Mark your ballot properly.  
 Every absentee ballot includes ballot-marking instructions on the yellow 

secrecy sleeves that clearly direct voters to completely darken the box 
opposite each choice (see below) Birmingham’s recent recount found 
where a voter made x’s. Making light marks with a pencil could cause the 
tabulator to not be able to properly read the voter’s marks.  

 Use blue or black ballpoint pen only. 

 



County Commissioner Districts Change 

Newly redrawn Oakland County Commission district boundaries will split Birmingham into two 

county commission districts in 2022. Voters in precincts 3 and 9, the city’s easternmost 

precincts, become part of Oakland County Commission district 1. Birmingham’s other precincts 

become part of county district 19.  

In November, the Oakland County Board of Commissioners approved the new commission 
district map for 2022-2031, which decreases the total number of county districts from 21 to 19. 
The map was redrawn to reflect population changes documented in the final 2020 U.S. Census 
data. State law requires the county’s reapportionment committee to redraw district lines every 
10 years within 60 days after publication of the final census numbers. Learn more about this 
here. 

Updated voter ID cards 
The clerk’s office will print and mail updated voter ID cards reflecting the new county districts to 
all of Birmingham’s nearly 18,700 voters in the spring of 2022.  

Open board and commission seats 
These boards have current or upcoming available positions:   

 Advisory Parking Committee 
 Birmingham Area Cable Board 
 Alternate Hearing Officer 
 Multi-Modal Transportation Board 
 Public Arts Board 
 Storm Water Utilities Board 
 Triangle District Corridor Improvement Authority 

Learn more about Birmingham boards and commissions here. 
 

Greenwood Cemetery Advisory Board 
Future Agenda Topics for GCAB 
January 7, 2022 - Meeting in-person at City Hall 

 Continued discussion on updating the rules and regulations for Greenwood Cemetery 
 Continued discussion on a policy for installing monuments in recognition of a person of 

historical significance 
February 4, 2022 - Meeting in-person at City Hall 

 Topics to be determined 
 

City Manager’s Office 

Communications 

2022 City Calendar 
Residents and businesses should receive the 2022 city calendar during the week of 
December 13th. Keep an eye out for it in your mailbox soon! 
 
 

https://www.bhamgov.org/Document_Center/Department/City%20manager/City%20Manager%20Report/Dec%202021/Oakland%20County%20Resolutions%20-%202021.11.09%20-%2034985.pdf
https://bhamgov.org/about_birmingham/city_government/boards___commissions/boards___commissions_opportunities.php
https://bhamgov.org/about_birmingham/city_government/boards___commissions/advisory_parking_committee.php
https://bhamgov.org/about_birmingham/city_government/boards___commissions/birmingham_area_cable_board.php
https://www.bhamgov.org/about_birmingham/city_government/boards___commissions/hearing_officer.php
https://www.bhamgov.org/about_birmingham/city_government/boards___commissions/multi-modal_transportation_board.php
https://www.bhamgov.org/about_birmingham/city_government/boards___commissions/public_arts_board.php
https://www.bhamgov.org/about_birmingham/city_government/boards___commissions/storm_water_utility_appeals_board.php
https://www.bhamgov.org/about_birmingham/city_government/boards___commissions/birmingham_triangle_district_corridor_improvement_authority.php
https://bhamgov.org/about_birmingham/city_government/boards___commissions/index.php


Engage Birmingham 
Thanks to an Engage Birmingham survey in which nearly 200 people participated, 
Birmingham's Street Sweepers have new names. Meet "Sweeping Beauty" and "Meryl 
Sweep"! Keep an eye out for them around town with their brand new names featured 
on the vehicles. 
 

 
Website Calendar 
Communications team members trained the Clerk’s Office on how to enter meetings and 
events on the new website calendar. The web team will crosscheck all events before the 
end of the year. 
 

 
Human Resources 

 
Employment Update 
The HR Generalist recruitment was unable to pull a list of qualified candidates, and an 
HR Assistant posting has since been made. A full-time vacancy in Police Dispatch has 
been internally filled, and a recruitment for a part-time Dispatcher has subsequently 
opened. One vacancy for Streets/Sewer/Water Assistant Foreman has been internally 
filled, as well as another vacancy in the same department at the Operator level. 
Interviews are upcoming for the positions of Accounting Administrator and IT Intern. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City Staff Vaccination Update 
 

 
 
 
 

Department of Public Services 

 

Ice Arena 

Project close out items continue at the Birmingham Ice Arena between the City of 

Birmingham and C.E. Gleeson, the Contractor.  Planning is underway for a ribbon-cutting 

Grand Opening celebration for some time during the first quarter of 2022.  This is due to 

us completing the finishing touches prior to this event, but also because we are very 

cognizant of the rise in COVID-19 cases and want to include all necessary safety 

precautions. 

Pickleball 2.0 

The Parks and Recreation Board reviewed the final three locations at their December 7, 
2021 Board meeting and made a recommendation for the top Pickleball location (Kenning 
Park corner of S. Eton/E. Lincoln), based upon survey input on Engage Birmingham, 
numerous public meetings, emails and various site selection criteria.  While not contiguous 
this site is included as part of the Kenning Park Master Plan. 
 
Next steps will be to continue with Foresite Design, a professional firm specializing in the 
design and implementation of athletic and recreational facilities.  They will proceed with 
updating a site assessment and possible designs for the Kenning Park corner.  Services 
will also include preparing bid specifications to bid out the construction of the new 



Pickleball courts.  This information will be routed for administrative review to City 
departments for comment.  This item will come before the City Commission during a 
meeting in January 2022. 
 
Woodward Avenue Update 

Pedestrian traffic control flags placed on street signs along Woodward Avenue at 
Forest/Brown crossing were removed from the MDOT signs by DPS.  The department is 
proactive, as per usual course, to remove any such materials attached to signs or general 
items placed along roadways, in public areas.  We have given this location more attention 
as other items continue to be placed out on the ground/posts/signs including American 
flags with graffiti marked on them etc. requiring more review and removal by DPS. 
  
This department does consist of a sign shop and is actively involved with traffic control 
device installations throughout the City in coordination and cooperation with the Police 
Department. 
 
The good news is we (DPS) have the flags and containers. 

 

Finance Department 

A Message from Mark Gerber, Finance Director/Treasurer 

At a recent commission meeting after the audit presentation, resident Paul Regan asked 

about the City's replacement ratio with the system.  At the time, I did not know what a 

replacement ratio was.  After doing some research, I discovered that the term 

replacement ratio is used to describe a person's post-retirement income compared to 

their pre-retirement income.  It is a measure used by retirement planners to determine 

whether an individual has sufficient funding to retire.  For example, if an individual's 

retirement income from a pension and other retirement savings is $70,000 and their 

salary before retirement was $100,000, the individual would have a replacement ratio of 

70%.   

Most financial planners typically say that a person should have a replacement ratio of 
70-85%.  Employees in the City's defined benefit plan typically work 25-30 years which 
provides them 62.5% - 90% of their pre-retirement income.  The City also offers a 457 
plan where employees can save additional pre-tax funds to meet their retirement 
goals.  For employees in the City's defined contribution retirement plan, it is impossible 
to provide the replacement ratio for these individuals, because the employee can select 
from any number of investment options based on their risk tolerance.  However, the 
funding provided for the defined contribution employees is similar to what the actuary 
recommends for employees in the defined benefit system. Therefore, if the investments 
that an employee selects earns a similar rate of return as the pension system, they 
should end up with a very similar replacement ratio as those in the pension system.   
 
The replacement ratio is really used in individual retirement planning and not used to 
measure the health of the City's retirement and retiree health care plans.  However, it 
could possibly be used to gauge the quality of the retirement options offered by the City 
and the City's ability to retain its employees long-term. 



 

Fire Department 

Monoclonal Antibody Infusions 
Residents continue to be grateful for Monoclonal Antibody Infusions administered by the 
Fire Department. Chief Wells recently received the following letter: 
 
Chief Paul Wells: 
  
Late afternoon on Monday November 15th I noticed I had a fever of 99.5.   I went to 
Beaumont urgent care at 13 and Woodward and after a 2 hour wait got a PCR test and 
it proved positive. The doctor at Beaumont Urgent Care immediately wrote me a script 
for monoclonal antibodies.  He instructed me to call the infusion center at Beaumont the 
next day Tuesday, November 16th.  When I called Beaumont Infusion center they said 
they were very busy and would get back to me.  One of the mandates for mitigating 
severe COVID was to get the monoclonal antibodies as soon as possible.  Obviously, I 
was concerned.   Now witness the forthcoming miracle. 
  
On Tuesday morning, November 16th I got a call from the Assistant Fire Chief Matthew 
Bartalino from the Birmingham Fire Department.  At first, I thought it was a fund-raising 
call and when he asked me how I was I said I had COVID.  He said he knew because 
Beaumont informs the Birmingham fire department when residents of Birmingham get 
COVID.  His team of EMS Staff was authorized to administer the infusion of monoclonal 
antibodies and they could be over at my home at 1:30pm. I checked with my doctor, 
and he said OK.  
  
The team of three EMS Fire Department personnel, Trevor Baker, Ryan Neville and 
Marshal Crawford arrived right on time.  They hooked me up to the IV and it took about 
20 minutes to infuse the antibodies.  Then Michael Crawford stayed in his car outside 
and came in every 15 minutes for one hour to make sure I had no bad reactions. Talk 
about concierge service.  He said I should feel better in about 6 hours and in 24 hours 
significant improvement.  That has been their experience with about 20 others they 
serviced.  All this is proving accurate.  The team executed flawlessly with care and 
concern.  
  
It is difficult to convey the feelings of anxiety I had when I learned I tested positive, the 
overwhelming surprise and relief for the offer of service when I got the call and finally 
my deep, deep gratitude for the service provided by the Fire Department, the support of 
Birmingham City government and for having been fortunate enough to be a Birmingham 
resident for the last 4 years and the benefits provided.    
  
Merry Christmas, Happy New Year, Happy Holidays, and my eternal thanks for all your 
help.  My family thanks you too. 
  
Thomas December 
 

 



Planning Department 

Residential Units & Neighborhoods 

Senior Planner Brooks Cowan prepared a report about Birmingham’s residential units and 

neighborhoods. The report provides the number of single-family homes and multi-family 

units in the downtown area and other neighborhoods throughout the city. Cowan also 

addresses neighborhood fabric and identity. Download the full report here. 

Master Plan 2040 

The Planning Board will be continuing its thorough review of the second draft through the 

next couple of months. The presentation slides used by the consultant for their 

presentations will be available on www.thebirminghamplan.com, along with all documents 

relating to the 2040 Master Plan. You can also watch a recording of each meeting on the 

City of Birmingham website. As a reminder, you can still submit comments directly to the 

consultant team through the aforementioned 2040 Plan website, and can also submit 

comments directly to the Planning Division to be placed in the next available agenda of 

the Planning Board. 

Planning Board 

Moving into the holidays, the Planning Board is poised to finalize the dual outdoor dining 

reviews that have been the subject of conversation for many months. The City Commission 

should expect to see proposed ordinance language for both in early 2022.  In terms of 

site plan reviews, the Planning Board will be reviewing applications for the following 

developments in the near future: 

 460 N. Old Woodward – A new 3-story mixed-use development with ground floor 

retail, second floor office, and two residential units on the third floor with a rooftop 

use located above. The site currently contains the former Junior League of 

Birmingham building and associated off-street parking. The Planning Board will be 

reviewing the Final Site Plan and Design Review on December 16, 2021. 

 325 S. Eton St. – Phase 3 of the District Lofts development will contain first floor 

commercial space and 50 residential units ranging from 596 to 1,072 square feet. 

With the addition of this final piece, the site itself will also receive an upgrade in 

circulation and pedestrian movement in the rear, as well as new plaza space and 

significant landscaping. Final Site Plan and Design Review for this project is 

scheduled on December 16, 2021. 

 211 Hamilton Row – A new restaurant serving alcoholic liquors for on premise 

consumption is proposed in an existing tenant space in the Palladium building. The 

restaurant is proposed with little to no exterior building changes, but will include 

the addition of a small dining patio along Hamilton Row. The Special Land Use 

Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review application will be reviewed by the 

Planning Board on December 16, 2021. After a recommendation is made by the 

Planning Board, the application will be forwarded to the City Commission for final 

approval. 

https://www.bhamgov.org/Document_Center/Department/City%20manager/City%20Manager%20Report/Dec%202021/Residential%20Units%20in%20Birmingham%20-%20Managers%20Report%20120821.pdf
http://www.thebirminghamplan.com/
http://www.bhamgov.org/watch


 100 Townsend – The Townsend Hotel has submitted an application for a new 

outdoor dining platform adjacent to the hotel and Rugby Grille on Townsend St. 

The Special Land Use Permit, Final Site Plan and Design Review application review 

is scheduled for the Planning Board’s second meeting in January, and will be 

forwarded to the City Commission for final approval after receiving a 

recommendation from the Planning Board.  

Historic Preservation 

The Historic District Commission will be wrapping up 2021 with an intense plan of action 

for historic preservation in 2022, which includes the adoption of historic design guidelines, 

a general preservation master plan, and a signage/wayfinding plan for the Bates St. 

Historic District. Additionally, the Historic District Study Committee has been given the 

green light by the City Commission to continue its important work of updating the 1992 

Wallace Frost report titled “Wallace Frost: His Architecture in Birmingham, MI.” as well as 

developing a proposal to reinvigorate the Heritage Home program. The first meeting is 

expected to be held at the start of the new year. 

Public Art 

The Public Arts Board is working to build on its successful 2021 call for entries program 

by finalizing its 2022 call for entries. The program affords an opportunity for six artists to 

receive a small grant to provide public art in the City of Birmingham. Along with the call 

for entries program, the Public Arts Board continues to field donation requests and is 

working with the Planning Board and Design Review Board to pass new ordinance 

language to allow wall art in the City.  

Multi-Modal Transportation Board 

The Multi-Modal Transportation Board (MMTB) has taken on the valiant but challenging 

task that is improving the Woodward corridor. At present, the MMTB will be seeking a 

resolution from the City Commission to move forward with the Woodward Avenue Road 

Diet Checklist, and will be studying various other improvements for Woodward.  

Police Department 

The police department has filled three police officer openings: 
1.  Ofc. Michael Pranger - Ofc. Pranger previously worked as a police officer in the City 
of Taylor for the past six years.  Ofc. Pranger is also a trained accident 
investigator.  Ofc. Pranger is married to his wife Chelsea and they are expecting their 
first child in April of 2022.  
2.  Ofc. Lisa Wayner - Ofc. Wayner graduated on Friday, December 3, 2021 from the 
121st class of the Oakland Police Academy.  Ofc. Wayner received several honors for her 
performance at the academy, including earning the top academic performer out of her 
class of 45. Ofc. Wayner is married to her husband Paul and together they have two 
young children.  
3. Ofc. Nicole Cordero - Ofc. Cordero graduated from the Detroit Police Academy in July 
of 2021 and spent the past six months as an officer for the City of Detroit.  Ofc. Codero 
previously worked for the past ten years for the State of Arizona Department of 



Corrections as a psychology associate.  Ofc. Codero was recently married in September 
of 2021 to her husband, Jose.     
 

Parking Systems Update 
 

Parking Structure Repairs 

North Old Woodward construction has stopped for the year due to inclement weather. 

Construction will resume in the spring of 2022. 

Construction is ongoing at the Chester Structure and will continue as weather permits. 

Monthly Parking 

The Advisory Parking Committee approved to increase the authorized monthly permit 

sales by the following: 

 

Currently 
Authorized 

Sales 

Proposed 
Sales 

Increase 
Total  

Chester Garage  1218 150 1368 

Old Woodward  881 100 981 

Park Garage  845 100 945 

Peabody Garage  486 50 536 

Pierce Garage  676 75 751 

 

Structure Capacities  

Below are capacities for each structure for the month of November. Numbers are based 

on counts at 10 a.m. and 2 p.m. each day Monday through Saturday. 

 

 
Future Agenda Items 
Download a summary of future agenda items. 
  
Future Workshop Items 
Download a summary of future workshop items. 

Chester Garage 33%

Old Woodward 49%

Park Garage 47%

Peabody Garage 25%

Pierce Garage 67%

November

https://www.bhamgov.org/Document_Center/Department/City%20manager/City%20Manager%20Report/Dec%202021/Future%20Agenda%20Items%20December%202021.pdf
https://www.bhamgov.org/Document_Center/Department/City%20manager/City%20Manager%20Report/Dec%202021/Future%20Workshop%20Items%20December%202021.pdf


12/9/21, 3:15 PM City of Birmingham MI Mail - Re: Master plan questions & observations

Alex Bingham <abingham@bhamgov.org>

Re: Master plan questions & observations
Tom Markus <tmarkus@bhamgov.org> Thu, Dec 9, 2021 at 3:14 PM
To: Andrew Haig <ahaig@bhamgov.org>
Cc: DepartmentHeads <departmentheads@bhamgov.org>, City Commission <city-commission@bhamgov.org>

Andrew,
Please find my responses to your questions raised in your email dated 12/8/21.

· In the previous and the latest Planning board mee�ngs there were presenta�ons with supplemental
documenta�on shown by the Consultant that clarified certain points, none of these addi�onal files have been made
public informa�on, please can they be? Even if labeled “For reference only”?

Supplemental documenta�on is included in the Planning Board agenda packet on the City’s website, presenta�on
materials are posted on the project website at www.thebirminghamplan.com.

·  Many ques�ons from the board about clarifying color codes and what seams/zoning actually means - if the
board is less than 100% clear on these items, then no one is 100% clear and we will need more clarity or
explana�ons.

Although there is no ques�on posed here, please note that the color choices used on the maps in the 2040 Plan
have been discussed, and the Planning Board has provided direc�on to the consultant to alter the presenta�on of
the maps for ease of reading and interpreta�on.

· Redline copy, I had asked for it in my (pre elec�on) le�er to the board, it was discussed by several board
members for its usefulness, given that there were addi�onal changes already made and there were a couple of other
correc�ons found, please can we seriously consider this?

Prepara�on of a red line copy of each of the dra� versions of the 2040 Plan were not included within the scope of
the contract with our consultant. However, prepara�on of a red line version of changes from dra� 1 to dra� 2
would not be an efficient use of �me or money.  Dra� 1 was 236 pages long, and was significantly reduced  to 93
pages by dra� 2.  A red line copy would not be useful given the extensive redac�on and complete reorganiza�on
that was done between dra� 1 and 2.  In any event, no direc�on has been provided to date to add the prepara�on
of a red line copy to the scope of work in our contract with the consultant.

· The note about Greenwood being labeled a park and not a cemetery, led me to look into the green space at
Lincoln & Eton, which was called a park in the plan, but is not listed on the city parks list. Can the defini�on of this
space be cleared up please? Plus can we refer back to the mo�on by former Commissioner Nickita in October 28th
2019 City Commission mee�ng minutes to review the exclusion of this space from SLUP zoning to see if it is even
currently zoned for development, or if it will require a rezoning as it’s general status as it is not clear?

The green space at the corner of Lincoln and S. Eton is part of Kenning Park.  Any change to the use of this green
space will be brought forward to the City Commission for review.  The City Commission will ul�mately decide any
future use.

·  This was brought up in the latest mee�ng by Larry Bertolinni and Brooks men�oned that Parks & Rec are
recommending pickleball courts there. There is a lot of resident support for that green space as it is heavily used by
families and yoga classes.

The green space at the corner of Lincoln and S. Eton is part of Kenning Park.  Any change to the use of this green
space will be brought forward to the City Commission for review.  The City Commission will ul�mately decide any
future use.

· Connector loop - figure 24,  was talked about as being more intended for bikes and walking, but figure 27 where
it shows transit stops was not discussed to explain what they are and what they are meant to be used for. Can this

10E2

http://www.thebirminghamplan.com/


12/9/21, 3:15 PM City of Birmingham MI Mail - Re: Master plan questions & observations

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=122eed7f76&view=pt&search=all&permmsgid=msg-f%3A1718700784852759419&simpl=msg-f%3A17187007848… 2/6

also be clarified as to their interac�on to the connector loop?

Please be more specific with your ques�on.

· Rail district public parking. Where and what is the ul�mate purpose of this parking, is it going to be a mul� level
deck?

The purpose is to provide parking based on projected needs.  Parking needs are not currently under review as
there are no specific parking projects proposed at this �me.

·  “Establish permanent unbundled residen�al parking as municipal garages are built”
· What new municipal garages? We need to understand the post Covid parking landscape before we
look at any incremental garages. Every �me I have been to downtown at any �me of day or night, I have
found ample available parking. Is this not an agenda item for the various boards to be looking at already?
Should this be removed or set aside un�l we have any final feedback from those boards?

Any addi�onal parking facili�es, including any parking decks, would be based on projected need.  Clearly, no
parking structures are proposed at this �me.  Past, current and future parking data and needs will be reviewed
when a specific proposal is under considera�on, whether in Downtown, the Triangle District and/or the Rail
District. 

· Triangle deck recommenda�on – same ques�on, where is the need coming from post Covid, need to
see data suppor�ng this significant increase in actual demand.

Any addi�onal parking facili�es, including any parking decks, would be based on projected need.  Clearly, no
parking structures are proposed at this �me.  Past, current and future parking data and needs will be reviewed
when a specific proposal is under considera�on, whether in Downtown, the Triangle District and/or the Rail
District. 

·  Popula�on growth data – please can we get the source data for all the growth that is predicted because the
public domain data for the en�re region does not show any support for any of the growth that is discussed.

o  https://semcog.org/Community-Profiles Use the drop down menu to drill down to Birmingham
o  SE MI shows a net growth of 274k people, Oakland county 39k people and Birmingham is only ~448 people
in the period from 2020 census data & 2040, no major difference by 2045 (limit of their data).
o  Also indicates that currently ~10% of our houses are vacant, 448 people would not even fill half of those
houses assuming they were all single persons.
o Increase in housing density along seams to enable families, again SEMCOG data indicates minimal
popula�on growth (recovery from the 2015-2018 loss) in the school district between 2018 & 2040. It did
show approx -20% reduc�on in school popula�on from 2015 to 2018. It also indicated Oakland county
wide has an 8% reduc�on in school popula�on from 2015 to 2040, Birmingham is one of the largest
reduc�ons of any district.
o https://semcog.org/desktopmodules/SEMCOG.Publications/GetFile.ashx?filename=
QuickFactsSEMCOGs2045ForecastOfSchoolAgePopulationOctober2018.pdf
o  Page 12 gives specifics for Oakland County school popula�ons
o  MI school report data supports the loss in schoolchildren:

· https://www.mischooldata.org/student-enrollment-counts-report?Common_Locations=1-A,0,
0,0~2-A,0,0,0&Common_SchoolYear=22&Common_LocationIncludeComparison=False&Portal_
InquiryDisplayType=Snapshot&Common_Subgroup_StudentCountFact2=AllStudents&
Common_Grade=AllGrades&Common_CrossTab=

All source data is referenced on the project website at www.thebirminghamplan.com in the Documents sec�on
under the heading Master Plan Background Analysis Reports.

· Also can we see the causal data driving the need to add ADU’s and mul� family housing? When we compare our
housing type demographics with adjacent ci�es and Oakland County, we find that Birmingham’s ra�o of single family
residen�al to mul� family is sta�s�cally aligned with the region (approx. ¾ to ¼). If we are matching the regional data,
why are we looking to add?

All source data is referenced on the project website at www.thebirminghamplan.com in the Documents sec�on
under the heading Master Plan Background Analysis Reports.

https://semcog.org/Community-Profiles
https://semcog.org/desktopmodules/SEMCOG.Publications/GetFile.ashx?filename=QuickFactsSEMCOGs2045ForecastOfSchoolAgePopulationOctober2018.pdf
https://www.mischooldata.org/student-enrollment-counts-report?Common_Locations=1-A,0,0,0~2-A,0,0,0&Common_SchoolYear=22&Common_LocationIncludeComparison=False&Portal_InquiryDisplayType=Snapshot&Common_Subgroup_StudentCountFact2=AllStudents&Common_Grade=AllGrades&Common_CrossTab=
http://www.thebirminghamplan.com/
http://www.thebirminghamplan.com/


12/9/21, 3:15 PM City of Birmingham MI Mail - Re: Master plan questions & observations

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=122eed7f76&view=pt&search=all&permmsgid=msg-f%3A1718700784852759419&simpl=msg-f%3A17187007848… 3/6

 
·         Residen�al density is also concerning for the proposed density increased in the appropriate zoned area’s.
Birmingham has 2100 residents per square mile, but Troy has 1000, Beverly Hills has 1100, Bloomfield Hills has 320.
Please can we get more data on why we are increasing resident density when our neighbors currently have
significantly more space to expand compared to us.
 
The character of Birmingham is and has historically been different, the cultural character, the physical character,
density and mix of uses are all different than the suburb communi�es of Bloomfield Hills, Troy and others.
 
•      Senior housing needs are not yet discussed.
 
Senior housing issues are addressed in mul�ple places in the dra� 2040 Plan, including pages 5, 6, 28, 40, 49, 51, 82
and 90.
 
•         Why is there no discussion about the schools in the Master plan, when the Planning board Chair, Mr Clein’s
company (Giffels Webster), is running the Clawson Master plan right now and it is being significantly driven by the
massive reduc�on in the Clawson school district, the schools that needed to be closed & the land that has to be used
(please note the date of this file - 9/2021).

o   https://giffelswebster.sharefile.com/share/view/saa39f14354db41cd92410faa88468bb1
·         The Clawson plan has a lot of data we need to study as they see some of the same issues and are
taking a different tack.

 
Schools are addressed in mul�ple places in the dra� 2040 Plan, including pages 2, 4, 15, 21, 37, 39, 40, 41, 50, 56,
58, and 61.
 
You advised that you directed this email and your comments therein to the City Manager’s office, based on a
conversta�on with City A�orney Kucharek.  However, the City Commission just discussed this very issue at the
mee�ng this past Monday, and the City A�orney advised the City Commission, in wri�ng, as follows:
 

“....we must be cognizant of not only impressions and una�ended consequences of the
presence of commissioners, but the Open Mee�ngs Act as well.  Keeping in mind that the
basic intent of the Open Mee�ngs Act is to require commissioners to be transparent while
conduc�ng business at open mee�ngs of the City Commission.”

 
This is true whether through your appearance at City mee�ngs or through memos such as this one, the same risk of
impropriety or the percep�on of impropriety exists.  Your personal comments about the Chair of the Planning
Board by name, as well as comments about his firm and their business in other communi�es is exactly what is
inappropriate.  This commentary and behavior could be interpreted as duress or undue pressure as you go to great
lengths to iden�fy Mr. Clein and put pressure on him and others by poten�ally compromising his professional
reputa�on.  This is exactly the appearance that the City A�orney has advised all City Commissioners to avoid.
 
·         Troy Master plan is under revision as well, they issued a city wide ques�onnaire looking for input  which gave key
indicators of similar themes we have in our plan, with very different answers from the popula�on compared to our
plan which was described by a couple of board members as “prescribed”. 
·         https://cms6.revize.com/revize/troymi/Departments/Planning/Troy%20Master%20Plan%
20Survey%202021.pdf
 
Both Troy and Clawson are en�rely different than Birmingham, and I am certain their residents have different
perspec�ves as well.  There has been extensive public engagement throughout the process to update our master
plan, and residents have been encouraged to par�cipate every step of the way.
It is up to our City Commission to adopt our own plan with input from our residents.  Ul�mately, you will be 1 of 7
City Commissioners deciding on the final vision contained within the 2040 Master Plan.
 
·         The residen�al survey of needs is remarkably similar to Clawson, but somehow different to what is being
proposed for Birmingham.
 
Clawson is an en�rely different community than Birmingham, thus different approaches are to be expected.
 
·         The commercial developments in parks, It was discussed a couple of �mes about them & making structures, why
do we not use these as the test sites for the Food Trucks that we are s�ll scheduled to discuss again, with the support
of the resident who offered his experience as a food truck owner?

https://giffelswebster.sharefile.com/share/view/saa39f14354db41cd92410faa88468bb1
https://cms6.revize.com/revize/troymi/Departments/Planning/Troy%20Master%20Plan%20Survey%202021.pdf


12/9/21, 3:15 PM City of Birmingham MI Mail - Re: Master plan questions & observations

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=122eed7f76&view=pt&search=all&permmsgid=msg-f%3A1718700784852759419&simpl=msg-f%3A17187007848… 4/6

You are encouraged to bring your sugges�on to test food trucks in City parks to the City Commission and determine
if a majority of the City Commission wishes to discuss this at a future mee�ng.

 

On Wed, Dec 8, 2021 at 11:04 PM Andrew Haig <ahaig@bhamgov.org> wrote: 
It was how I understood the answer from Mary Kucharek when I was chatting with her recently, so that I would not be
directly asking questions of the board(s) and would not fall into OMA issues by trying to copy them all on the email
myself. This way any question I have is directed to one person and then distributed so that all commissioners are able
to see the questions and answers equally.
I tried asking Nick DuPuis directly a couple of weeks ago via email and copied Jana as they were related to her
previous position and received no response at all, so I figured that was also the indication that I was not following the
correct pathway to ask and get answers to the items that I wanted to know more about.
Tonight’s information workshop meeting just raised a few more questions that I am not permitted to ask the board in
public comments.
 
Andrew 
 
Ethermail
 

On Dec 8, 2021, at 22:10, Tom Markus <tmarkus@bhamgov.org> wrote: 
 

 
While I ponder your comments I would ask you;  Who advised you to pass any questions thru me?  Did
the person(s) who advised you,  provide you with any basis/justification for following their advice?
 
On Wed, Dec 8, 2021 at 9:05 PM Andrew Haig <ahaig@bhamgov.org> wrote: 

Tom, I was advised to pass any questions through you so that they can be distributed to the rest of the
Commission and Planning board appropriately to avoid any OMA issues.
 
I have watched the last 2 meetings (Vimeo feed tonight) and I have a number of questions that I
would like to get answered please.
 

·         In the previous and the latest Planning board mee�ngs there were presenta�ons with
supplemental documenta�on shown by the Consultant that clarified certain points, none of
these addi�onal files have been made public informa�on, please can they be? Even if
labeled “For reference only”?
·         Many ques�ons from the board about clarifying color codes and what seams/zoning
actually means - if the board is less than 100% clear on these items, then no one is 100%
clear and we will need more clarity or explana�ons.
·         Redline copy, I had asked for it in my (pre elec�on) le�er to the board, it was discussed
by several board members for its usefulness, given that there were addi�onal changes
already made and there were a couple of other correc�ons found, please can we seriously
consider this?
·         The note about Greenwood being labeled a park and not a cemetery, led me to look
into the green space at Lincoln & Eton, which was called a park in the plan, but is not listed
on the city parks list. Can the defini�on of this space be cleared up please? Plus can we
refer back to the mo�on by former Commissioner Nickita in October 28th 2019 City
Commission mee�ng minutes to review the exclusion of this space from SLUP zoning to see
if it is even currently zoned for development, or if it will require a rezoning as it’s general
status as it is not clear?
·         This was brought up in the latest mee�ng by Larry Bertolinni and Brooks men�oned
that Parks & Rec are recommending pickleball courts there. There is a lot of resident
support for that green space as it is heavily used by families and yoga classes.
·         Connector loop - figure 24,  was talked about as being more intended for bikes and
walking, but figure 27 where it shows transit stops was not discussed to explain what they
are and what they are meant to be used for. Can this also be clarified as to their interac�on
to the connector loop?
·         Rail district public parking. Where and what is the ul�mate purpose of this parking, is it
going to be a mul� level deck?
·         “Establish permanent unbundled residen�al parking as municipal garages are built”

mailto:ahaig@bhamgov.org
mailto:tmarkus@bhamgov.org
mailto:ahaig@bhamgov.org


12/9/21, 3:15 PM City of Birmingham MI Mail - Re: Master plan questions & observations

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=122eed7f76&view=pt&search=all&permmsgid=msg-f%3A1718700784852759419&simpl=msg-f%3A17187007848… 5/6

o   What new municipal garages? We need to understand the post Covid parking
landscape before we look at any incremental garages. Every �me I have been to
downtown at any �me of day or night, I have found ample available parking. Is this
not an agenda item for the various boards to be looking at already? Should this be
removed or set aside un�l we have any final feedback from those boards?
o   Triangle deck recommenda�on – same ques�on, where is the need coming from
post Covid, need to see data suppor�ng this significant increase in actual demand.

·         Popula�on growth data – please can we get the source data for all the growth that is
predicted because the public domain data for the en�re region does not show any support
for any of the growth that is discussed.

o   https://semcog.org/Community-Profiles Use the drop down menu to drill
down to Birmingham
o   SE MI shows a net growth of 274k people, Oakland county 39k people and
Birmingham is only ~448 people in the period from 2020 census data & 2040, no
major difference by 2045 (limit of their data).
o   Also indicates that currently ~10% of our houses are vacant, 448 people would
not even fill half of those houses assuming they were all single persons.
o   Increase in housing density along seams to enable families, again SEMCOG data
indicates minimal popula�on growth (recovery from the 2015-2018 loss) in the
school district between 2018 & 2040. It did show approx -20% reduc�on in school
popula�on from 2015 to 2018. It also indicated Oakland county wide has an 8%
reduc�on in school popula�on from 2015 to 2040, Birmingham is one of the largest
reduc�ons of any district.
o   https://semcog.org/desktopmodules/SEMCOG.Publications/GetFile.ashx?
filename=QuickFactsSEMCOGs2045ForecastO
fSchoolAgePopulationOctober2018.pdf
o   Page 12 gives specifics for Oakland County school popula�ons
o   MI school report data supports the loss in schoolchildren:
o   https://www.mischooldata.org/student-enrollment-counts-report?
Common_Locations=1-A,0,0,0~2-A,0,0,0&Common_
SchoolYear=22&Common_LocationIncludeComparison=False&Portal_
InquiryDisplayType=Snapshot&Common_Subgroup_
StudentCountFact2=AllStudents&Common_Grade=AllGrades&Common_
CrossTab=

·         Also can we see the causal data driving the need to add ADU’s and mul� family
housing? When we compare our housing type demographics with adjacent ci�es and
Oakland County, we find that Birmingham’s ra�o of single family residen�al to mul� family
is sta�s�cally aligned with the region (approx. ¾ to ¼). If we are matching the regional data,
why are we looking to add?
·         Residen�al density is also concerning for the proposed density increased in the
appropriate zoned area’s. Birmingham has 2100 residents per square mile, but Troy has
1000, Beverly Hills has 1100, Bloomfield Hills has 320. Please can we get more data on why
we are increasing resident density when our neighbors currently have significantly more
space to expand compared to us.
·         Senior housing needs are not yet discussed.
·         Why is there no discussion about the schools in the Master plan, when the Planning
board Chair, Mr Clein’s company (Giffels Webster), is running the Clawson Master plan right
now and it is being significantly driven by the massive reduc�on in the Clawson school
district, the schools that needed to be closed & the land that has to be used (please note
the date of this file - 9/2021).

o   https://giffelswebster.sharefile.com/share/view/
saa39f14354db41cd92410faa88468bb1
o   The Clawson plan has a lot of data we need to study as they see some of the
same issues and are taking a different tack.

·         Troy Master plan is under revision as well, they issued a city wide ques�onnaire
looking for input  which gave key indicators of similar themes we have in our plan, with very
different answers from the popula�on compared to our plan which was described by a
couple of board members as “prescribed”. 
·         https://cms6.revize.com/revize/troymi/Departments/
Planning/Troy%20Master%20Plan%20Survey%202021.pdf

https://semcog.org/Community-Profiles
https://semcog.org/desktopmodules/SEMCOG.Publications/GetFile.ashx?filename=QuickFactsSEMCOGs2045ForecastOfSchoolAgePopulationOctober2018.pdf
https://www.mischooldata.org/student-enrollment-counts-report?Common_Locations=1-A,0,0,0~2-A,0,0,0&Common_SchoolYear=22&Common_LocationIncludeComparison=False&Portal_InquiryDisplayType=Snapshot&Common_Subgroup_StudentCountFact2=AllStudents&Common_Grade=AllGrades&Common_CrossTab=
https://giffelswebster.sharefile.com/share/view/saa39f14354db41cd92410faa88468bb1
https://cms6.revize.com/revize/troymi/Departments/Planning/Troy%20Master%20Plan%20Survey%202021.pdf


12/9/21, 3:15 PM City of Birmingham MI Mail - Re: Master plan questions & observations

https://mail.google.com/mail/u/0/?ik=122eed7f76&view=pt&search=all&permmsgid=msg-f%3A1718700784852759419&simpl=msg-f%3A17187007848… 6/6

·         The residen�al survey of needs is remarkably similar to Clawson, but somehow
different to what is being proposed for Birmingham.
·         The commercial developments in parks, It was discussed a couple of �mes about them
& making structures, why do we not use these as the test sites for the Food Trucks that we
are s�ll scheduled to discuss again, with the support of the resident who offered his
experience as a food truck owner?

 

Thanks,

Andrew

--  
You received this message because you are subscribed to the Google Groups "DepartmentHeads" group. 
To unsubscribe from this group and stop receiving emails from it, send an email to departmentheads+unsubscribe@
bhamgov.org. 
To view this discussion on the web visit https://groups.google.com/a/bhamgov.org/d/msgid/departmentheads/
CALPLqCiJb4tWgMxNLobZafr1iTxdE6fKaLpTA%3Dbu94%3DVuMAvTg%40mail.gmail.com. 

mailto:departmentheads+unsubscribe@bhamgov.org
https://groups.google.com/a/bhamgov.org/d/msgid/departmentheads/CALPLqCiJb4tWgMxNLobZafr1iTxdE6fKaLpTA%3Dbu94%3DVuMAvTg%40mail.gmail.com?utm_medium=email&utm_source=footer


REPORT 

DATE: December 13, 2021  

TO: Thomas M. Markus, City Manager and City Commission 

FROM: Mary M. Kucharek   

SUBJECT: Identifying Pending Litigation 

As you may recall, at the December 6, 2021 Commission meeting, I requested to meet in 
closed session to discuss pending litigation pursuant to MCL 15.268(e) of the Open Meetings Act.  
Pursuant to Anklam v Delta College Board of Trustees (2018), we should have listed the particular 
pending litigation by name in our motion.   The pending litigation was involving Daniel and Jola 
Forthoffer (110 Baldwin Road) (City of Birmingham v Daniel Forthoffer and Jola Forthoffer; 
Oakland County Circuit Court Case No.:  2021-188981-CH)  and Anthony and Paula Beshouri (122 
Baldwin Road) (City of Birmingham v Anthony Beshouri and Paula Beshouri; Oakland County 
Circuit Court Case No: Case No. 2021-188983-CH).  

The minutes should be reflected to show that the pending litigation in question was: 

City of Birmingham v Daniel Forthoffer and Jola Forthoffer;  
Oakland County Circuit Court Case No.:  2021-188981-CH 

Hon. Victoria Valentine 

AND 

City of Birmingham v Anthony Beshouri and Paula Beshouri;  
Oakland County Circuit Court Case No: Case No. 2021-188983-CH 

Hon. Cheryl A. Matthews 

10E3



NOTICE 
South Evergreen Interceptor Rehabilitation Project 

December 7, 2021 

Dear Village of Beverly Hills Resident:  

The Oakland County’s Water Resources’ Commissioner’s Office (WRC) will commence construction in your area as part 
of the South Evergreen Interceptor Rehabilitation Project. The work includes conducting preventative maintenance repairs 
within the 54-inch diameter Interceptor located beneath Evergreen Road between 14 Mile Road and Village Drive. 

In order to complete this project, Evergreen Road will be closed from just north of Village Drive to 14 Mile Road for the 
duration of the project. Additionally, all roadways that connect to Evergreen Road between Village Drive and 14 Mile Road 
will be closed from access to Evergreen Road for the duration of the project.  Refer to the attached Map for a general 
overview of the proposed traffic control. 

The project is expected to begin on January 3, 2022 and the work is expected to take approximately 4 to 5 months to 
complete, weather permitting.  A brief presentation to review the traffic control plan for the project will be provided at the 
December 21, 2021 Village of Beverly Hills Council Meeting.  The virtual meeting information is located below; 

Join Zoom Meeting 

Zoom link:  https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89921163907 

Meeting ID: 899 2116 3907 
Dial in: 1 646 876 9923 (US) 

Thank you in advance for your patience during this important infrastructure improvement project. 

South Evergreen Interceptor Rehabilitation Project Team, 

Consulting Engineers 
Hubbell, Roth & Clark, Inc. 
Bradley Shepler, PE 
Design Engineer 
(248) 535-3337
bshepler@hrcengr.com

Village of Beverly Hills 
18500 West Thirteen Mile Road 
Beverly Hills, MI 48025  
Kevin Lawrence 
Director of Public Services 
(248) 646-6404
klawrence@villagebeverlyhills.com

OCWRC 
Evans Bantios, PE 
Project Engineer 
(248) 724-6617
bantiose@oakgov.com

INFORMATION ONLY

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89921163907
mailto:bshepler@hrcengr.com


Ev
er

gr
ee

n 
R

d

Riverside Dr

W 14 Mile Rd

Bev
erl

y R
d

O
ld

 P
os

t R
d

W
es

to
n

Old Coach

Norw
oo

d
Warwick

R
os

ev
ea

r D
r

Village Dr

W
al

th
am

 R
d

Wellesley Blvd

Carriage Ln

Glenhill Ct

S C
ranbrook R

d

Sunnyslope

Old 
Pon

d C
t

Quail Ridge Ct

C
rossw

ick

Smallwood Ct

Breezewood Ct

Waltham Ct

Li
nc

ol
n 

H
ills

 C
t

Sources: Esri, HERE, Garmin, Intermap, increment P Corp., GEBCO,
USGS, FAO, NPS, NRCAN, GeoBase, IGN, Kadaster NL, Ordnance
Survey, Esri Japan, METI, Esri China (Hong Kong), (c) OpenStreetMap
contributors, and the GIS User Community

D
oc

um
en

t P
at

h:
 Y

:\2
02

00
1\

20
20

01
95

\0
4_

D
es

ig
n\

P
ro

je
ct

_D
oc

s\
20

21
12

06
_E

xh
ib

it_
tra

ffi
c.

m
xd

EXHIBIT NO.JOB NO.

DATE

© 
20
18
 H

ub
be
ll, 

Ro
th
 a
nd
 C

lar
k, 

Inc
. 
All
 R

igh
ts
 R

es
er
ve
d

Us
er
 N

am
e:
 m

hu
gh
es

Co
or
din

at
e 
Sy
st
em

: 
NA
D 

19
83
 S
ta
te
Pl
an
e 
Mi
ch
iga

n 
So
ut
h 
FIP

S 
21
13
 F
ee
t 
Int
lLa

m
be
rt 

Co
nf
or
m
al 

Co
nic

OAKLAND COUNTY 
WATER RESOURCES COMMISSIONER 

SOUTH EVERGREEN INTERCEPTOR REHABILITATION 
ROAD CLOSURES 

OAKLAND COUNTY MICHIGAN

20200195

1
12/6/2021

0 0.05 0.1 0.15 0.20.025
Miles

¯
ROAD CLOSED

TO THRU
TRAFFIC EVERGREEN WILL BE A

SINGLE LANE ROAD
WITH SHARED
PASSING ZONES FOR
RESIDENTS THAT LIVE
ALONG EVERGREEN
ROAD IN THIS
PROJECT AREA

Riverside closed between
Evergreen and Norwood /
Sunnyslope

Evergreen Rd

Access for Residents on
Old Post, Old Coach,
Cobblestone, & Wellesley

Access for 
Residents
 on Carriage
Ln.

ONE 
LANE
ROAD

CONSTRUCTION ZONE

ROAD 
CLOSED

ROAD 
CLOSED

ROAD 
CLOSED

ROAD 
CLOSED

ROAD 
CLOSED

Village Dr. and Old Pond
Ct, must 
enter from the
 South

Birmingham
Country Club

Lincoln Hills Golf Course

Co
bb

les
ton

e

W
ellesley

DR
AW

N:
 M

GH

ROAD CLOSED
TO THRU
TRAFFIC

ROAD CLOSED
TO THRU
TRAFFIC

EVERGREEN RD
CLOSED 

LOCAL TRAFFIC ONLY

EVERGREEN RD
CLOSED 

LOCAL TRAFFIC ONLY



12/8/21, 9:16 AM Surgeon General Issues Advisory on Youth Mental Health | Healthiest Communities Health News | US News

https://www.usnews.com/news/health-news/articles/2021-12-07/surgeon-general-issues-advisory-on-youth-mental-health 1/10

Order Now

Home / News / Health News

NEWS

Virtual Event: Healthcare of Tomorrow »

Surgeon General Advisory Raises Alarm on Youth Mental Health

The COVID-19 pandemic has ‘exacerbated the unprecedented stresses young people already faced,’
Surgeon General Vivek Murthy says in a new report.

By Steven Ross Johnson

Dec. 7, 2021

Save

INFORMATION ONLY

https://cat.va.us.criteo.com/delivery/ck.php?cppv=3&cpp=NFagppK36j6J3CnhimHt6t5v_8m4SQpjlWMRMY9bosEx6i1BlheEZV5z20vYgswY-Fcrl80Q5uLQvMZig_0qM3dIRu20ZQtJRkpM4yNQHjBdhdg04ciqaExj1poMeEFuMtihYVvqByyjwxXXZ5oegg9sFAt6o4HbHtvN42FRfY-Ok40Pc0u8E-4BLlWmpwVEMG11vO6gyn90eY71opY1dSFv60LHcy_DXhVIT3TLpBGtMoTUdYsBCo4ZjBeJ1893pAKZ-TIeX4JJsiGOQyjnF4Dn4UGPxazgg6nLMFq_QumsHkQZL-66heusKEvYyTw5v-aycHnXXzXPWsa7lCeeHOKl_jF5KbTBvPE0PmEcH7wWI4NYkZY6lMpbQTBgX5KhqFsCNixkcLPYkHcgiXQHkvsXc-L2IVN5Zkzc3MWrk3EFG_oBYEHdZyApddVOuxQnUZBEEnHSupIcM7SwjLrJoq4ynH3BdnZpjJqCqs9GXC8uy0hj&maxdest=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.awards.com%3Futm_source%3Dcriteo%26utm_medium%3Dcpc%26utm_campaign%3DVisitors%2520-%2520Last%252060%2520Days
https://cat.va.us.criteo.com/delivery/ck.php?cppv=3&cpp=Kg5ewZK36j6J3CnhimHt6t5v_8m4SQpjlWMRMY9bosEx6i1BlheEZV5z20vYgswY-Fcrl80Q5uLQvMZig_0qM3dIRu20ZQtJRkpM4yNQHjBdhdg04ciqaExj1poMeEFuMtihYVvqByyjwxXXZ5oegg9sFAtT75J8RsDPce-R0pTc9Qz5ydKHEjeB4tu9XOcn70sBi8TN8vysvwGmvgGQrSvrexxxk7ywlxdwuvIWENGwmt75CEpvKOnDyvSYs-Nnan3amQjYkydo2_9CcuPP20kbXLY0bji7VqTW_jTkT6FJyI6ZisRFf-W-GEnxD8g11vWIuDfDFpmht4znUAUgQ_Qw89S1b1RR1GnbEUmvhUVrmS8_oKZSbFMNzCpp1mIAP2xqHCVDOSoNNBt6U7HgIThqwXSJJ3ibegKAG5HqsNHEqGTlNFArnYisrxoInryiY1kl2wk-Otfbt0HnT1v-3jKV90ECcawxHS-02tnNxhRvo1GIikx48USNzcxlnb8G4t9XnQ&maxdest=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.awards.com%2Fplaques%2F16983-farnsworth%2Fcaprice-black%2Fgreen%3Fpart%3D217637%26utm_source%3Dcriteo%26utm_medium%3Dcpc%26utm_campaign%3DVisitors%2520-%2520Last%252060%2520Days
https://cat.va.us.criteo.com/delivery/ck.php?cppv=3&cpp=Kg5ewZK36j6J3CnhimHt6t5v_8m4SQpjlWMRMY9bosEx6i1BlheEZV5z20vYgswY-Fcrl80Q5uLQvMZig_0qM3dIRu20ZQtJRkpM4yNQHjBdhdg04ciqaExj1poMeEFuMtihYVvqByyjwxXXZ5oegg9sFAtT75J8RsDPce-R0pTc9Qz5ydKHEjeB4tu9XOcn70sBi8TN8vysvwGmvgGQrSvrexxxk7ywlxdwuvIWENGwmt75CEpvKOnDyvSYs-Nnan3amQjYkydo2_9CcuPP20kbXLY0bji7VqTW_jTkT6FJyI6ZisRFf-W-GEnxD8g11vWIuDfDFpmht4znUAUgQ_Qw89S1b1RR1GnbEUmvhUVrmS8_oKZSbFMNzCpp1mIAP2xqHCVDOSoNNBt6U7HgIThqwXSJJ3ibegKAG5HqsNHEqGTlNFArnYisrxoInryiY1kl2wk-Otfbt0HnT1v-3jKV90ECcawxHS-02tnNxhRvo1GIikx48USNzcxlnb8G4t9XnQ&maxdest=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.awards.com%2Fplaques%2F16983-farnsworth%2Fcaprice-black%2Fgreen%3Fpart%3D217637%26utm_source%3Dcriteo%26utm_medium%3Dcpc%26utm_campaign%3DVisitors%2520-%2520Last%252060%2520Days
https://cat.va.us.criteo.com/delivery/ck.php?cppv=3&cpp=7ivb65K36j6J3CnhimHt6t5v_8m4SQpjlWMRMY9bosEx6i1BlheEZV5z20vYgswY-Fcrl80Q5uLQvMZig_0qM3dIRu20ZQtJRkpM4yNQHjBdhdg04ciqaExj1poMeEFuMtihYVvqByyjwxXXZ5oegg9sFAvLFD3apU6ieZtw11MgS2i4DfgxRDgFuCmnx2Y0Q4ItHJljxYXCPEzz-LaWk6hTmsPHI7Z32dFC2qZ9wnEEXMWAMbyy_fT3ps4IL70FFOX7xTFOgyE8D6oPngFiAsAF8XHAHFkivXlV9FvJusi9mkK0QOqVF6xMUhUzT5eWkRwmQuN1I_6C2Fg_sXFg0tNQEsOGvEWJxa3-C-wJp3902qszC4zaDU-fEtGk7gUrYSngTPdHSCn_Na3v9ikl17Oc8NukPf_5aNhnJtge8WCI-xSF2E5X4OX3hpt6YX4sKKLJnrMqUQSAAiCx435hVWmlVnfCfN8QNAR_wy7yEPsFT-8diqtN6ebtHwLIiZ-dhs1zRg&maxdest=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.awards.com%2Ftraditional-plaques%2F17197-lexicon-silver%3Fpart%3D216278%26utm_source%3Dcriteo%26utm_medium%3Dcpc%26utm_campaign%3DVisitors%2520-%2520Last%252060%2520Days
https://cat.va.us.criteo.com/delivery/ck.php?cppv=3&cpp=DAxPm5K36j6J3CnhimHt6t5v_8m4SQpjlWMRMY9bosEx6i1BlheEZV5z20vYgswY-Fcrl80Q5uLQvMZig_0qM3dIRu20ZQtJRkpM4yNQHjBdhdg04ciqaExj1poMeEFuMtihYVvqByyjwxXXZ5oegg9sFAtcHmKA9qyrVkaQeyNhE320i7WjJDAgFJbQxwa1TfSPniEB29rfBxRSh7_FjbyD_XQhlTGMIdB6uT7tP0YNch1K3a-noV3W4PqYVciWzwO-bRZXkSUVWXBMpEqELexws3L8rBncixeAzeAcUEOLWkNAI2HAoK4HMquK__MZp6bTMTfPUofQcr9vAmOU1cd5YU7msrq0hQFQgj4mcLoe8euFQ_nlMoHkrt9rE-NSnabMOU-PsxYx-635cGvmqZKyUZUKxsAtTq4DO6Un181cJlzNzHGMXLQX3Og-qMxgEy_J7j-OIA9Y2kYOsHcgOYGvB-nnE7vwJQUWgtHWk6l5nu9QqwdcJnDe72BM0QAmvsKnOw&maxdest=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.awards.com%2Fpyramid-awards%2F11591-liquid-sapphire-award%3Fpart%3D149691%26utm_source%3Dcriteo%26utm_medium%3Dcpc%26utm_campaign%3DVisitors%2520-%2520Last%252060%2520Days
https://cat.va.us.criteo.com/delivery/ck.php?cppv=3&cpp=1mlFV5K36j6J3CnhimHt6t5v_8m4SQpjlWMRMY9bosEx6i1BlheEZV5z20vYgswY-Fcrl80Q5uLQvMZig_0qM3dIRu20ZQtJRkpM4yNQHjBdhdg04ciqaExj1poMeEFuMtihYVvqByyjwxXXZ5oegg9sFAt7RoCe-IVpfQqvHFGCCqL_kM41hLCxoI-RFRwlz8l6_WJ2QDApMaxD48H6jomEF68muf3Y4Hdl63xCx8V3_5dQIiPon3I_mEgamsRj5uFCuI6qrz2jE_x2Y9c0CElxGePJE1F0_0ukyXq-4dt3qwwt-7Ki_VZbY_BHBcb_VhOHUvtK8EvvkwnHNCi02SCovlsYxo24TRUg31EsUOL6mSH0BMjn5FgdalhKmMAiei1rxkuSV6SdaUyGKhdJs1acHJ8RXcAbjFSsnisx3yJkARDUtZxdULq54uyHXv7HmgZfHgLTRpONqsQIS00_ZA-uvpB65HMeoa6QWzEIni5k4rHPa6PLcur5btbvh3gx7kGZuA&maxdest=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.awards.com%2Fplaques%2F21870-gemstone-rosewood-plaque-rosewood%2Fblack-elegance%3Fpart%3D229951%26utm_source%3Dcriteo%26utm_medium%3Dcpc%26utm_campaign%3DVisitors%2520-%2520Last%252060%2520Days
https://cat.va.us.criteo.com/delivery/ck.php?cppv=3&cpp=DApWs5K36j6J3CnhimHt6t5v_8m4SQpjlWMRMY9bosEx6i1BlheEZV5z20vYgswY-Fcrl80Q5uLQvMZig_0qM3dIRu20ZQtJRkpM4yNQHjBdhdg04ciqaExj1poMeEFuMtihYVvqByyjwxXXZ5oegg9sFAvmMS8r3I0NHkpoeDS-cLZnxFcurd4wOCCtIphTfGz2D9hh9eig4z56ZquyZy8QY37zImPoyziOh46Wd53uH7OcjgjmSvCMh79NjDHu1BuhEbRuyOOQQGUk0KMfhu8rrUIZzkypKq-Uf6wux8qMxunxtj9BauBpKbkdPEHA3Q5nFrXIjbos26e0u56F6b4P3qflS7DlZByA_P51m8ARPW2lsV2uhHyBezH_e_w-SceZqrALN1gUr5E0c7kZ-_ofN6G3nVmeLo5PQHke6GaB9XatRKg-vID9gheeiXMceAB9y7NE9dRWOExEOi6Q-MsjDKJOZbz_2pzJ4On3bAoniXLFLerAcnR3wXLNOnatlEmSpg&maxdest=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.awards.com%2Fplaques%2F16982-farnsworth%2Fcaprice-black%2Fred%3Fpart%3D217649%26utm_source%3Dcriteo%26utm_medium%3Dcpc%26utm_campaign%3DVisitors%2520-%2520Last%252060%2520Days
https://cat.va.us.criteo.com/delivery/ck.php?cppv=3&cpp=9yApSJK36j6J3CnhimHt6t5v_8m4SQpjlWMRMY9bosEx6i1BlheEZV5z20vYgswY-Fcrl80Q5uLQvMZig_0qM3dIRu20ZQtJRkpM4yNQHjBdhdg04ciqaExj1poMeEFuMtihYVvqByyjwxXXZ5oegg9sFAvYbSllpleqhJHyGhpzPMVa6V2sv5ioamB_J6MqMQQ2UZzAy97dTO2C8CIpGL_hGhxtnhD5VLm54abYBN6DLW_7MXZsi22yEmZ9WoOXBCFmzRgyz4QAMit2tqCenzJ8Id_QSP58mP4jIatKhNwawc9aJBm1QqKQTPwoDOalJxbRRqSxJioXo84Edu43ToXucDVe_HwtKC8ASGftnL0mWu9exPMp6K3g2UmsCFhU2X-DHJ2yBd_avwlSB8v8ys3czHAD9Q4no0bMqoYxVjTgZasMrkNwuCfvzgj95Q-nSU4rXijRxgYqLSeMITAZTqPi3UOrijWdfCu0p_0_9AuJsOqpUcKH_7YxyXBNJyL7DlE7YQ&maxdest=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.awards.com%2Fphoto-plaques%2F17523-metal-photo-plaq-walnut-rolled-edge%3Fpart%3D127019%26utm_source%3Dcriteo%26utm_medium%3Dcpc%26utm_campaign%3DVisitors%2520-%2520Last%252060%2520Days
https://cat.va.us.criteo.com/delivery/ck.php?cppv=3&cpp=Hjy6wJK36j6J3CnhimHt6t5v_8m4SQpjlWMRMY9bosEx6i1BlheEZV5z20vYgswY-Fcrl80Q5uLQvMZig_0qM3dIRu20ZQtJRkpM4yNQHjBdhdg04ciqaExj1poMeEFuMtihYVvqByyjwxXXZ5oegg9sFAuzldwxwd4ndzvv-qP3-_k3XNkaJHU6v1jtE-_J5kzm-iUn95JgLuB0NToT-_pSzyUweD-xPaFjgLJSbPqeegSp4MWicgafWTuAE2Pt1X2G00GQumGFxfIXJJki72o08eX8Q0kyDHaCTVRRd7AB7QNLXf1j6Tw8nVDC2POoxERe8dmKLPlhFciXcbhL0AeoBRCTcxCKJjRcZ5KNmvAE22aDXinaMpKjViPvlvWPKSFZuOOgtHsYTQDL07rhjFO14UbJtXVn5eYmCYteM3DrDpfgEGVswbGiSxfhn87SFSRaG31QBG5riMq6CVJqf8TzBStWIoVhNCTUh3omxm1NWkhEPi5I1Gv9wYXdsdXyjX5PTQ&maxdest=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.awards.com%2Fplaques%2F17039-farnsworth%2Fashbury-cherry%2Fblack%3Fpart%3D212427%26utm_source%3Dcriteo%26utm_medium%3Dcpc%26utm_campaign%3DVisitors%2520-%2520Last%252060%2520Days
https://www.usnews.com/
https://www.usnews.com/news
https://www.usnews.com/news/health-news
https://www.usnews.com/
https://www.usnews.com/news
https://www.usnews.com/emailprefs/login?target=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.usnews.com%2Fnews%2Fhealth-news%2Farticles%2F2021-12-07%2Fsurgeon-general-issues-advisory-on-youth-mental-health
https://www.usnews.com/news/live-events/healthcare-of-tomorrow
https://www.usnews.com/topics/author/steven-ross-johnson


12/8/21, 9:16 AM Surgeon General Issues Advisory on Youth Mental Health | Healthiest Communities Health News | US News

https://www.usnews.com/news/health-news/articles/2021-12-07/surgeon-general-issues-advisory-on-youth-mental-health 2/10

Surgeon General Vivek Murthy speaks about equitable health care during the COVID-19 pandemic, Nov. 22, 2021, in Washington, D.C.

U.S. Surgeon General Vivek Murthy has issued an advisory calling for swift action to respond to a growing mental
health crisis among youth that has worsened due to stressors related to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

[ READ: Fix the COVID-Exposed Problems in Mental Health Care ]

“It would be a tragedy if we beat back one public health crisis only to allow another to grow in its place,” Murthy wrote
in the introduction to the new advisory, released on Tuesday and titled “Protecting Youth Mental Health.” “Mental
health challenges in children, adolescents, and young adults are real, and they are widespread. But most importantly,
they are treatable, and often preventable.”

(OLIVIER

DOULIERY/AFP/GETTY IMAGES)

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

https://www.usnews.com/topics/subjects/coronavirus
https://www.usnews.com/news/health-news/articles/2021-12-06/fix-the-covid-exposed-problems-in-mental-health-care
https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/surgeon-general-youth-mental-health-advisory.pdf
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564


12/8/21, 9:16 AM Surgeon General Issues Advisory on Youth Mental Health | Healthiest Communities Health News | US News

https://www.usnews.com/news/health-news/articles/2021-12-07/surgeon-general-issues-advisory-on-youth-mental-health 3/10

Research and data point to the mental health challenges youth have been facing even before the pandemic. The
percentage of adolescents ages 12 to 17 who had a major depressive episode in the past year, for instance, increased
from an estimated 8% in 2010 to 15.7% in 2019, according to data from the Substance Abuse and Mental Health
Services Administration. And the percentage of high school students who seriously contemplated suicide increased
from 13.8% in 2009 to 18.8% in 2019, according to an October 2020 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
report.

Murthy’s advisory, meanwhile, cites early estimates that suggest more than 6,600 deaths by suicide occurred among
the 10-24 age group in 2020. 

Best Counties for Mental Health in the U.S.

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/reports/rpt29393/2019NSDUHFFRPDFWHTML/2019NSDUHFFR090120.htm#mde1
https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/data/yrbs/pdf/YRBSDataSummaryTrendsReport2019-508.pdf
https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/vsrr/VSRR016.pdf
https://www.usnews.com/news/healthiest-communities/slideshows/best-counties-for-mental-health-in-the-us/
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564


12/8/21, 9:16 AM Surgeon General Issues Advisory on Youth Mental Health | Healthiest Communities Health News | US News

https://www.usnews.com/news/health-news/articles/2021-12-07/surgeon-general-issues-advisory-on-youth-mental-health 4/10

Concerns about youth mental health have only increased during the pandemic, as months of social isolation, school
closures and other pandemic-related di�culties are believed to have fueled increased levels of anxiety and
depression. The advisory cites research indicating a quarter of youth globally are experiencing clinically elevated
depressive symptoms, while 20% are experiencing clinically elevated symptoms of anxiety.

Among the advisory’s recommendations to improve youth mental health are calls to expand access to behavioral and
mental health care services for children, including through telehealth and expanding the school-based mental health
workforce. The advocacy organization Mental Health America estimates less than 30% of the more than 2 million
children in the U.S. who suffer from severe depression receive consistent mental health treatment.

The advisory also delves into the topic of social media, noting that young people’s screen time not tied to school has
increased during the pandemic and that some research has linked social media use and mental health challenges. 

View All 29 Slides

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

https://www.usnews.com/news/healthiest-communities/slideshows/best-counties-for-mental-health-in-the-us/
https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamapediatrics/fullarticle/2782796
https://adclick.g.doubleclick.net/pcs/click?xai=AKAOjstSHh0hXCvGC1Ir3FQRTsvN_IOUTqEGPjf-pl8GQtQWXok93J_MrKCQaMwRkUKlp10-zyh7zqtMinTfQIJtGHbwyHeHW8ju2u2moM_iJd0VxGQzv-iKdis7e9ej6CJFiUu8MyAz6IROhuN3ye5D&sig=Cg0ArKJSzMhjt6Y1Wg-h&fbs_aeid=[gw_fbsaeid]&urlfix=1&adurl=http://insight.adsrvr.org/track/clk%3Fimp%3Dbc426ce6-bc42-4ba4-af62-1d968783b231%26ag%3Dwonxrfy%26sfe%3D13e83d99%26sig%3DCSOOvpYOF0pRXe1GDNzvS2lDgRNf-F6eGHvMBVKFIFY.%26crid%3Dm6dkdjzd%26cf%3D2703455%26fq%3D0%26t%3D1%26td_s%3Dwww.usnews.com%26rcats%3D%26mcat%3D%26mste%3Dusnews.com%26mfld%3D2%26mssi%3D%26mfsi%3D%26sv%3Dmedianet%26uhow%3D81%26agsa%3D%26wp%3D2.000%26rgz%3D48009%26dt%3DPC%26osf%3DWindows%26os%3DWindows10%26br%3DChrome%26svpid%3D8CUE2CMJR%26rlangs%3D01%26mlang%3D%26did%3D%26rcxt%3DOther%26tmpc%3D-5.1%26vrtd%3D%26osi%3D%26osv%3D%26daid%3D%26dnr%3D0%26vpb%3D%26c%3DCg1Vbml0ZWQgU3RhdGVzEghNaWNoaWdhbhoDNTA1IgpCaXJtaW5naGFtOAFQAYABA4gBAZABAA..%26dur%3DCkQKKWNoYXJnZS1hbGxEaXNwbGF5Vmlld2FiaWxpdHlCaWRBZGp1c3RtZW50IhcImv__________ARIKcS1hbGxpYW5jZQodCgdrMmNpdXJoEP7BASIOCMKT8YYBEgRub25lMAEKPgohY2hhcmdlLW1heERvdWJsZVZlcmlmeUJyYW5kU2FmZXR5IhkI8f__________ARIMZG91YmxldmVyaWZ5Cj8KImNoYXJnZS1hbGxEb3VibGVWZXJpZnlCb3RBdm9pZGFuY2UiGQjn__________8BEgxkb3VibGV2ZXJpZnkKSAohY2hhcmdlLWFsbE1vYXRWaWV3YWJpbGl0eVRyYWNraW5nIiMIpf__________ARIObW9hdC1yZXBvcnRpbmcqBgjAhD0YDBD-wQE.%26durs%3Dwf3eS0%26crrelr%3D%26npt%3D%26idl%3DXY30074H6EO1OQDBk6kCrOGCQe9Glevk5wJ10BCuB368CqArI%26mk%3DGoogle%26mdl%3DChrome%2520-%2520Windows%26ipl%3D755680517%26ict%3DUnknown%26said%3D5247378058064_1416208875_7556805172461%26auct%3D1%26us_privacy%3D1YNY%26r%3Dhttps://www.kroger.com/b/american-greetings%253FCID%253Ddis_dis_34467.KPM.AnericanGreetings%2526dclid%253D%2525edclid!
https://mhanational.org/issues/state-mental-health-america
https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamapediatrics/fullarticle/2785686
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564


12/8/21, 9:16 AM Surgeon General Issues Advisory on Youth Mental Health | Healthiest Communities Health News | US News

https://www.usnews.com/news/health-news/articles/2021-12-07/surgeon-general-issues-advisory-on-youth-mental-health 5/10

[ MORE: Mental Health Help and COVID-19 ]

The advisory marks Murthy’s second as surgeon general in the Biden administration, following the July release of an
advisory about confronting health misinformation. Such reports are relatively rare, as they’re “reserved for signi�cant
public health challenges that need the nation’s immediate awareness and action,” according to the document released
Tuesday.

In response to the advisory’s release, Mental Health America President and CEO Schroeder Stribling lauded Murthy for
raising awareness about the problem with youth mental health, and said increased funding should be directed toward
supporting prevention and early intervention strategies and improving mental health care services in community
settings like schools and pediatric medical practices.

“At the same time, the administration and Congress must also work to address the economic and social barriers that
contribute to poor mental health, including child poverty, early childhood education, access to healthy food, affordable
health care, stable housing, and safe neighborhoods,” Stribling said in a statement. “We must not wait to take action.
Our youth need help now.”

Tags: mental health, coronavirus, pandemic, teens, United States

RECOMMENDED ARTICLES

Get the Best Mortgage Rate for You 

Filter Results

Target Home Price

250,000$

Purchase or Re�nance

Purchase

Re�nance

Location

, 

$50,000

Down Payment

20.00 %

Credit Score

Excellent (760+)

Loan Type

30 yr Fixed

15 yr Fixed

7/1 ARM

5/1 ARM

3/1 ARM
Source: Mortech® Disclosure See Full Rates

Introducing $0 Commissions Online

Stocks, ETFs & Options Trades with

TradeStation.

Open an Account!

SPONSORED

LENDER APR/RATE  MO. PAYMENT

Get The Right Rate And Loan For

Your Needs

Our Home Loan Experts Can Help

You Today.

First Time Home Buyer? Get

Started with a Mortgage From

Citi

Enjoy Low Rates and Step-By-Step

Guidance. Contact Us Today!

2.908%/

2.875% $830

30 yr Fixed Conforming • 12/7/2021 • Fees: $1,095 • Lender Credit: $242 •

Points: 0.00

NMLS# 1429243

3 314%/
$870

Learn More

Sponsored

Learn More

Sponsored

Morty, Inc. Sponsored

View Details

loanDepot Sponsored

Suspected Killer of Saudi Journalist Khashoggi Was Identi�ed by Passport, Not Just Name - Source

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

StarTech.com 15U 19" Wall Mount
Network Rack - Adjustable Depth…
$168.15

https://www.usnews.com/news/health-news/articles/2021-10-21/20-percent-of-adults-had-recent-mental-health-treatment-in-2020
https://www.latimes.com/california/story/2021-12-07/surgeon-general-advisory-youth-mental-health-crisis-looms
https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/surgeon-general-misinformation-advisory.pdf
https://www.usnews.com/news/health-news/articles/2018-12-18/e-cigarette-epidemic-targeted-in-surgeon-general-advisory
https://mhanational.org/statement-surgeon-generals-advisory-regarding-youth-mental-health
https://www.usnews.com/topics/subjects/mental-health
https://www.usnews.com/topics/subjects/coronavirus
https://www.usnews.com/topics/subjects/pandemic
https://www.usnews.com/topics/subjects/teens
https://www.usnews.com/topics/locations/united_states
javascript:void(0)
https://smartasset.com/mortgage/mortgage-rates
https://adclick.g.doubleclick.net/pcs/click?xai=AKAOjstNLddfsvEvW98435eo-Bc3srdGozEhRm-5iGk4tsHD42J_MtLoaHxPc35rRE6vjaDmSglQpkm1j1RZzEi7sq2WK_RwKjyji6TkmX_YTXsAR_cLuincwvgthfPY8gFo2WYDVO6byNcEYuQpywG-6ZmHd4XlOnMu1NEjB86vxqouyY0AWK7zGNEPcaP1bmW1ahUjrym6czt1fva5iCoNwsNYQSzeRFyopQZUzn_yWfrMOP87lgg34lss_g7xoNV40LMnXj37qDCb0Hds4tUKvsd8yuLEp_bELFdNzsa1bCN1tNxEPU5WrJq-3482hnI&sig=Cg0ArKJSzMEBsBZ7CuiTEAE&fbs_aeid=[gw_fbsaeid]&urlfix=1&adurl=https://ad.doubleclick.net/ddm/trackclk/N8232.2172905SMARTASSET/B25900070.307404694%3Bdc_trk_aid%3D499715576%3Bdc_trk_cid%3D153403226%3Bdc_lat%3D%3Bdc_rdid%3D%3Btag_for_child_directed_treatment%3D%3Btfua%3D%3Bltd%3D
https://www.usnews.com/news/world/articles/2021-12-08/suspected-killer-of-saudi-journalist-khashoggi-was-identified-by-passport-not-just-name-source?rec-type=sailthru
https://www.usnews.com/news/world/articles/2021-12-08/suspected-killer-of-saudi-journalist-khashoggi-was-identified-by-passport-not-just-name-source?rec-type=sailthru
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564
https://www.amazon.com/dp/B074NW3N1L?aaxitk=facadf8606770794ef5d9ca5a5a08866&tag=ss-us-20&smid=ATVPDKIKX0DER&ref=dacx_dp_590652186170946236_587520081238465564

	20211213 AGENDA
	5A 20211213 Warrant List for Commission 12-8-2021
	5B 20211213 Set PH - CIA Update - FINAL - 12.08.21
	20211213 Set PH - CIA Development & TIF Plan - 2021 Update - DRAFT - 12.07.21
	October 5, 2021 - APPROVED
	October 26, 2021 - DRAFT

	5C 20211213 Sushi Japan Liquor License Investigation
	5D 20211213 Adobe Creative Cloud Renewal
	Adobe Creative Cloud renewal.pdf
	MMNX389

	5E 20211213 Grave Release
	6A 20211206 PH - Wall Art - FINAL - 12.09.2021
	20211206 PH - Wall Art - FULL - 11.29.2021

	6B 20211213 PH - 203 Pierce - Toast - SLUP Amendement FINAL - 12-8-21
	7A 20211213 48th District Court 2022 Proposed Budget
	7B 20211213 48th Dist Ct Interlocal
	7C 20211213 2022 Fee Schedule Memo
	2022 Fee Schedule FOR REVIEW.pdf
	Definitions
	Standard Insurance Requirements
	Date Amended
	Change Codes
	Clerk
	Community Development
	Department of Public Service
	Engineering
	Finance
	Fire
	Museum
	Police
	Treasurer


	7D 20211213 Commissioner Attendance at Meetings - FINAL
	7E 20211213 National Opiod Settlement - FINAL
	7F 20211213_Maple_Streetscape_SAD_set_PH
	presentation merchants 2020.02.28.pdf
	   Merchant Meeting
	Slide Number 2
	CITY / FEDERAL FUNDED
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	SPECIAL ASSESSMENT DISTRICT (SAD)
	BIRMINGHAM’S 6-POINT LOGISTICS PLAN
	1. Keep Project Moving Quickly
	2. Keep Sidewalks Open and Front Doors Accessible
	3. Keep Traffic Flowing��
	4. Keep Communications Flowing
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13


	10E1 20211213 Manager Report
	10E2 20211213 Andrew Haig City of Birmingham MI Mail - Re_ Master plan questions & observations
	10E3 2021.12.9 Report re Identifying pending litigation
	20211213 IO 20211207_VBH_resident_notice_complete
	20211206_Exhibit_traffic

	20211213 IO Surgeon General Issues Advisory on Youth Mental Health _ Healthiest Communities Health News _ US News



